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United States

Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of ta Securities Exchange Act of 193
For the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010

O Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) bthe Securities Exchange Act of 193
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-31410

COTT CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

CANADA 98-0154711
(State or Other Jurisdiction (IRS Employer
of Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
6525 VISCOUNT ROAD L4V 1H6

MISSISSAUGA, ONTARIO

5519 WEST IDLEWILD AVENUE
TAMPA, FLORIDA, UNITED STATES 33634

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(905) 672-1900 and (813) 313-1800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) diie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
COMMON SHARES WITHOUT NOMINAL OR NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
PAR VALUE TORONTO STOCK EXCHANGE

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢iie Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edBéturities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti3 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wemjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsHe past 90 days. Ye&l No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsnstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such file¥)es No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquidlers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowdedig definitive proxy or information statementsanporated by reference in Part Il of this
form 10-K or any amendment to this form 10-KX]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “largeederated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “small@porting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filed Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting compan
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compe

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a shethpany (as defined in Rule 12b-12 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of the common equity Iglhon-affiliates of the registrant as of June 2009 (based on the closing sale
price of $5.31 for the registrant’'s common stockegmorted on the New York Stock Exchange on Jun@@®89) was $338.0 million.

(Reference is made to the last paragraph of Rdteth 5 for a statement of assumptions upon wtiiehcalculation is made).
The number of shares outstanding of the regissammmon stock as of March 8, 2010 was 81,331,330.
Documents incorporated by reference



Portions of our definitive proxy circular for th@20 Annual Meeting of Shareowners, to be filed mith20 days of January 2, 2010, are
incorporated by reference in Part Ill. Such prokgudar, except for the parts therein which haverbspecifically incorporated by reference,
shall not be deemed “filed” for the purposes o thhnual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with United States (“U.S.”) generaltgepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) in U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise indicdtall amounts in this report are in U.S. dolland &.S. GAAP.

Any reference to 2009, 2008 and 2007 correspondsitéiscal years ended January 2, 2010, Decenmhe28, and December 29,
2007, respectively.

Forward-looking statements

In addition to historical information, this repand the reports and documents incorporated byenederin this report contain statements
relating to future events and our future resultsese statements are “forward-looking” within theamiag of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian se@sriggislation and include, but are not limitedstatements that relate to projections of
sales, earnings, earnings per share, cash flowiataxpenditures or other financial items, disioss of estimated future revenue
enhancements and cost savings. These statememtglal® to our business strategy, goals and expecs concerning our market position,
future operations, margins, profitability, liquigiand capital resources. Generally, words suclaascipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,”
“endeavor,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may;’plan,” “predict,” “project,” “should” and similaterms and phrases are used to identify
forward-looking statements in this report and ia ttocuments incorporated in this report by refezefbese forward-looking statements are

made as of the date of this report.

The forward-looking statements are based on ceassnmptions regarding interest and foreign exahaatgs, expected growth, results
of operations, performance, business prospect®ppartunities and effective income tax rates. Alitjo we believe the assumptions
underlying these forward-looking statements arsarable, any of these assumptions could prove todeeurate and, as a result, the
forward-looking statements based on those assungptiould prove to be incorrect. Our operations Iveoisks and uncertainties, many of
which are outside of our control, and any one gr@mbination of these risks and uncertainties@daldo affect whether the forward-looking
statements ultimately prove to be correct. Thedesrand uncertainties include, but are not limitedhose described in Part I, Iltem 1A. “Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this report and thoseriesl from time to time in our future reports filevith the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) and Canadian securities regnyaanithorities.

We undertake no obligation to update any informmationtained in this report or to publicly reledse tesults of any revisions to
forward-looking statements to reflect events ocwinstances of which we may become aware of afedalte of this report. Undue reliance
should not be placed on forward-looking statements.

All future written and oral forward-looking statents attributable to us or persons acting on oualieie expressly qualified in their
entirety by the foregoing.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Company

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatetisdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,or
“our”), is one of the world’s largest non-alcoholieverage companies and the world’s largest retaitnd soft drink provider. In addition to
carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs”"), our product lifredude clear, still and sparkling flavored watguice-based products, bottled water,
energy-related drinks and ready-to-drink teas.

We operate in five operating segments—North Ameidaich includes our U.S. reporting unit and Canggsorting unit), United
Kingdom (“U.K.”) (which includes our United Kingdomeporting unit and our Continental European rapgrtinit), Mexico, Royal Crown
International (“RCI”) and All Other (which includesir international corporate expenses and our ¥egiarting unit, the latter of which we
closed at the end of fiscal 2008).

We incorporated in 1955 and are governed by the@aBusiness Corporations Act. Our registered Ganaffice is located at 333
Avro Avenue, Pointe-Claire, Quebec, Canada HI9R 2WBour principal executive offices are locate85t9 W. Idlewild Avenue, Tampa,
Florida, United States 33634 and 6525 Viscount Rb&ssissauga, Ontario, Canada L4V 1H6.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that our competitive strengths will deals to maintain our position as one of the warldading retailer brand soft drink
providers and capitalize on future opportunitiegiwe profitable growth in the long-run.

Leading Producer of Retailer Brand Beverages witlivBrse Product Portfolic

We are the world’s largest private label non-aldimhineverage manufacturer. We currently have thaber one private label market
share in each of the U.S., Canada, the United Kingdnd Mexico.

Our product portfolio ranges from traditional CSidsategories such as clear, still and sparkliagdted waters, energy-related drinks,
juice-based products, bottled water and ready-to-deak.tWe believe our proven ability to innovate dedelop our product portfolio to
meet changing consumer demand will position us teetontinue to serve our retailer customers aei tonsumers. During 2009, we
launched more than 100 new product SKUs, includieygy flavor profiles based on successful new protiuaiches by the national brands,
new package types and new product category inttahscfor our retailer partners.

We market or supply over 200 retailer, licensed @nthpany-owned brands in our four geographic se¢snévie sell CSD concentrates
and non-carbonated concentrates in over 50 coantiie believe that our leadership position, ouabrportfolio offering and our existing
infrastructure will enable us to continue to furtbenetrate the private label market, whethenitirming contracts from competitors,
launching new product SKUs with existing customerssupplying retailers who currently self-manutamet

Extensive, Flexible Manufacturing Capabilitie

Our leading position in the private label markesupported by our extensive manufacturing netwoik fiexible production capabilitie
Our manufacturing footprint encompasses 20 streadlgilocated beverage production facilities, irthg nine in the U.S., five in Canada,
four in the United Kingdom and two in Mexico, aslvas a vertically-integrated global concentratenofacturing facility in Columbus,
Georgia.
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In North America, we are the only dedicated privateel CSD producer with a nation-wide manufactyfimotprint. Manufacturing
flexibility is one of our core competencies andrisical to private label industry leadership, as products will typically feature customized
packaging, design and graphics for our key retailstomers. Our ability to produce multiple SKUsl aackages on our production lines and
manage complexities through quick-line changeovecgsses differentiates us from our competition.

High Customer Service Level and Strong Customerdgtation

Private label industry leadership requires a haylel of coordination with our retailer partnersaieas such as supply chain, product
development and customer service. In addition toagang increased product manufacturing complexiti efficiency, we have a proven
track record of maintaining high service levelsogsrour customer base. We also partner closelyougtomers on supply chain planning and
execution to minimize freight costs, reduce workiagital requirements and increasesiare product availability. We work as a team vaith
retailer customers on new product development acttgging designs. Our role includes providing maekgertise as well as knowledge of
CSD category trends that may present opporturfitiesur retailer customers. A high level of custonmtéegration and partnership coupled
with a nationwide manufacturing footprint is créldor the development of successful private laggsegrams.

Strategic Importance to Blu-Chip Retailers

We have longstanding partnerships with many ofithdd’s leading retailers in the grocery, mass-rharaise and drugstore channels,
enabling retailers to build their private label gmams with high-quality, affordable beverages. \Wethe sole supplier for a majority of our
clients due to our competitive advantages, inclgdin

» Private label expertis

» Vertically integrated, low cost production platfo

*  One-stop sourcing

» CSD category insights and marketing expel

»  Supply chain and quality consister

» Product innovation and differentiatic

For 2009, our top ten customers accounted for aqpadely 60% of total revenue. Wal-Mart was theyoriistomer that accounted for

more than 10% of our total revenue for the perit/d. have established long-standing relationshipls mibst of our top 10 customers. As a

result of our high product quality and service,ged with a national manufacturing footprint, wdiéee we will continue to play a
meaningful role in helping our customers develdpiler brand strategies to build loyalty with consars.

Business Strategy

Our primary goal is to maintain long-term profitiitiyiand enhance our position as the market leaddrpreferred supplier of retailer
brand soft drinks in the markets where we opef@bamtinued leadership in our core markets will eaals to sustain and grow profitability as
we drive for increased private label penetratiod simare growth within the CSD category. We belighat the following strategies will help
to achieve our goal.

Strengthen Customer Relationshij

Customer relationships are important for any bussinbut at Cott, where our products bear our custeirand names, we must
maintain close partnerships with our customerswiecontinue to provide our retailer partners witlgh quality products and great servic
an attractive value that will help them provide lifyavalue-oriented products to their consumers.

3
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We will continue to focus on our high customer gmxvevels as well as core private label innovatitmough the introduction of new
packages, flavors and varieties of CSDs. We beliewdocus on our customers will enable us to lagerour existing relationships and to
develop new ones in existing and new markets. fastfollower of innovative products, our goalasidentify new products that are
succeeding in the marketplace and develop simitadyxts of high quality for our retailer partnepsofffer their customers at a better value.

Continue to Lower Operating Costs

As a retailer brand producer, we understand thatomg-term success will be closely tied to outdiggbto remain a low-cost supplier.
Effective management of commodity costs is crittoabur success, including entering into contrachmitments with suppliers of key raw
materials such as aluminum sheet metal and higitdsa corn syrup (“HFCS”).

Control Capital Expenditures and Rigorously Manad®orking Capital

Consistent with our status as a low-cost suppherwill leverage our existing manufacturing capaeihd maintain an efficient supply
chain. We are committed to carefully prioritizingracapital investments that provide the best fir@meturns for Cott and for our retailer
partners, while maintaining safety, efficiency augberior product quality. Our production facilitiegerate according to the highest standards
of safety and product quality. We perform regukard-party audits of our facilities and are subjectonsistent quality audits on behalf of our
customers. We will continue to evaluate growth atiger opportunities, while remaining mindful of datal capital expenditure targets.

In 2009, our capital expenditures have been devoteshintenance on existing beverage productioititfas, additional capabilities
such as expanded can production capability in thiged Kingdom, and other investments in the U.Siprove the competitiveness and
consumer appeal of certain packaging configurations

Cash Flow Management

We believe that a strong financial position wilbdie us to capitalize on opportunities in the mialeee. As such, we continuously
review and improve the effectiveness of our cashagament processes. We will strive to achieve thst mptimal working capital level.

Pursue Select Acquisition

We believe that opportunities exist for us to erteaour scale, reduce fixed manufacturing costsbaoaden our product portfolio. We
intend to evaluate and pursue strategic opporasitiwe believe they would enhance our industrsitim, strengthen our business and build
value for our shareholders.

Principal Markets and Products

We estimate that as of the end of 2009, we prod(mighier directly or through third party manufaets with whom we have goacking
agreements) approximately 59% and 52% of all extaitivate label brand CSDs sold in the U.S. aeditK., respectively.

We have a diversified product portfolio across majon-alcoholic beverage categories, including bages that are on-trend with
consumer demand. In 2009, CSDs, concentrate, batid¢er and all other products represented 60.0985,15.8% and 32.3%, as a percen
of revenue respectively. In 2008, CSDs, concenthaitiled water and all other products represeBfe@%, 2.1%, 6.7% and 32.2%, as a
percentage of revenue respectively. In 2007, C8&rs;entrate, bottled water and all other produspsesented 60.1%, 2.3%, 7.6% and
30.0%, as a percentage of revenue respectively.



Table of Contents

We believe that opportunities exist to increasesaf beverages in our core markets by leveragiiggieg customer relationships,
obtaining new customers, exploring new channeliisifibution and introducing new products.

Restructuring Initiatives

From 2006 through 2007, we implemented our NortheAioan Realignment and Cost Reduction Plan (thettNamerican Plan”) to
consolidate the management of our Canadian anddustesses to a North American basis, rationgliaduct offerings, eliminate
underperforming assets and focus on high potesmtiaunts. We also implemented plans in 2008 (“tefaéus Plan”) and 2009 (“the 2009
Restructuring Plan”) that resulted in a partialuettbn of our workforce in those years.

We will continue to pay cash for lease terminatiosts under the North American Plan in 2010, whiahe been accounted for as
restructuring accruals. We do not anticipate inograny additional charges related to the North Acaam Plan, the Refocus Plan or the 2009
Restructuring Plan.

Financial Information about Segments

For financial information about operating segmemtd geographic areas, see Note 8 to the consdlifiatncial statements containec
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Manufacturing and Distribution Network

Predominately all of our beverages produced iniNArherica are manufactured in facilities that wethird-party manufacturers with
whom we have long-term co-packing agreements, reitiva or lease. We manufacture virtually all of almited Kingdom and Mexico
reporting units’ beverages in facilities that wiher own or lease. We rely on third parties to picdand distribute products in areas or
markets where we do not have our own productioititias, such as in Continental Europe, or whenitoithl production capacity is require

Our products are either picked up by our custoraear facilities or delivered by us, a common iegiyior thirdparty distributors to oL
customers’ distribution centers or to retail looat.

Ingredient and Packaging Supplies

In addition to water, the principal raw materiaguired to produce our products are polyethylereptehalate (“PET”) bottles, PET
caps and preforms, aluminum cans and ends, lats@tens and trays, concentrates and sweeteners.

We rely on our ongoing relationships with key signsl to support our operations. We generally einterannual supply arrangements
rather than long-term contracts with our suppliafsich means that our suppliers are obligated tdicoe to supply us with materials for one-
year periods, at the end of which we will eitharagotiate the contracts with those suppliers af &ilternative sources. With respect to sc
of our key packaging supplies, such as aluminuns eadl ends or PET bottles, and some of our kegdignts, we have entered into long-
term supply agreements, the remaining terms of vtaage from one to two years. We believe that vlibe able to either renegotiate
contracts with these suppliers when they expirénadralternative sources for supply. We also baithere is adequate supply of the ingrec
and packaging materials used to produce and packageroducts. We have entered into 9- to 12-msnfiply agreements for electricity and
natural gas for certain of our beverage produdiailities in the United Kingdom and we have endeirgo 12- to 19-month supply
agreements for electricity and natural gas foraderf our beverage production facilities in Noftmerica.
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Generally, we bear the risk of increases in théscofthe ingredient and packaging materials usgat@duce our products, including the
underlying costs of the commodities used to mariufachem and, to some extent, the costs of cangetttose commaodities into the
materials we purchase.

Aluminum for cans, resin for PET bottles, preforamsl caps, and corn for HFCS are examples of uridgrbommodities for which we
bear the risk of increases in costs. In additiba,dontracts for certain of our ingredient and pagkg materials permit our suppliers to
increase the costs they charge us based on insrigatbeir cost of converting the underlying comiitied into the materials we purchase. In
certain cases those increases are subject to atgblimits. Changes in the prices we pay for idgnet and packaging materials occur at
times that vary by product and supplier, but taleee principally on a monthly or annual basis.

Crown Cork & Seal USA, Inc. (“CCS”) supplies us vd@luminum cans and ends under a contract thatesxpn December 31, 2011.
The contract provides that CCS will supply our ensluminum cans and ends requirements worldwiggest to certain exceptions. The
contract contains a pricing mechanism for certaatamals and representations, warranties, indeeménd termination events (including
termination events related to bankruptcy or insotyeof either party) that we believe to be custgmbr 2007, the market price paid for
aluminum increased significantly to reflect increésvorldwide demand, but declined significanth208 primarily due to the downturn in
the U.S. economy. In 2008 and 2009, we enteredfixeed price commitments for a majority of our foested 2009 aluminum requirements,
with the remaining requirements purchased at pliega2009 market prices. We have also enteredfiréa price commitments for a majori
of our forecasted aluminum requirements for 201@elsas a portion of our requirements for 2011.

PET resin prices have fluctuated significantlyeécant years as the price of oil fluctuated. Bec®ISE resin is not a traded commaodity,
we have limited ability to obtain price protection.

HFCS has a history of volatile price changes. Wgeekthat HFCS market prices will continue to flate as a result of the worldwide
economic turmoil, which has affected the demanaéwn+elated products. In 2008, we entered into fixadgpcommitments for a majority
our forecasted 2009 HFCS requirements, with theaieimg requirements purchased at prevailing 200&etgrices. We have also entered
into fixed price commitments for a majority of ddFCS requirements for 2010 and plan to purchaseesuaining requirements at prevailing
market prices.

Trade Secrets, Copyrights, Trademarks and Licenses

We sell the majority of our beverages under retdifands to customers who own the trademarks asedoivith those products. We a
own registrations, or applications to registerjaas trademarks that are important to our worldwidsiness, includin@ott®, Red RairPanc
Orient Emporium Tea Co™ in the U.S., Canada and the U.Btars & Stripe®, Vess®, Vintage® andSo Clear®in the U.S.Red Rave™h
CanadaEmerge®, Red Rooste?, Carters® , Ben Shawsand the H2 family of brands in the U.kStars & Stripe® in Mexico, andRC®in
more than 100 countries and territories outsiddath America. Moreover, we are licensed to us¢éagetrademarks such darritos®in
Mexico. The licenses to which we are a party areanfing terms, including some that are perpefli@demark ownership is generally of
indefinite duration when marks are properly maimtgiin commercial use.

Our success depends in part on our intellectugdety, which includes trade secrets in the formarfcentrate formulas for our
beverages and trademarks for the names of thedgm&e sell. To protect this intellectual propentg rely principally on registration of
trademarks, contractual responsibilities and retgtris in agreements (such as indemnification, remhasure and confidentiality agreements)
with



Table of Contents

employees, consultants and customers, and on thmoa law and statutory protections afforded toeradrks, copyrights, trade secrets and
proprietary “know-how.” We also closely monitor thee of our trademarks and vigorously pursue any piaat infringes on our trademarks,
using all available legal remedies.

Seasonality of Sales

Sales of our products tend to be seasonal, witsebend and third quarters accounting for highéraates of our products than the first
and fourth quarters. The seasonality of our sadbsnve, combined with the accounting for fixed cpstsch as depreciation, amortization, rent
and interest expense, impacts our results on deglyabasis. This seasonality also causes our wgr&apital needs to fluctuate with invent
being higher in the first half of the year to mtéet peak summer demand and accounts receivabiaidgdh the fall as customers pay their
higher-than-average outstanding balances fromuhereer deliveries.

Customers

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdiite a small number of customers. Our customeisidiecmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,aght# and convenience store chains. For 2009, tealal-Mart Stores, Inc. and its
affiliates (collectively, “Wal-Mart”) accounted f@3.5% (2008 — 35.8%, 2007 — 39.8%) of our totaéreies, 39.4% of our North America
operating segment revenues (2008 — 42.1%, 200799%517.7% of our U.K. operating segment rever{@®88 — 21.1%, 2007 26.5%) anc
18.4% of our Mexico operating segment revenuesg§2002.2%, 2007 — 22.1%). Wal-Mart was the onlytaeer that accounted for more
than 10% of our total revenue in that period. lhersame period, our top ten customers accounteabfmoximately 60% of total revenue. We
expect that sales of our products to a limited neindh customers will continue to account for a higiicentage of revenue for the foreseeable
future. The loss of any customers that individuallyn the aggregate represent a significant pormioour revenue, or a decline in sales to
these customers, would have a material adverset effieour operating results and cash flow.

On January 27, 2009, we received written noticenfkVal-Mart stating that Wal-Mart was exercisingritght to terminate, without
cause, our exclusive supply contract dated Decehel998, between Cott Beverages Inc., a whollpexhsubsidiary of the Company, and
Wal-Mart (the “Exclusive Supply Contract”). Then@nation is effective on January 28, 2012. Purstathe terms of the Exclusive Supply
Contract, we are Wal-Mart's exclusive supplier etfailer brand CSDs in the U.S. The termination fgion of the Exclusive Supply Contract
provides for exclusivity to be phased out over aqukof three years following notice of terminatithe “Notice Period”). Accordingly, we
had the exclusive right to supply at least twoethiof Wal-Mart’s total CSD volume in the U.S. durithe first 12 months of the Notice
Period, and we have the exclusive right to supplgast one-third of Wal-Mart's total CSD volumetire U.S during the second 12 months of
the Notice Period. During the final 12 months af totice Period, there is no minimum supply requiat. Notwithstanding the termination
of the Exclusive Supply Contract, we continue tpmy Wal-Mart and its affiliated companies, undenaal nonexclusive supply agreemer
with a variety of products in the U.S., Canada,tethiKingdom and Mexico, including CSDs, clear | stild sparkling flavored waters, juice-
based products, bottled water, energy-related drémid ready-to-drink teas.

Research and Development

We engage in a variety of research and developadtivities. These activities principally involveetidevelopment of new products,
improvement in the quality of existing productsprovement and modernization of production processas the development and
implementation of new technologies to enhance ttadity and value of both current and proposed pecbtines. Consumer research is
excluded from research and development costs afatied in other marketing costs. Research and dprent costs were $3.0 million in
2009, $2.2 million in 2008 and $2.4 million in 208@d are reported as selling, general and adnatiigrexpenses.
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Competition

We compete against a wide range of companies thdtipe and sell non-alcoholic beverages, includig@ps, bottled, sparkling and
flavored waters, teas, coffees, energy-relateckdramd juice and juice-based beverages. While GBIdSCSD concentrate account for 71.7%
of our 2009 case volume, they account for 61.9%upf2009 revenue. The non-CSD products generat@d@8f our 2009 case volume and
38.1% of our 2009 revenue.

The non-alcoholic beverage category is highly cdtitipe in each region in which we operate, and cetitipn for incremental volume
is intense. The brands owned by the four majoonatisoft drink companies, Coca-Cola, Pepsi, Né&tters North America and Dr Pepper
Snapple (formerly Cadbury Schweppes), control axiprately 85% of the aggregate take-home voluméefiguid refreshment beverage
category in the North America operating segmenésthcompanies have significant financial resousoglsspend heavily on promotional
programs. They also have direct store deliveryesgstin North America, which enable their personoefisit retailers frequently to promote
new items, stock shelves and build displays.

In addition, we face competition in North Ameritiag¢ United Kingdom and Mexico from regional sofinfrmanufacturers who sell
aggressively-priced brands and, in many casessalsply retailer brand products. A few larger UeSailers also self-manufacture products
for their own needs and consistently approach attailers seeking additional business.

We seek to differentiate ourselves from our contpegiby offering our customers efficient distritmtimethods, high-quality products,
category management strategies, packaging and timaylstrategies, and superior service.

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

The production, distribution and sale in the U.8nany of our products are subject to the Fedevadf-Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the
Federal Trade Commission Act, the Lanham Act, statesumer protection laws, federal, state and hogkplace health and safety laws,
various federal, state and local environmentalgutidn laws and various other federal, state aodl Istatutes and regulations applicable tc
production, transportation, sale, safety, advewgisiabeling and ingredients of such products. @datthe U.S., the production, distribution ¢
sale of our many products and related operatiomslap subject to numerous similar and other sstaind regulations.

A California law requires that a specific warnirfpaar on any product that contains a componeetllisy the state as having been
found to cause cancer or birth defects. The lavosap all food and beverage producers to the ptigsiifihaving to provide warnings on
their products. This is because the law recognipegenerally applicable quantitative thresholdeWwelvhich a warning is not required.
Consequently, even trace amounts of listed comgsroam expose affected products to the prospegtofing labels. Products containing
listed substances that occur naturally or thatargributed to such products solely by a municipaler supply are generally exempt from the
warning requirement. None of the beverages prodtareshle in California are currently required ispgday warnings under this law. We are
unable to predict whether a component found inafreur products might be added to the Califorréaih the future, although the state has
initiated a regulatory process in which caffeind & evaluated for listing. Furthermore, we argoalinable to predict when or whether the
increasing sensitivity of detection methodologyt tinay become applicable under this law and reletgdlations as they currently exist, or as
they may be amended, might result in the deteaif@an infinitesimal quantity of a listed substamt®ne of our beverages produced for sale
in California.

We currently offer and use non-refillable recycéabbntainers in the U.S. and other countries ardldvorld. We also offer and use
refillable containers, which are also recyclablegal requirements apply in various jurisdictionshie U.S. and other countries requiring that
deposits or certain ecotaxes or fees be chargetidor
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sale, marketing and use of certain mefilable beverage containers. The precise reqers imposed by these measures vary. Other ty
beverage container-related deposit, recycling,aecanhd/or product stewardship statutes and regukatilso apply in various jurisdictions in
the U.S. and overseas. We anticipate that addltismailar legal requirements may be proposed actad in the future at local, state and
federal levels, both in the U.S. and elsewhere.

All of our beverage production facilities and otloperations are subject to various environmentatiggtion statutes and regulations,
including those of the U.S. Environmental Protattimency, which pertain to the use of water resesiand the discharge of waste water.
Failure to comply with these regulations can har@sis consequences, including civil and admintisggpenalties. Our policy is to comply
with all such legal requirements. Compliance witbste provisions has not had, and we do not expebtmpliance to have, any material
adverse effect on our Company’s capital expendituret income or competitive position. Howeverdissussed below, changes in how the
Ontario Ministry of the Environment enforces thet@io Environmental Protection Act could resulushaving to make material
expenditures for environmental compliance.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the applegblicies, we are insured against product ligbidlaims and product recalls that
could result from the injury, illness or death ohsumers using our products, contamination of oodyrcts, or damage to or mislabeling of
our products. We believe that our insurance coveraigdequate.

The Ontario Environmental Protection Act (“OEPA”)

OEPA regulations provide that a minimum percentafge bottler’s soft drink sales within specifiecdas in Ontario must be made in
refillable containers. The penalty for non-comptians a fine of $50,000 per day beginning upon wherfirst offense occurs and continues
until the first conviction, and then increasingbtt00,000 per day for each subsequent convictioas@fines may be increased to equal the
amount of monetary benefit acquired by the offeradea result of the commission of the offense.

We, and we believe other industry participants,caeently not in compliance with the requiremenitthe OEPA. To comply with the
requirements we, and we believe many other indysrticipants, would have to significantly increasées in refillable containers to a
minimum refillable sales ratio of 30%. We do nopegt to be in compliance with these regulationtheforeseeable future. Ontario is not
enforcing the OEPA at this time, despite the fhat it is still in effect and not amended, but i€hooses to enforce it in the future, we could
incur fines for non-compliance and the possibléniition of sales of soft drinks in non-refillabd®ntainers in Ontario. We estimate that
approximately 3% of our sales would be affectedhgypossible limitation of sales of soft drinksion-refillable containers in Ontario if the
Ontario Ministry of the Environment initiated artiaa to enforce the provisions of the OEPA agairsstMoreover, the Ontario Ministry of
the Environment released a report in 1997 statiagjthese OEPA regulations are “outdated and uratdek’ However, despite the
“unworkable” nature of the OEPA regulations, theyé not yet been revoked.

We believe that the magnitude of the potentialditiet we could incur if the Ontario Ministry oftlEnvironment chose to enforce th
regulations is such that the costs to us of nonptiamce could be, although are not contemplatdsbtanaterial. However, our management
believes that such enforcement is very remote iarahy event, these regulations are expected tevaked in the future given the regulatory
activity in this area as described below.

In December of 2003, the Ontario Ministry of theviEanment approved the Blue Box Program, whichudeld provisions regarding
industry responsibility for 50% of the net costloé program. Generally, the company that ownsritedléctual property rights to the brand of
a product, or is the licensee of those rights, thatl manufactures, packages or distributes a ptddusale in Ontario or causes such
manufacturing, packaging or distributing of a pretda Ontario, will be liable for the costs undeetprogram. We generally do not own the
intellectual property rights to the brands of otwqucts. Rather, we generally manufacture, package
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distribute products for and on behalf of Ontarigdxhthird party customers who are the brand owaedswe do not believe that any costs for
which we might be ultimately responsible would havaaterial adverse effect on our results of opmiat however, we cannot guarantee this
outcome.

Employees

As of January 2, 2010, we had 2,808 employeeshoimvl,682 were in the North America operating segni&t4 were in the U.K.
operating segment, 372 were in the Mexico opera@gnent and 10 were in the combined RCI/All Otiprating segments. We have
entered into numerous collective bargaining agregsneovering 873 employees that we believe cortéins that are typical in the beverage
industry. As these agreements expire, we beliesy thn be renegotiated on terms satisfactory t@iesconsider our relations with
employees to be generally good.

Availability of Information and Other Matters

We are required to file annual, quarterly and aurreports, proxy statements and other informatiih the SEC and Canadian
securities regulatory authorities. The public megd and copy any materials that we file with th€ $Ethe SEC’s Public Reference Room at
100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infororath the Public Reference Room may be obtainechliing the SEC at 1-800-553090.

In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet sité¢ tloatains reports, proxy and information statersieamid other information regarding issuers
that file with the SEC at www.sec.gov. Informatilad with the Canadian securities regulatory atties is available at www.sedar.com.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly repomsF@rm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amesrdmto reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(dh@Recurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended@|soavailable free of charge on our
website at www.cott.com, as soon as reasonablyipaste after such material is electronically filith, or furnished to, the SEC. The
information found on our website is not part oktbr any other report that we file with, or furnishthe SEC or to Canadian securities
regulatory authorities.

The certification of the Chief Executive Officequéred by the NYSE Listing Standards, Section 30424a), relating to the Company’s
compliance with the NYSE corporate governancenigstitandards, was submitted to the NYSE on May@99. The certification indicated
that the Chief Executive Officer was not awaremyf giolations of the listing standards by the Compa

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiaihgguate internal control over financial reportisgequired by the SEC. See
“Management’s Report on Internal Control over FitiahReporting” on page 48.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth imstreport, you should carefully consider the fafilog factors, which could materially
affect our business, financial condition or futuesults. The risks described below are not the oskg that we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thatouerently deem to be immaterial also may materiatlyersely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

We may be unable to compete successfully in the hig competitive beverage category.

The markets for our products are extremely competitn comparison to the major national brand bbage manufacturers, we are a
relatively small participant in the industry. Weéacompetition from the national brand beverageufaturers in all of our markets and from
other retailer brand beverage manufacturers. Ifcounpetitors reduce their selling prices, increaserequency of their promotional
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activities in our core markets, enter into the icitn of private label products, or if our custamdo not allocate adequate shelf space fc
beverages we supply, we could experience a dedioar volumes, be forced to reduce pricing, fopgice increases required to off-set
increased costs of raw materials and fuel, increapéal and other expenditures, or lose marketestay of which could adversely affect our
profitability.

We may not be able to respond successfully to comaar trends related to carbonated and non-carbonatetieverages.

Consumer trends with respect to the products weasekubject to change. Consumers are seekingased variety in their beverages,
and there is a growing interest among the pubtiarging the ingredients in our products, the aitdb of those ingredients and health and
wellness issues generally. This interest has et a decline in consumer demand for full-cal@®&Ds and an increase in consumer
demand for products associated with health anche®dl, such as reduced-calorie CSDs, water, enharated teas and certain other non-
carbonated beverages. Consumer preferences magectiae to a variety of other factors, including digéng of the general population,
changes in social trends, the real or perceivedaninat the manufacturing of our products hasherenvironment, changes in consumer
demographics, changes in travel, vacation or leisgtivity patterns, negative publicity resultimgrh regulatory action or litigation against
companies in the industry, or a downturn in ecomoconditions. Any of these changes may reduce enassl demand for our products.

There can be no assurance that we can developatineyroducts that respond to consumer trendsf&ilure to develop innovative
products could put us at a competitive disadvantagiee marketplace and our business and finanesallts could be adversely affected.

Because a small number of customers account for @sificant percentage of our sales, the loss of eeduction in sales to any
significant customer could have a material adverseffect on our results of operations and financial @ndition.

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdaite a small number of customers. Our customeisidigcmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,aghté and convenience store chains in our coreatsaok North America, United
Kingdom and Mexico. Sales to Wal-Mart, our top ocas¢r in 2009, 2008 and 2007 accounted for 33.5%8%98%nd 39.8%, respectively, of
our total revenue. Sales to our top ten custonme2909, 2008 and 2007 accounted for approximat@dy,8662% and 64%, respectively, of our
total revenue. We expect that sales of our prodoacaslimited number of customers will continueattzount for a high percentage of our
revenue for the foreseeable future.

On January 27, 2009, we received written noticenfkVal-Mart stating that Wal-Mart was exercisingritght to terminate, without
cause, our Exclusive Supply Contract, effectivelanuary 28, 2012. Pursuant to the terms of theuSika Supply Contract, we are the
exclusive supplier to Wal-Mart of retailer brand[@Sin the U.S. The termination provision of the Estve Supply Contract provides for
exclusivity to be phased out over a period of ttyears following notice of termination. Accordinglye have the exclusive right to supply at
least two-thirds of Wal-Mart’s total CSD volumethre U.S. during the first 12 months of the Notiegi®d, and we have the exclusive right to
supply at least one-third of Wal-Mart's total CSBlume in the U.S during the second 12 months ofNbgce Period. Notwithstanding the
termination of the Exclusive Supply Contract, watimue to supply Wal-Mart and its affiliated comes) under annual noexclusive suppl
agreements, with a variety of products in the UC&nada, United Kingdom and Mexico, including CSfsar, still and sparkling flavored
waters, juice-based products, bottled water, endripks and ready-to-drink teas.

The loss of Wal-Mart or any significant customarcostomers that in the aggregate represent disami portion of our revenue, or a
material reduction in the amount of business weettadte with any such customer or customers, coame la material adverse effect on our
operating results and cash flows. Furthermore, auddc
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be adversely affected if Wal-Mart or any signifitanstomer reacts unfavorably to any pricing of praducts or decides to de-emphasize or
reduce their product offerings in the categoriethwihich we supply them. At January 2, 2010, we $4.8 million of customer relationshi
recorded as an intangible asset. The permanenti@ss/ customer included in the intangible assatld result in impairment in the value of
the intangible asset or accelerated amortizatiahcanld lead to an impairment of fixed assets Were used to service that client.

Our ingredients, packaging supplies and other costare subject to price increases and we may be unahio effectively pass rising costs
on to our customers.

We bear the risk of changes in prices on the ingrednd packaging in our products. The majoritpaf ingredient and packaging
supply contracts allow our suppliers to alter thiegs they charge us based on changes in theafasis underlying commaodities that are u
to produce them. Aluminum for cans and ends, fesiRPET bottles, preforms and caps and corn for SR@ examples of these underlying
commodities. In addition, the contracts for cer@fiour ingredient and packaging materials permitsuppliers to increase the costs they
charge us based on increases in their cost of ciimy¢hose underlying commodities into the matsrihat we purchase. In certain cases
those increases are subject to negotiated limdsiarother cases, they are not. These changée iprices that we pay for ingredient and
packaging materials occur at times that vary bylpov and supplier, but are principally on a montiannual basis.

We are at risk with respect to fluctuating aluminprites. Simultaneously, because PET resin is t@ideed commodity, no fixed price
mechanism has been implemented, and we are acglyrdiiso at risk with respect to changes in PETqwi HFCS has a history of volatile
price changes. We typically purchase HFCS requingsnfer North America under 12 month contracts. Weee entered into fixed price
commitments for a majority of our HFCS requiremdnts2010. We have also entered into fixed pricengotments for a majority of our
forecasted aluminum requirements for 2010 as veedl portion of our requirements for 2011.

Accordingly, we bear the risk of fluctuations iretbosts of these ingredient and packaging mateimasiding the underlying costs of
the commaodities used to manufacture them and, e sxtent, the costs of converting those commaiti® the materials we purchase. We
currently do not use derivatives to manage thls ffghe cost of these ingredients or packagingemials increases, we may be unable to pass
these costs along to our customers through adjussnme the prices we charge. If we cannot passiesetincreases to our customers on a
timely basis, they could have a material adverfecebn our results of operations. If we are ablpdss these costs on to our customers
through price increases, the impact those increpseés could have on our volumes is uncertain.

Our beverage and concentrate production faciliteesa significant amount of electricity, naturad gad other energy sources to opel
Fluctuations in the price of fuel and other enesgyrces for which we have not locked in long-ternipg commitments or arrangements
would affect our operating costs, which could intpaar profitability.

If we fail to manage our operations successfully,us business and financial results may be materialland adversely affected.

In recent years, we have grown our business anerage offerings primarily through the acquisitidrother companies, developmen
new product lines and growth with key customers.B&keve that opportunities exist to increase saldseverages in our markets by
leveraging existing customer relationships, obrajmew customers, exploring new channels of digtiti, introducing new products or
identifying appropriate acquisition or strategitiaaice candidates. The success of this stratedindeaith acquisitions depends on our ability
to manage and integrate acquisitions and alliaimtesur existing business. Furthermore, the bissies or product lines that we acquire or
align with may not be integrated successfully iotw business
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or prove profitable. In addition to the foregoiragfors, our ability to expand our business in fpmeiountries is also dependent on, and mi
limited by, our ability to comply with the laws tife various jurisdictions in which we may operatewell as changes in local government
regulations and policies in such jurisdictions.

If we fail to manage the geographic allocation fduction capacity surrounding customer demanddrtiNAmerica, we may lose
certain customer product volume or have to utitiagpackers to fulfill our customer capacity obligas, either of which could negatively
impact our financial results.

Our geographic diversity subjects us to the risk oturrency fluctuations.

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exggheates, including those between the U.S. dahdrthe pound sterling, the euro,
the Canadian dollar, the Mexican peso and otheenuaies. Our operations outside of the U.S. acaaliftr 36.7% of our 2009 sales.
Accordingly, currency fluctuations in respect of autstanding notJ.S. dollar denominated net asset balances magtafte reported resul
and competitive position.

Furthermore, our foreign operations purchase kgyeitients and packaging supplies in U.S. dollanés €xposes them to additional
foreign currency risk that can adversely affect i@ported results.

If we are unable to maintain relationships with ourraw material suppliers, we may incur higher supplycosts or be unable to deliver
products to our customers.

In addition to water, the principal raw materiadsjuired to produce our products are PET bottlgss ead preforms, aluminum cans and
ends, labels, cartons and trays, concentratesvegetaners.

We typically enter into annual or multi-year supplyangements with our key suppliers, meaningdbasuppliers are obligated to
continue to supply us with materials for one-yeamalti-year periods, at the end of which we mustex renegotiate the contracts with those
suppliers or find alternative sources for supply.

We rely upon our ongoing relationships with our keyppliers to support our operations. There candogssurance that we will be able
to either renegotiate contracts with these supplidren they expire or, alternatively, if we arehiedo renegotiate contracts with our key
suppliers, there can be no assurance that we cepliaice them. We could also incur higher ingredértt packaging supply costs in
renegotiating contracts with existing supplierseplacing those suppliers, or we could experieaogbrary disruptions in our ability to
deliver products to our customers, either of whiohld have a material adverse effect on our res@ilbperations.

With respect to some of our key packaging supp$iesh as aluminum cans and ends, and some of gundedients, such as
sweeteners, we have entered into loega supply agreements, the remaining terms of wkdage from one to two years, and therefore w
assured of a supply of those key packaging supahidsngredients for a longer period of time. C@fpdies aluminum cans and ends under a
contract expiring on December 31, 2011. The cohpeavides that CCS will supply our entire alumingam and end requirements
worldwide, subject to certain exceptions. In additithe supply of specific ingredient and packagiragerials could be adversely affected by
many factors, including industry consolidation, yyeshortages, governmental controls, labor disputatural disasters, transportation
interruption, political instability, acts of war terrorism and other factors.

We have a significant amount of outstanding debt, hich could adversely affect our business and our dliy to meet our obligations.

As of January 2, 2010, our total indebtedness &4 $ million. This significant amount of debt cddilave important consequences to
us and our investors, including:

* requiring a substantial portion of our cash floanfroperations to make interest payments on thig
» increasing the risk of a future credit ratings dgvade of our debt, which could increase future debts;
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» increasing our vulnerability to general adverseneooic and industry condition

« limiting our ability to incur additional debt torfid capital expenditures and other corporate pugy

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the indu

» placing us at a competitive disadvantage to ourpaiitors that may not be as highly leveraged wéhtds we are; ar

« limiting our ability to borrow additional funds ageded or take advantage of business opporturstiel, as acquisitions, as they
arise, pay cash dividends or repurchase commoh.¢

To the extent we become more leveraged, the ris&sribed above would increase. In addition, owaatash requirements in the
future may be greater than expected. Our cashfflom operations may not be sufficient to repay aturity all of the outstanding debt as it
becomes due, and we may not be able to borrow meeéyassets or otherwise raise funds on acceptabhs, or at all, to refinance our d¢

In addition, our asset based lending (“ABL”") fatsilcontains covenants that, among other thingst bor ability to incur debt at
subsidiaries that are not guarantors, incur lieexge or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose obaiubstantially all of our assets, make
investments, loans, advances, guarantees and dicmsisenter into transactions with affiliates ater into agreements restricting our ab
to incur liens or the ability of our subsidiari@snhake distributions. The ABL facility also requsres to comply with certain affirmative and
financial covenants. For additional information abour ABL facility, see “Management’s DiscussiardaAnalysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital ®Reses.”

If we breach the covenants and conditions set out bur debt agreements, counterparties could requireis to repay the debt or we
could have to renegotiate the debt agreements, whicould lead to higher fees or interest costs, arabuld have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Our two most significant debt arrangements curyemtitstanding are the ABL facility and the 8.3758fisr subordinated notes due in
2017 (“the 2017 Notes”).

Events of default under the ABL facility includemmayment, inaccuracy of representations and waesa(which include the occurrer
of an event having a material adverse effect) atioh of covenants, crosiefault to other indebtedness, bankruptcy, matgrilgments, and
change of control of the Company. If we breachweoant and such breach is not waived by the lendeean event occurs that would have a
material adverse effect on us, we would have tegetiate the ABL facility and we would expect taun higher fees and interest rates,
provided the lenders wish to renegotiate. If a tineaccurs, the lenders could choose to termina@BL facility and accelerate the loan
balance. Should the ABL facility become currentiyedwe may have to incur additional fees and higfterest costs to replace it. However,
there is no certainty in today’s financial markistst we would be able to replace the ABL facilityterms acceptable to us, or at all.

The events of default in the indenture governirgg2817 Notes include, among others: (i) failurpay interest after a 30-day grace
period; (ii) failure to pay principal when duej)ibreach of the change of control covenant (whicluld require us to offer to repurchase the
2017 Notes) or asset sale covenant; (iv) unsatfigfiéggments or cross-default acceleration to otdebtedness in excess of $20.0 million;
and (v) our insolvency or that of our restrictetdsdiaries that are significant subsidiaries.

If our cash from operations is not sufficient t@ble us to reduce our debt as anticipated, ourdstexpense could be materially higher
than anticipated and our financial performance @¢da adversely affected. If our cash from operatismot sufficient to meet our expenses,
or fund our capital expenditures and debt service
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obligations, we may be required to refinance olntdeell assets, borrow additional money, or raipaity. For additional information about
our ABL facility, see “Management’s Discussion akhlysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gaiems—Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”

Our ability to generate cash to meet our expenseéslabt service obligations and to otherwise redweedebt as anticipated will depe
on our future performance, which will be affectadfimancial, business, economic, legislative, ragpdy and other factors, including poten
changes in costs, pricing, the success of procdwttiaarketing innovation, pressure from competitord other matters discussed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K (including thisRisk Factors’ section). Many of these factors are beyond ourrobrny factor that negative
affects our results of operations, including owtcliow, may also negatively affect our abilitygay the principal and interest on our
outstanding debt. If we are unable to reduce obt dg anticipated, our interest expense could lermaly higher than anticipated and our
financial performance could be adversely affected.

If we do not have enough cash to pay our debtsembligations, we may be required to take actsureh as amending our ABL facility
or indenture governing the 2017 Notes, refinaneithgr part of our existing debt, selling assatsurring additional indebtedness or raising
equity. We cannot assure you that we will be adil@ny given time, to take any of these actionteoms acceptable to us, or at all.

A portion of our indebtedness is variable rate dehtand changes in interest rates could adversely afft us by causing us to incur highe
interest costs with respect to such variable rateabt.

Our ABL facility subjects us to interest rate ride interest rate and margin applicable to the Adlility is variable, meaning that the
rate at which we pay interest on amounts borrowetbuthe facility fluctuates with changes in instnates and our debt leverage.
Accordingly, with respect to any amounts from titngime outstanding under the ABL facility, we @&eosed to changes in interest rates.
We do not currently use derivative instrumentsddde interest rate exposure. If we are unableaquately manage our debt structure in
response to changes in the market, our interegtresepcould increase, which would negatively impactfinancial condition and results of
operations.

Our financial results may be negatively impacted byhe recent global financial events.

Recent global financial events have resulted irctiresolidation, failure or near failure of a numbé&mstitutions in the banking,
insurance and investment banking industries ané kafstantially reduced the ability of companiesttain financing. These events have
also adversely affected the stock market. Thesetewsuld have a number of different effects onlmusiness, including:

» reduction in consumer spending, which could reisudt reduction in our sales volun

* anegative impact on the ability of our customersrhely pay their obligations to us or our vendrsimely supply materials, th
reducing our cash flow

e anincrease in counterparty ri

* anincreased likelihood that one or more membemiobanking syndicate may be unable to honoratsraitments under our
ABL facility; and

» restricted access to capital markets that may lnitability to take advantage of business oppadties) such as acquisitior
Other events or conditions may arise directly dirigctly from the global financial events that abulkegatively impact our business.
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We may not fully realize the expected cost savingsd/or operating efficiencies from our restructuring activities.

During the last four years we have implemented,@ad to continue to implement, restructuring dtiég to support the implementati
of key strategic initiatives designed to achievaghterm sustainable growth. These activities atenithed to maximize our operating
effectiveness and efficiency and to reduce ourscd¥e cannot be assured that we will achieve dasuthe targeted benefits under these
programs or that the benefits, even if achieved,beiadequate to meet our long-term growth expiects. In addition, the implementation of
key elements of these activities, such as emplpleesductions and plant closures, may have anradumpact on our business, particularly
in the near-term.

Substantial disruption to production at our beverage concentrates or other beverage production faciliés could occur.

A disruption in production at our beverage concaes production facility, which manufactures almadsbf our concentrates, could
have a material adverse effect on our busineszddition, a disruption could occur at any of ourestfacilities or those of our suppliers,
bottlers or distributors. The disruption could ocfar many reasons, including fire, natural disesteveather, manufacturing problems,
disease, strikes, transportation interruption, gowvent regulation or terrorism. Alternative fa¢dg with sufficient capacity or capabilities
may not be available, may cost substantially monmay take a significant time to start productieach of which could negatively affect our
business and financial performance.

Our success depends, in part, on our intellectualrpperty, which we may be unable to protect.

We possess certain intellectual property that igoirtant to our business. This intellectual propértjudes trade secrets, in the form of
the concentrate formulas for most of the beverdysswe produce, and trademarks for the namesedbdirerages that we sell. While we own
certain of the trademarks used to identify our bages, other trademarks are used through licenm@sthird parties or by permission from
our retailer brand customers. Our success depengart, on our ability to protect our intellectyabperty.

To protect this intellectual property, we rely mipally on registration of trademarks, contract@asponsibilities and restrictions in
agreements (such as indemnification, nondiscloandeconfidentiality agreements) with employeessattants and customers, and on
common law and statutory protections afforded adeémarks, trade secrets and proprietary “know-hdwaddition, we vigorously protect
our intellectual property against infringementsngsany and all legal remedies available. Notwithdtag our efforts, we may not be
successful in protecting our intellectual propdailya number of reasons, including:

» our competitors may independently develop intellatproperty that is similar to or better than o

* employees, consultants or customers may not alyidledir contractual agreements and the cost ofreimig those agreements may
be prohibitive, or those agreements may prove torfemforceable or more limited than anticipa

» foreign intellectual property laws may not adeqlyapeotect our intellectual property rights; a
« ourintellectual property rights may be succesgfatiallenged, invalidated or circumvent
If we are unable to protect our intellectual prapeour competitive position would weaken and wealddace significant expense to

protect or enforce our intellectual property righté January 2, 2010, we had $45.0 million of rigahd $9.5 million of trademarks recorded
as intangible assets.

Occasionally, third parties may assert that we @renay be, infringing on or misappropriating thiaitellectual property rights. In these
cases, we intend to defend against claims or reggdicenses when we consider these actions apat@pintellectual property cases are
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualstjoas. If we become involved in this type of lgtgpn, it could consume significant
resources and divert our attention from businessaijons.
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If we are found to infringe on the intellectual pesty rights of others, we could incur significal@mages, be enjoined from continuing
to manufacture, market or use the affected produidie required to obtain a license to continue ufeeturing or using the affected produc
license could be very expensive to obtain or maybeaavailable at all. Similarly, changing produatgprocesses to avoid infringing the rights
of others may be costly or impracticable.

Our products may not meet health and safety standals or could become contaminated and we could be ltie for injury, iliness or
death caused by consumption of our products.

We have adopted various quality, environmentallthead safety standards. However, our products stilynot meet these standard:
could otherwise become contaminated. A failure éznthese standards or contamination could ococomrioperations or those of our
bottlers, distributors or suppliers. This couldulen expensive production interruptions, recalfsl liability claims. We may be liable to our
customers if the consumption of any of our prodgetsses injury, illness or death. Moreover, negapiwblicity could be generated from fa
unfounded or nominal liability claims or limitedcals. Any of these failures or occurrences coaldeha material adverse effect on our res
of operations or cash flows.

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us ignificant liabilities and damage our reputation.

We are party to various litigation claims and legaiceedings. We evaluate these claims and pratgeth assess the likelihood of
unfavorable outcomes and estimate, if possibleatheunt of potential losses. We may establish evesas appropriate based upon
assessments and estimates in accordance with caurging policies. We base our assessments, essmaatl disclosures on the information
available to us at the time and rely on legal amshagement judgment. Actual outcomes or losses fiffgy thaterially from assessments and
estimates. Actual settlements, judgments or reisoisiof these claims or proceedings may negatigébct our business and financial
performance. For more information, see “Businessgal®roceedings.”

Changes in the legal and regulatory environment ithe jurisdictions in which we operate could increas our costs or reduce our
revenues.

As a producer of beverages, we must comply witfouarfederal, state, provincial, local and forelgws relating to production,
packaging, quality, labeling and distribution, inding, in the U.S., those of the federal Food, Dand Cosmetic Act, the Fair Packaging and
Labeling Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act,Xhrition Labeling and Education Act and Califar®roposition 65. We are also subject
to various federal, state, provincial, local angefgn environmental laws and workplace regulatidieese laws and regulations include, in
U.S., the Occupational Safety and Health Act, tiéad Labor Standards Act, the Clean Air Act, thieagh Water Act, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Lialy the Resource Conservation and Recovery AetFederal Motor Carrier Safety
Act, laws governing equal employment opportunitystoms and foreign trade laws and regulations, faleding to the maintenance of fuel
storage tanks, laws relating to water consumpti@hteeatment, and various other federal statutdsegulations. These laws and regulations
may change as a result of political, economicoaiad events. Such regulatory changes may inclbdeges in food and drug laws, laws
related to advertising, accounting standards, iaxaequirements, competition laws and environmdatas, including laws relating to the
regulation of water rights and treatment. Changdaws, regulations or government policy and relatgerpretations may alter the
environment in which we do business, which may iohjpair results or increase our costs or liabilities

Proposed taxes on CSDs and other drinks could haes adverse effect on our business.

Federal, state, local and foreign governments kamsidered imposing taxes on soda and other sulgeuks. Any such taxes could
negatively impact consumer demand for our prodastshave an adverse effect on our revenues.
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We are not in compliance with the requirements oftie Ontario Environmental Protection Act (“OEPA”) and, if the Ontario
government seeks to enforce those requirements anplements modifications to them, we could be advesy affected.

Certain regulations under the OEPA provide thairdmum percentage of a bottler’s soft drink saléthin specified areas in Ontario
must be made in refillable containers. The perfaltynon-compliance is a fine of $50,000 per dayiteigg when the first offense occurs and
continuing until the first conviction, and then ieasing to $100,000 per day for each subsequentatimm. These fines may be increased to
equal the amount of monetary benefit acquired byofifender as a result of the commission of therafé. We, and we believe other industry
participants, are currently not in compliance with requirements of the OEPA. We do not expectetmlzompliance with these regulations
in the foreseeable future. Ontario is not enfor¢lig OEPA at this time, but if it chose to enfotive OEPA in the future, we could incur fines
for non-compliance and the possible prohibitiosaks of soft drinks in non-refillable containergdntario. We estimate that approximately
3% of our sales would be affected by the possibi@dtion on sales of soft drinks in non-refillaldentainers in Ontario if the Ontario
Ministry of the Environment initiated an actiondnforce the provisions of the OEPA against us.

In April 2003, the Ontario Ministry of the Envirorent proposed to revoke these regulations in faffoew mechanisms under the
Ontario Waste Diversion Act to enhance diversiamfrdisposal of CSD containers. On December 22, 20@30ntario provincial
government approved the implementation of the Blar Program plan under the Ministry of Environm&faste Diversion Act. The
Program requires those parties who are brand ovamdicensees of rights to brands which are manufad, packaged or distributed for sale
in Ontario to contribute to the net cost of thedRox Program. We generally manufacture, packadealatribute products for and on behalf
of third party customers. Therefore, we do notéaadithat we will be responsible for direct costshef Program. However, our customers may
attempt to pass these costs, or a portion of tibanto us. We do not believe that the costs for tvlwe may ultimately be responsible under
this Program will have a material adverse effecbonresults of operations; however, we cannotajuae this outcome. The Blue Box
Program does not revoke any of the regulations ioeed above under the OEPA regarding refillableta@imers, although the industry
anticipates that they will be reversed in the featur

Adverse weather conditions could reduce the demarfdr our products.

The sales of our products are influenced to sortenéky weather conditions in the markets in whighoperate. Unusually cold or
rainy weather during the summer months may redueelémand for our products and contribute to laweenues, which could negatively
impact our profitability.

Global or regional catastrophic events could impacbur operations and financial results.

Our business can be affected by large-scale tstracis, especially those directed against the &f.8ther major industrialized countries
in which we do business, major natural disastarajidespread outbreaks of infectious diseases asi¢hilN1 influenza. Such events could
impair our ability to manage our business couldutisour supply of raw materials, and could imgaretduction, transportation and delivery
of products. In addition, such events could causeigtion of regional or global economic activityhich can affect consumers’ purchasing
power in the affected areas and, therefore, redao®and for our products.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to raait, retain and prepare succession plans for our EO, CFO, senior management
and key employees.

The performance of our CEO, CFO, senior managearahbther key employees is critical to our succ@ssplan to continue to invest
time and resources in developing our senior manageand key employee teams. In 2009, we appointethaCEO and a new CFO of the
Company. Our long-term success will depend on
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our ability to recruit and retain capable senionagement and other key employees, and any faibule so could have a material adverse
effect on our future operating results and finahogdition. Further, if we fail to adequately plor the succession of our CEO, CFO, senior
management and other key employees, our operasuits could be adversely affected.

Changes in future business conditions could caus@iness investments and/or recorded goodwill, indiefte life intangible assets or
other intangible assets to become impaired, resutt§ in substantial losses and writelowns that would reduce our results of operations

As part of our overall strategy, we will, from tin@time, make investments in other businessess& lmwvestments are made upon
careful target analysis and due diligence proceddesigned to achieve a desired return or stratdyjective. These procedures often involve
certain assumptions and judgment in determiningiiatttpn price. After acquisition, unforeseen issweuld arise that adversely affect
anticipated returns or that are otherwise not recle as an adjustment to the purchase price. &tencareful integration efforts, actual
operating results may vary significantly from ialtestimates.

Goodwill accounted for approximately $30.6 milliohour recorded total assets as of January 2, 20&0evaluate the recoverability of
recorded goodwill amounts annually, or when evideoicpotential impairment exists. The annual immaint test is based on several factors
requiring judgment and certain underlying assunmgidur only intangible asset with an indefinife lielates to the 2001 acquisition of
intellectual property from Royal Crown Company,.limcluding the right to manufacture our concersatvith all related inventions,
processes, technologies, technical and manufagtinformation, know-how and the use of the Royal@r brand outside of North America
and Mexico (the “Rights”). This asset has a netkoadue of $45.0 million as more fully describedNnte 1 to the Financial Statements.

As of January 2, 2010, other intangible assets $21€.5 million, which consisted principally of $84million of customer relationshij
that arose from acquisitions and trademarks of 88lon. Customer relationships are amortized atraight-line basis for the period over
which we expect to receive economic benefits wigalp to 15 years. We review the estimated usé&ubf these intangible assets annually,
taking into consideration the specific net casiwfloelated to the intangible asset, unless itgsired more frequently due to a triggering
event such as the loss of a customer. The perméns=nof any customer included in the intangibleeasvould result in impairment in the
value of the intangible asset or accelerated amaitin and could lead to an impairment of fixedetsshat were used to service that client.

Principally, a decrease in expected operating sagoash flows, changes in market conditions, Iddep customers and a change in
our imputed cost of capital may indicate poteritighairment of recorded goodwill or the Rights. Bdditional information on accounting
policies we have in place for goodwill impairmesge our discussion under “Critical Accounting Hecand Estimates” in “ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations” of this AnnRalport on Form 10-K and Note 1,
“Significant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes.

Our stock price may be volatile.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stocg&haxge (the “NYSE”) and Toronto Stock Exchange T)S The market price ¢
our common stock has fluctuated substantially énghst and could fluctuate substantially in thereitbased on a variety of factors, includ
future announcements covering us or our key cust®orecompetitors, government regulations, litigatichanges in earnings estimates by
analysts, fluctuations in quarterly operating ressat general conditions in our industry. Furthermetock prices for many companies
fluctuate widely for reasons that may be unrelatettheir operating results. Those fluctuations gaderal economic, political and market
conditions, such as recessions or internationakagy fluctuations and demand for our services, atersely affect the market price of our
common stock.
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Failure to maintain our stock exchange listings wold adversely affect the trading price and liquidity of our common stock.

We have, in the recent past, received notice ofemmpliance with NYSE listing requirements due tw share price trading below
$1.00 for periods of time. While we have cured sdeficiencies, if we are not able to maintain caampte with the listing requirements of 1
NYSE and/or TSX, our shares may be subject to redrfoom listing on the NYSE and/or TSX. Tradingdaar common stock after a delistil
if any, would likely be conducted in the over-thminter markets in the Over-The-Counter Bulletin i8loar the “pink sheets” and could also
be subject to additional restrictions. As a consege of a delisting, our shareholders would finddtre difficult to dispose of, or to obtain
accurate quotations as to the market value ofcommmon shares. In addition, a delisting would malkecommon stock substantially less
attractive as collateral for margin and purpos@&sodor investment by financial institutions undeeir internal policies or state investment
laws, or as consideration in future capital raising

We may not be able to renew collective bargainingggeements on satisfactory terms, or we could expemce strikes.

As of January 2, 2010, 873 of our employees weversa by collective bargaining agreements. Theseeagents typically expire every
three to five years at various dates. We may nattibe to renew our collective bargaining agreementsatisfactory terms or at all. This cc
result in strikes or work stoppages, which coulgain our ability to manufacture and distribute punducts and result in a substantial loss of
sales. The terms of existing or renewed agreenoentsl also significantly increase our costs or tiggly affect our ability to increase
operational efficiency.

We depend on key information systems and third-past service providers.

We depend on key information systems to accuratediefficiently transact our business, provide rimfation to management and
prepare financial reports. We rely on third-pantgviders for the majority of our key informationstégms and business processing services,
including hosting our primary data center. Thessteays and services are vulnerable to interruptiorither failures resulting from, among
other things, natural disasters, terrorist attas&ffyvare, equipment or telecommunications failupgscessing errors, computer viruses,
hackers, other security issues or supplier defaB#surity, backup and disaster recovery measuagsnot be adequate or implemented
properly to avoid such disruptions or failures. Atigruption or failure of these systems or servimmgd cause substantial errors, processing
inefficiencies, security breaches, inability to tise systems or process transactions, loss ofrmesoor other business disruptions, all of
which could negatively affect our business andrfaial performance.

We also face other risks that could adversely affeour business, results of operations or financiatondition, which include:
e any requirement to restate financial results inethent of inappropriate application of accountimiggiples;
* any event that could damage our reputat
» failure of our processes to prevent and detecthiredtconduct of employee
» asignificant failure of internal controls overdincial reporting

» failure of our prevention and control systems edab employee compliance with internal policied eggulatory requirements;
and

» failure of corporate governance policies and pracesl
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We operate fourteen beverage production faciliiesorth America, ten of which we own and four diieh we lease. We also own and
operate a global concentrate manufacturing faditit¢olumbus, Georgia. In the United Kingdom, weiagte four beverage production
facilities, all of which we own. In Mexico, we ofae two beverage production facilities, one of whiee own and one of which we lease.

Total square footage of our beverage productioititias is approximately 2.1 million square feettire U.S.; 0.9 million square feet in
Canada; 0.9 million square feet in the United Kimgg and 0.3 million square feet in Mexico. This agufootage does not include twenty-six
separate leased warehouses and one owned warghatusemprise 2.0 million square feet and four éelasffice spaces that comprise
0.2 million square feet. Lease terms for non-owbeeerage production facilities expire between 28i@ 2020.

The beverage production facilities and square fgmmounts noted above do not include vacant ogrutiized properties such as the
Nelson, U.K. satellite warehouse that is held fdess of January 2, 2010, or the leased facilityiyomissing, Pennsylvania. Each of th
properties remained closed as of January 2, 2010.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In January 2005, we were named as one of many d&fésin The Consumers’ Association of Canada andeBCran v. Coca-Cola
Bottling Ltd. Et al., a class action suit allegitig unauthorized use by the defendants of contdieyosits and the imposition of recycling 1
on consumers. On June 2, 2006, the British ColurSbjareme Court granted the summary trial applicatichich resulted in the dismissal of
the plaintiffs’ action against us and the otheregefants. On June 26, 2006, the plaintiffs appaaledismissal of the action to the British
Columbia Court of Appeals which was denied, andppeal to the Supreme Court of Canada was reject&ecember 20, 2007. In Febru
2005, similar class action claims were filed inuaner of other Canadian provinces. Claims file@irebec have since been discontinued, but
it is unclear how the dismissal of the British Guohia case will impact the other cases.

We are subject to various claims and legal procesdith respect to matters such as governmergalagons, income taxes, and other
actions arising out of the normal course of businkfanagement believes that the resolution of thesigers will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results fromeogtions.

ITEM 4. RESERVED
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SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM PART I. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of names, ages, offices &adkgrounds of all of our executive officers asebruary 24, 2010. Our officers do
not serve for a set term.

Office Age
Jerry Fowden Chief Executive Office 53
Neal Cravens Chief Financial Office! 57
Michael Creamer Vice Presider—People 53
Gregory Leiter Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer,r@arate Controller and Assistant

Secretary 52
William Reis Senior Vice President, Chief Procurement Off 54
Marni Morgan Poe Vice President, General Counsel and Secre 40

Jerry Fowden was appointed Chief Executive OffameFebruary 18, 2009. Prior to this appointmentédmwed as President of our
international operating segments and Interim PesdjdNorth America from May 2008 to February 2088 as Interim President
of our United Kingdom operating segment from Seffiten2007 to May 2008. He served as Chief Exec@ifficer of Trader
Media Group Ltd., a media company, and as a mewitits parent Guardian Media Group plc’s Board @febtors from 2005

until 2007. From 2001 until 2004, he served in Aetg of roles with AB InBev S.A. Belgium, an alagft beverage company,
including President, European Zone, Western, Ceatich Eastern Europe from 2003 to 2004, Global Objgerating Officer from
2002 to 2003 and Chief Executive Officer of Baseviers Ltd., a subsidiary of AB InBev S.A. Belgiuimom 2001 to 2002.

Mr. Fowden was a director of Chesapeake Corpordtiow known as Canal Corporation) when it filedoduntary Chapter 11
petition in the U.S. on December 29, 2008. On M2y2D09, Chesapeake’s operating businesses weak¢osalgroup of investors
and Mr. Fowden resigned from his position as actlire Mr. Fowden has served on our board since Mae9.

Neal Cravens was appointed Chief Financial OffmeRAugust 20, 2009, effective September 8, 200@r By 2004, Mr. Craven
spent approximately 20 years with Seagram Compgaudy, the beverage, consumer products, and medétainment company,
where he successively served as Vice Presidemniflgy Mergers and Acquisitions, Senior Vice PresidFinance and Chief
Accounting Officer, and Executive Vice Presidend &hief Financial Officer at the divisional levél.2004, Mr. Cravens joined
Warner Music Group as Senior Vice President FinaHeethen served in the Chief Financial Officelerfar Almatis GmbH, a
global chemical company, during 2006, and Advantagles & Marketing, a consumer products brokemf&907 to 2008.
Immediately prior to joining the Company, Mr. Cragewvas a financial consultant to FM Facility Maimdace, a facilities
maintenance company formerly known as Integrateddds Technologie

Michael Creamer was appointed Vice President opRefor International in April 2007 and was prontbte Vice President of
People for Cott in August 2008. Prior to joiningtC®r. Creamer was Senior Director of Human Reseperations and
International for Avanade Corporation, a globacthsultancy firm formed as a joint venture betwAenenture and Microsoft
Corporation, from 2005 to 2007. From 1990 to 2004, Creamer held several positions with Microsoftluding senior global
human resources positiot

Gregory Leiter was appointed Vice President, CafmController and Assistant Secretary of Cott avéimber 2007, appointed
Senior Vice President and Controller in April 20081 appointed Chief Accounting Officer in Februa@i0. Prior to joining Cot
he served from 2006 to 2007 as Practice Manager-e@ance, Risk & Compliance with the internatioraftware firm SAP
America. From 2003 to 2006, he held two positioiith 'araham Packaging Company, an international rizemurer of custom
blow-molded plastic containers. During 2006, hevedras Graham Packaging’s Vice PresideGtebal Business Process and fi
2003 to 2006, he served as Director of Internalifi
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» William Reis was appointed Senior Vice Presidemie€Procurement Officer in March 2007. Prior tnjag Cott, he served from
2004 to 2007 as Senior Vice President and ChieflRemnent Officer for Revlon. From 2001 to 2004 skeved as Vice President
of Global Procurement for Goldman Sac

e Marni Morgan Poe was appointed Vice President, @ii@ounsel and Secretary in February 2010. Poitver appointment, she
served as Corporate Counsel of the Company frorte8gger 2008 until her appointment. Prior to jointhg Company, Ms. Poe
was the co-founder and Chief Executive Officer ef'& Eat Dinner, Inc., a franchisor of dinner prggian kitchens, from 2006 to

2008. From 2000 to 2006, she was a partner aathdilm of Holland & Knight LLP and an associatetbé law firm from 1995 t
2000.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY A ND RELATED SHAREOWNER MATTERS
Our common shares are listed on the TSX undeli¢kertsymbol “BCB,” and on the NYSE under the tickgmbol “COT.”

The tables below show the high and low reportedshare sales prices of common shares on the TSXairadian dollars) and the
NYSE (in U.S. dollars) for the indicated periods 2009 and 200¢

Toronto Stock Exchange (C$)

2009 2008
High Low High Low
January —March 31 $1.72 $0.8¢ $7.11 $1.81
April 1—June 3( $7.01 $1.0¢ $3.61 $2.3¢
July 3—September 3 $9.9¢ $5.8¢ $3.51 $1.12
October —December 3: $9.7(C $7.62 $1.5¢ $0.8C
New York Stock Exchange (U.S.$)
2009 2008
High Low High Low
January —March 31 $1.45 $0.6€ $7.0¢ $1.717
April 1—June 3( $6.5C $0.8¢ $3.5E $2.3¢
July —September 3 $8.0¢ $5.4( $3.4¢ $1.0€
October —December 3: $9.3: $7.04 $1.3C $0.6€

As of March 8, 2010, we had 1,143 shareownersairce This number was determined from records ramiatl by our transfer agent
and it does not include beneficial owners of se@siwhose securities are held in the names obwarilealers or clearing agencies. The
closing sale price of our common shares on Mar@0&p was C$7.13 on the TSX and $6.98 on the NYSE.

We have not paid cash dividends since June 193&€Tdre certain restrictions on the payment ofdéinds under our ABL facility and
the indenture governing the 2017 Notes. The ABllifgand the indenture governing the 2017 Notesdiscussed in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &®bults of Operations” beginning on page 27.

If we pay dividends to shareowners, those dividemitlgyenerally be subject to Canadian withholdiag. Under current Canadian tax
law, dividends paid by a Canadian corporation t@aresident shareowner are generally subject tadan withholding tax at a 25% rate.
Under the current tax treaty between Canada and tBe U.S. residents who are entitled to treatyeffies are generally eligible for a
reduction in this withholding tax rate to 15% (&ncb% for a shareowner that is a corporation anldaseneficial owner of at least 10% of
our voting stock). Accordingly, under current taxl our U.S. resident shareowners who are entitlébaty benefits will generally be
subject to a Canadian withholding tax at a 15% oatdividends paid by us, provided that they hawmmlied with applicable procedural
requirements to claim the benefit of the reducéel uader the tax treaty. The fifth protocol to the treaty between Canada and the U.S.
places additional restrictions on the ability oBUresidents to claim these reduced rate benbfig.residents generally will be entitled on
their U.S. federal income tax returns to claim @iign tax credit, or a deduction, for Canadian tatlding tax that applies to them, subject to
certain applicable limitations. U.S. investors ddaronsult their tax advisors with respect to e consequences and requirements applicable
to them, based on their individual circumstances.
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For information on securities authorized for issteaander our equity compensation plans, see IterfSEZurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related ShvaesoMatters.”

During 2007, 2008 and 2009, no equity securitieshefCompany were sold by the Company that wereagi$tered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Calculation of aggregate market value of non-affitate shares

For purposes of calculating the aggregate markaewaf common shares held by nafiiliates as shown on the cover page of this rg
it was assumed that all of the outstanding shasze Weld by non-affiliates except for outstandihgres held or controlled by our directors
and executive officers. This should not be deerneambhstitute an admission that any of these peramsn fact, affiliates of us, or that there
are not other persons who may be deemed to batg$l For further information concerning sharemgd of officers, directors and principal
stockholders see Item 12, “Security Ownership at&le Beneficial Owners and Management and Rel&texteowner Matters.”

Shareowner return performance graph

The following graph shows changes over our pastfiscal years in the value of C$100, assumingvesitment of dividends, invested
in: (i) our common shares; (ii) the Toronto StocicEange’s S&P/TSX Composite Index; and (ii)) a pgerup of publicly-traded companies
in the bottling industry comprised of Coca-Coladfptises Inc., Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidatédtional Beverage Corp., Pepsi
Bottling Group Inc. and PepsiAmericas Inc. The itigrice of Cott's common shares as of JanuaB02p on the TSX was C$8.66 and on
the NYSE was $8.20. The following table is in Caaadlollars.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Cott Corporation, The S&P/TSX Composite Index
And A Peer Group

180.00
160.00
£ 140.00
S 120.00
2 100.00
1]
5 80.00
£ 60.00
S 40.00
20.00
0.00
1/01/05 12/31/05 12/30/06 12/29/07 12/27/08 1/02/10
—— Cott Carporation —l- S&P/TSX Composite —&— Peer Group
1/1/200E 12/31/200¢ 12/30/200¢ 12/29/2007 12/27/200¢ 1/2/201C
Cott Corporation 100.0( 59.4¢ 57.8¢ 27.17 4.8t 33.1¢
S&P/TSX Composite 100.0( 124.1: 145.5¢ 159.8¢ 107.1C 144.6¢
Peer Group 100.0( 100.2( 107.9( 143.6: 76.51 130.1t
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects tasults of operations. This information should &ad in conjunction with, and is
qualified by reference to “Management’s Discussiad Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto includesizdisre in this report. The financial informatioe@ented may not be indicative of future
performance.

January 2, December 27 December 2¢ December 3C December 31
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amauts) 2010 2008 20071 20062 20053
(53 weeks (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Revenue $1,596." $ 1,648.: $ 1,776.. $ 1,771 $ 1,755.
Cost of sale: 1,346.¢ 1,467.. 1,578.( 1,554.¢ 1,505.¢
Gross Profit 249.¢ 181.( 198.2 216.¢ 249k
Selling, general and administrative exper 146.¢ 179.¢ 161.¢ 176.1 138.€
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 0.5 1.3 0.2 — i1.g
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairments ahero
charges

Restructuring iLE 6.7 24.: 20.5 3.2

Goodwill impairments — 69.2 55.¢ — 5.¢

Asset impairment 3.€ 37.C 10.7 15.4 27.€

Other Charge — — — 2.6 0.8
Operating income (loss; 97.4 (113.0 (54.5) 2.3 71.¢
Other expense (income), r 4.4 4.7 4.7 0.1 (0.7)
Interest expense, n 29.7 32.5 32.¢ 32.2 28.¢
Income (loss) before income taxe 63.2 (140.¢ (82.6) (30.0 43.¢
Income tax (benefit) expen (22.9 (19.5) (13.9 (16.9) 14.7
Net income (loss $ 86.1 $ (121.)) $ (68.9) $ (139 $ 29.1
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 4.€ 1.7 2.7 3.8 4.t
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation $ 81t $ (1229 $ (7149 $ (175 $ 24.¢
Income (loss) per common shar

Basic $ 1.4C $  (1.7% $ (0.99 $ (0.29 $ 0.3¢

Diluted $ 1.0¢ $ Q.79 $ (0.99 $ (029 $ 0.3¢
Financial Condition
Total asset $ 873.¢ $ 8731 $ 1,144. $ 1,140. $ 1,179.
Shor-term borrowings 20.2 107.t 137.C 107.7 157.¢
Current maturities of lor-term debr 17.€ 7.€ 2.4 2.0 0.8
Long-term debt 233.2 294.¢ 269.( 275.2 2725
Equity 401.c 246.F 451.¢ 509.€ 504.¢

Cash dividends pai — — — — —

! During the year, we acquired 100% of the businessta of El Riego, a Mexican water bottler, for2¥aillion. Effective December 31,

2006, we adopted the provisions related to ungetéd positions in Accounting Standards CodificaftASC”) No. 740, “Income
Taxes” and recorded an $8.8 million charge to our shareosvaquity as of December 29, 20

There were no acquisitions during the year. Dutirgyear we adopted ASC No. 718-10, “Stock Compansa using the modified
prospective approach and therefore have not restasailts for prior periods. This change resultethe recognition of $11.4 million in
shar-based compensation expense, $8.4 million net obit&0.12 per basic and diluted sh:

During the year we acquired 100% of the sharesatdw (Holdings) Limited, the parent company of Ma¢&oft Drinks) Limited
(“Macaw Acquisitior”).
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

We are one of the world’s largest non-alcoholicdyage companies and the world’s largest retailendbsoft drink company. Our
objective of creating lon¢germ growth in revenue and profitability is predezhon working closely with our retailer partnesgtovide provel
profitable products. As a fast follower of innowatiproducts, our goal is to identify which new prots are succeeding in the marketplace
develop similar products to provide our retail pars and their consumers with high quality prodat better value. This objective is
increasingly relevant in more difficult economimgs.

Sales of our products tend to be seasonal, witlsebend and third quarters accounting for highéraaes of our products than the first
and fourth quarters. The seasonality of our sabésmwe, combined with the accounting for fixed casish as depreciation, amortization, rent
and interest expense, impacts our results on deaglyabasis.

Retailer brand suppliers, such as us, typicallyajgeat low margins and therefore relatively sroh#inges in cost structures can
materially impact results. In 2008 and 2009, indu§tSD sales continued to decline, and ingrediadt@ackaging costs remained volatile.

Gross margin increased in 2009 through a combinatidower operating costs and improved pricingleZhaintaining service levels to
all major customers. During 2009, consumers sobgtier value in private label products during diift economic times. Market trends have
historically shown that demand for private labebd® continues after recovery from economic dowrsturtowever, there is no assurance that
this consumer shift to private label products wilhtinue after the economy improves. Gross margireased from 11.0% in 2008 to 15.6%
in 2009.

Our financial liquidity, as of January 2, 2010, moyed due to increased cash flow generated fromatipaal activities and $47.5
million of net proceeds from a public offering g#85,000 common shares at a price of $5.30 peegtia “Stock Offering”).

In 2009, we issued $215.0 million of senior unsedurotes due in November 2017 at a discount of $8libn with a coupon rate of
8.375% and purchased $257.8 million of the seniseaured notes due in 2011 (“the 2011 Notes”).

Ingredient and packaging costs represent a signifiportion of our cost of sales. These costsagst to global and regional
commodity price trends. Our three largest commeslitire aluminum, PET resin, and corn (which is tisguloduce HFCS). We attempt to
manage our exposure to fluctuations in ingrediedt@ackaging costs of our products by implemenirice increases as needed and entering
into fixed price commitments for a portion of ongredient and packaging requirements. In 2008 &98,2ve entered into fixed price
commitments for a majority of our 2009 HFCS andrdhum requirements, with the remaining forecasuiremments purchased at the
prevailing 2009 market prices. We have enteredfirtm price commitments for a majority of our HF@®juirements for 2010. We have &
entered into fixed price commitments for a majoafyour estimated aluminum requirements for 201@elas a portion of our requirements
for 2011.

In the U.S., we have been supplying Wal-Mart witlvaite label CSDs under the Exclusive Supply Cantid/e also supply Wal-Mart
and its affiliated companies with a variety of puots on a non-exclusive basis in the U.S., Canddaed Kingdom and Mexico, including
CSDs, clear, still and sparkling flavored wateus;g-based products, bottled water, energy-reldtids and ready-to-drink teas. On
January 27, 2009, we received written notice froal-Wart stating that Wal-Mart was exercising itght to terminate, without cause, the
Exclusive Supply Contract. The termination is efifecon January 28, 2012. This has the effect of
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returning our relationship to more typical marlesims over time, and allows Wal-Mart to introducleestsuppliers in the future, if they so
desire. The termination provision of the ExclusBugply Contract provides for our exclusive righstgpply CSDs to Wal-Mart in the U.S. to
be phased out over the Notice Period. Accordinglyhave the exclusive right to supply at least thiods of Wal-Mart’s total CSD volumes
in the U.S., on an exclusive basis, during the filsmonths of the Notice Period, and we have xotusive right to supply at least one-third
of Wal-Mart's total CSD volumes in the U.S. duritige second 12 months of the Notice Period. Dutirggfinal 12 months of the Notice
Period, there is no minimum supply requirementvithistanding the notice of termination of the Exstie Supply Contract, we continue to
supply Wal-Mart with all of its private label CSrsthe U.S. However, should Wal-Mart choose toddtrce an additional supplier to fulfill a
portion of its requirements for its private labeb@s, our operating results could be materially esklg affected. Sales to Wal-Mart, our top
customer in 2009, 2008 and 2007, accounted for8335.8% and 39.8%, respectively, of total revenue.

Summary financial results

Net income in 2009 was $81.5 million or $1.08 pitutdd share, compared with a net loss of $122]8amior $1.73 per diluted share in
2008.

The following items of significance impacted oud2@inancial results:

» improved gross margin to 15.6% in 2009 from 11.@92008, reflecting the benefit of local currencicerincreases, improved
product mix and lower ingredient and packaging

* revenue declined 3.1% in 2009 compared to 2008luBity foreign exchange impact, revenue increasétan 2009
» the consumer shift toward retailer brand produsta gesult of weak economic conditio

» aslight decrease in filled beverage 8-ounce edprits (“beverage case volume”) reflecting a 1.2%rel@se in our North America
operating segment which was partially offset byG2®@increase in our U.K. operating segm

» selling, general and administrativ' SG&A”) cost saving initiatives that resulted in an SG&Amr@ase of $33.0 millior

» the weakening value in the Canadian dollar, potedisg and Mexican peso each relative to the ddlar resulted in a $88.1
million adverse impact on revenues, a $12.0 milddwerse impact on gross profit and a $8.0 milpositive impact on SG&A

» restructuring, severance and lease terminatiors @fst1.5 million in connection with the 2009 Resturing Plan and asset
impairment costs of $3.6 million relating primartly the loss of a custome

» aloss on the buyback of the 2011 Notes of $3.8anil

» atax benefit resulting primarily from the revershhccruals relating to uncertain tax positiorigspnterest and penalties, which
generated a $17.5 million benefit and a $25.0 amlincome tax benefit resulting from the revergdl 5. valuation allowances.
These valuation allowance reversals were causeldebgarryback of net operating losses in the Uu.td recent changes in tax
law and the utilization in the current year of Udgferred tax assets with valuation allowancessg&hmnefits were partially offset
by $19.7 million of income tax expense resultingsthofrom current year earnings; a

» an extra week in fiscal 2009 that is estimatedawehcontributed 9.1 million additional beverageesa$20.3 million of additional
revenue and $1.3 million of additional operatingome.

The following items of significance impacted oud2@inancial results:

» goodwill impairment of $69.2 million arising frorower anticipated operating cash flows related tolnited Kingdom reporting
unit;
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» asset impairment of $35.4 million for the Rightsh{gh are associated with the rights to manufaatoreentrate formulas, with all
the related inventions, processes and technicarégp, recorded as an intangible assets at thetasquisition, including the R
brand outside of North America and Mexico) arisirgnm the downward trend of estimated concentradelgpction;

» the highly competitive environment and continuetlxte decline in all operating segmer

« decline in revenue attributable to \-Mart of 15.4% in the U.S. reporting un

» executive transition costs of $6.8 million (inclodi$1.9 million of no-cash stock compensation expen

* restructuring severance and lease termination o6$t6.7 million in connection with our restructogi initiatives;

» increased selling, general and administrative castsciated with expiring trademarks, amortizatibeoftware costs, $4.5 million
of previously capitalized software costs and baut é&pense

« decline in the foreign exchange rate as comparéuktd).S. dollar for the Canadian dollar, poundlistg and Mexican peso that
resulted in a $27.6 million adverse impact on ress;

» accelerated depreciation of $1.5 million resultfirmm Wal-Mart’s decision to remove certain of o@nding machines from Wal-
Mart stores along with $0.9 million of asset rena@sts; anc

» alower effective income tax rate resulting fromvrdte down of United Kingdom reporting unit goodisitith no tax relief and a
valuation allowance on U.S. and Mexico deferresine tax assets, offset in part by a settlemenédain tax matters under auc

The following items of significance impacted oud2@nancial results:

» goodwill impairment of $55.8 million arising fromwer anticipated operating cash flows related told&. reporting unit

» asset impairment charges of $10.7 million primaréated to the disposal of a water productionlitgdn the Canada reporting
unit and the discontinuance of certain-filled production assets in the U.S. reporting paitd

» severance costs of $24.3 million associated wighNbrth American Plar

Critical accounting policies

Ouir critical accounting policies require managentemhake estimates and assumptions that affeceff@ted amounts in the
consolidated financial statements and the acconmipgmpotes. These estimates are based on histesiparience, the advice of external
experts or on other assumptions management believesreasonable. Where actual amounts differ gstimates, revisions are included in
the results for the period in which actuals becémawvn. Historically, differences between estimated actuals have not had a significant
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Critical accounting policies and estimates usegrépare the financial statements are discussedouithudit Committee as they are
implemented and include the following:

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess purchase pricecpfies businesses over the fair value of the re#tasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested at least annfllynpairment in the fourth quarter or more freqie if we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss omized in our results of operations. We evalgatedwill for impairment on a reporting
unit basis. Reporting units are operations for Whiiscrete financial information is available. Tdwaluation of goodwill for each reporting
unit is based upon the following approach. We camplae fair value of a reporting unit to its camyi
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amount. Where the carrying amount is greater tharidir value, the implied fair value of the refrogtunit goodwill is determined by
allocating the fair value of the reporting unitaibthe assets and liabilities of the reportingtuvith any of the remainder being allocated to
goodwill. The implied fair value of the reportingitigoodwill is then compared to the carrying amtoofithat goodwill to determine the
impairment loss. Any impairment in value is recami in net income (loss). We have goodwill of $3@iion on our balance sheet as of
January 2, 2010 after recording a $69.2 milliondyaitl impairment in 2008.

The only remaining goodwill on our books is for Banada reporting unit and the RCI reporting unit.

We measure the fair value of reporting units usingix of the income approach (which is based ordibeounted cash flow of the
reporting unit) and the public company approaciorRo December 30, 2007, we only used the incoppeaach. We use a combination of
two approaches which provides a more accurate tratubecause it incorporates the actual cash geoeraf the company in addition to how
a third party market participant would value thparing unit. Because the business is assumedntince in perpetuity, the discounted future
cash flow includes a terminal value. We used a hteid) average terminal growth rate of 2% for our&kmreporting unit in 2009 and 2008
and 0% for our RCI reporting unit in 2009 and 2008e long-term growth assumptions incorporated ihéodiscounted cash flow calculation
reflect our long-term view of the market (includiaglecline in CSD demand), projected changes isdheof our products, pricing of such
products and operating profit margins. The esticha¢genue changes in this analysis for the Cangmlarting unit and RCI reporting unit
range between -0.3% and 10.8% for 2009 and betw&@% and 9.0% for 2008.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimai@s 11% for 2009 and 12% for 2008. This rate &eHaon the weighted average cost
of capital a market participant would use if evéilgthe reporting unit as an investment. The figle rate for 2009 was 4.2% and is based on
a 20-year U.S. Treasury Bill as of the valuatioteda

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evaltleeassumptions used to reflect changes in thedmsenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoaté. Based on the evaluation performed this y&lizing the assumptions above, we
determined that the fair value of each of our répgrunits exceeded their carrying amount and i@salt further impairment testing was not
required. We analyze the sensitivity these assumpthave on our overall impairment assessment afedtinat as of January 2, 2010 annual
assessment, the fair value for each of these liagarhits were substantially in excess of its dagwalue. We do not believe that goodwill in
our Canada reporting unit nor the RCI reporting biave a high risk of failing impairment testingtlais time.

We determined that as of September 27, 2008, oitetdKingdom reporting unit's goodwill was impairedsed on our estimate of its
fair value. This impairment analysis was triggede@ to cumulative declines in our cash flows inlthéted Kingdom, which was lower than
the forecast used to value this asset in our 2@@airment analysis. This decrease in cash flowpeatly the result of lower than anticipated
volumes and the adverse impact of rising commagliie our raw material costs. Allocating this faatue to the assets and liabilities to the
United Kingdom reporting unit resulted in a $69.®ion goodwill impairment charge.

Due to the ongoing decline in the CSD markets wierdgned that as of December 29, 2007 our U.S.rtigygpunit's goodwill was
impaired based on our estimate of its fair valuéodating this fair value to the assets and lidiei of the U.S. reporting unit resulted in a
$55.0 million goodwill impairment charge. We alsetermined that the decision to dispose of the Révled, British Columbia operation
resulted in a $0.8 million impairment of goodwil the Canada reporting unit.

Impairment testing of intangible assets with an iefinite life

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite litdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual @y from Royal Crown Company, Inc.
including the right to manufacture our concentratgth all related inventions, processes, technielgechnical and manufacturing
information, know-how and the use of the Royal Qndwand outside of North America and Mexico (théghRs”) which has a net book val
of $45.0 million. Prior to

30



Table of Contents

2001, we paid a volume based royalty to the Royaiv@ Company for purchase of concentrates. Ther@adegal, regulatory, contractual,
competitive, economic, or other factors that lithi useful life of this intangible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be indeériind therefore not amortized, but instead igtkat least annually for impairment or
more frequently if we determine a triggering eviea$ occurred during the year. For an intangibletasgh an indefinite life, we compare the
carrying amount of the Rights to their fair valuglavhere the carrying amount is greater than thevédue, we recognize in income an
impairment loss. To determine fair value, we useliaf from royalty method which calculates a failue royalty rate which is applied to a
forecast of future volume shipments of concentifade is used to produce CSDs. The forecast of éwofumes is based on the estimated
inter-plant shipments and RCI shipments. The rgyalief method is used since the Rights were pasel in part to avoid making future
royalty payments for concentrate to the Royal Cr@ampany. The resulting pro forma cash flows asealinted using the same assumpt
discussed above for goodwill. As such, no impairweas calculated as of January 2, 2010. As of Septe 27, 2008, we recorded an asset
impairment related to the Rights of $27.4 millitniggered primarily due to the decline of our No#tinerica case volume (including
reductions in volume with Wal-Mart) and lower aigited overseas concentrate volume by our RCI tipgraegment. We incurred an
additional $8.0 million asset impairment as of Draber 27, 2008 to reflect additional anticipatedwoé declines in our RCI operating
segment for a total impairment of $35.4 million.s&lnt any other changes, if our inter-plant coneg@tvolume declines by 1.0% from our
estimated volume, the value of our Rights wouldidedy approximately $1.0 million. If our RCI vahe declines by 1.0% from our
estimated volume, the value of the Rights wouldidedy approximately $2.2 million. If our discoet borrowing rate increases by 100
basis points, the value of the Rights would dedlip@pproximately $5.4 million.

Other intangible assets

As of January 2, 2010, other intangible assets w&i®.5 million, which consisted principally of $84million of customer relationshi
that arise from acquisitions. Customer relationslsige amortized on a straight-line basis for théopgeover which we expect to receive
economic benefits. We review the estimated usé@ubfF these intangible assets annually, taking @dnsideration the specific net cash flows
related to the intangible asset, unless a reviaeqgaired more frequently due to a triggering ewserth as the loss of a customer. The
permanent loss or significant decline in salestpaustomer included in the intangible asset woeglilt in impairment in the value of the
intangible asset or accelerated amortization amdtldead to an impairment of fixed assets that vusied to service that customer. In 2009
recorded a $3.5 million customer relationship impant charge for the loss of a customer.

Impairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayimgunt of long-lived assets to the estimated undisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grofilong-lived assets and recognize any impairnass in our income statement, taking
into consideration the timing of testing and theed's remaining useful life. The expected life amtle of these long-lived assets is based on
an evaluation of the competitive environment, liggnd future prospects as appropriate. In 2008&,eeerded impairment losses totaling 4
million for both the Elizabethtown, Kentucky fatyliand certain hot-filled production assets thatlald-for-sale. In 2007, we recorded
impairment losses of $10.7 million relating to lelhged assets of the Revelstoke, British Columbieility and certain hot-filled equipment at
a co-packer that did not operate as planned.

Inventory costs

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, ddtechon the first-in, first-out method, or net izable value. Returnable bottles and
plastic shells are valued at the lower of costpdépralue or net realizable value. Finished goaut$ work-in-process include the cost of raw
materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhazgis. As a result, we use an inventory reseragljiost our costs down to a net realizable
value and to reserve for
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estimated obsolescence of both raw and finishedgddur accounting policy for the inventory resemguires us to reserve an amount based
on the evaluation of the aging of inventory ancttaided analysis of finished goods for high-rislsttumers.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset abiditfamethod. Deferred tax assets and liabiliges recognized based on the
differences between the accounting values of assetdiabilities and their related tax bases usingently enacted income tax rates. A
valuation allowance is established to reduce defeimcome tax assets if, on the basis of availabigence, it is more likely than not that all
or a portion of any deferred tax assets will notdmized. We classify interest and income tax firsaas income tax expense (benefit).

Effective December 31, 2006, we adopted the pronssielated to uncertain tax positions in ASC N, 7Income Taxes,” (“ASC
740”) which provides specific guidance on the ficiahstatement recognition, measurement, repogiydisclosure of uncertain tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeASC 740 addresses the determination of winétixebenefits, either permanent or
temporary, should be recorded in the financiakstants. The Interpretation requires that differerimstween the amounts recognized prior to
the adoption of ASC 740 and the amounts reportied afloption are accounted for as a cumulativeseffdjustment recorded to the
beginning balance of retained earnings and othaeskvner equity accounts. As a result of adoptiBgLA 40 as of the beginning of our 2007
fiscal year, we recognized a $4.2 million decrdasetained earnings and $4.6 million decreaselditimnal paid-in-capital to recognize the
cumulative effect of adoption.

We account for uncertain tax positions using a stap process. The first step is to evaluate th@daition for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidenceigades that it is more likely than not that theipos will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation proesssf any. The second step requires us to estiarateneasure the tax benefit as the largest
amount that is more than 50% likely to be realiapdn ultimate settlement. It is inherently diffitahd subjective to estimate such amounts,
as we have to determine the probability of varipassible outcomes. We re-evaluate these uncegripdsitions on a quarterly basis. This
evaluation is based on factors including, but imoitéd to, changes in facts or circumstances, chamngtax law, effectively settled issues
under audit, and new audit activity. Such a changecognition or measurement would result in #agognition of a tax benefit or an
additional charge to the tax provision.

Pension Plans

On December 31, 2006, we adopted the recognitidrdastlosure requirements of ASC No. 715-20, “Congation—Defined Benefit
Plans—General” (“ASC 715-20"). The funded statuthesdifference between the fair value of plan tssapd the benefit obligation. The
adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive inamdoption represents the net unrecognizedrédtgains or losses and unrecognized
prior service costs. Future actuarial gains ordeghat are not recognized as net periodic bereefésin the same periods will be recognized
as a component of other comprehensive income.

We maintain two defined-benefit plans that covetaie full-time salaried employees in the U.K. aradtain other employees under a
collective bargaining agreement at one plant inltfe. We record annual amounts relating to thesespbased on calculations specified by
GAAP, which include various actuarial assumptiomshsas discount rates (5.8% to 6.2%) and assuntesl afreturn (7.0% to 7.2%)
depending on the pension plan. Material changesfsion costs may occur in the future due to chaingthese assumptions. Future annual
amounts could be impacted by changes in the discata changes in the expected long-term ratetafm, changes in the level of
contributions to the plans and other factors.
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The discount rate is based on a model portfolidAfrated bonds with a maturity matched to the eated payouts of future pension
benefits. The expected return on plan assets exdbas our expectation of the long-term rates afrrebn each asset class based on the currer
asset mix of the funds, considering the histonietrns earned on the type of assets in the fyptds,an assumption of future inflation. The
current investment policy target asset allocatiifieis between our two plans, but it is betweerdD%®to 70.0% for equities and 30.0% to
50.0% for bonds. The current inflation assumpt®B8.i7%. We review our actuarial assumptions onnauia basis and make modifications to
the assumptions based on current rates and tremels appropriate. The effects of the modificatioresaanortized over future periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemer—see Note 1 of the consolidated financial statensent
Non-GAAP Measures

In this report, we present certain information reliyag changes in our revenue excluding the impafdreign exchange. We believe tl
this is a useful financial measure for investorsvaluating our operating performance for the giripresented, as when read in conjunction
with our changes in revenue on a U.S. GAAP basgeisents a useful tool to evaluate our ongoirggatipns and provides investors with an
opportunity to evaluate our management of assddsfioan period to period. In addition, these adpgsamounts are one of the factors we use
in internal evaluations of the overall performan€®ur business. This information, however, is aobheasure of financial performance under
U.S. GAAP and should not be considered a substitutehanges in revenue as determined in accordaithd).S. GAAP.

The following table summarizes our Consolidated Staments of Operations as a percentage of revenue 2009, 2008 and 2007:

Percent o Percent o Percent of
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 2009 Revenue 2008 Revenue 2007 Revenue
Revenue $1,596." 100.% $1,648.: 100.% $1,776. 100.(%
Cost of sale: 1,346.¢ 84.4% 1,467.. 89.0%  1,578.( 88.8%
Gross profit 249.¢ 15.€% 181.C 11.(% 198.¢ 11.2%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 146.¢ 9.2% 179.¢ 10.% 161.¢ 9.1%
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 0.5 0.C% 1.3 0.1% 0.2 0.C%
Restructuring 1.5 0.1% 6.7 0.4% 24.% 1.4%
Goodwill impairments — 0.C% 69.2 4.2% 55.¢ 3.2%
Asset impairmen 3.6 0.2% 37.C 2.2% 10.7 0.6%
Operating income (lost 97.4 6.1% (113.0 -6.S% (54.5) -3.1%
Other expense (income), r 4.4 0.2% 4.7 -0.%2% (4.7) -0.3%
Interest expense, n 29.7 1.5% 32.5 2.% 32.¢ 1.8%
Income (loss) before income tax 63.2 3.2% (140.¢ -8.5% (82.€) -4.€%
Income tax (benefit) expen (22.¢) -1.4% (19.5 -1.2% (13.9 -0.8%
Net income (loss 86.1 5.2% (121.7) -7.2% (68.7) -3.8%
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 4.6 0.2% 1.7 0.1% 2.7 0.2%
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporat $ 81t 5.0 $ (122.¢) -75% $ (719 -4.C%
Depreciation & amortizatio $ 66.2 41% $ 80.7 4% $ 717 4.C%
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The following table summarizes our revenue, operatg income (loss) by operating segment for 2009, ZD&nd 2007:

(In millions of U.S. Dollars) 2009 2008 2007
Revenu

North America $1,173.¢ $1,178.( $1,274.¢
United Kingdom 359.: 385.3 405.:
Mexico 42,7 61.¢ 69.4
RCI 20.¢ 22.C 26.¢
All Other — 0.2 —
Total $1,596.° $1,648.: $1,776.

Operating income (los

North America $ 77 $ (56.9 $ (78.9
United Kingdom 23.C (53.t 16.€
Mexico (7.0 (8.9 1.7
RCI 3.6 8.1 10.7
All Other? — (2.5 (5.7
Total $ 974 $ (113.0 $§ (549

Primarily represents international unallocated ooafe costs

The following table summarizes our case volume byperating segment for 2009, 2008 and 2007:

(In millions of cases) 2009 2008 2007
Volume 8 ounce equivalent cases—Total Beveragkding

concentrate
North America 648.¢ 665.¢ 699.€
United Kingdom 189.t 189.2 198.¢
Mexico 26.¢ 29.4 34.C
RCI 220.] 233.4 337.2
All Other — 0.7 0.€
Total 1,084.¢ 1,118.! 1,270.:
Volume 8 ounce equivalent ca—Filled Beverage
North America 574.2 581.( 627.€
United Kingdom 174.€ 171.1 182.¢
Mexico 26.4 29.4 34.C
RCI 0.2 — —
All Other — 0.7 0.4
Total 775.¢ 782.2 844.¢
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The following tables summarize revenue by productdr 2009, 2008 and 2007:

(In millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Concentrate

All other products

Total

(In millions of physical cases)

8 ounce volum
Carbonated soft drink
Concentrate

All other products

Total

(In millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Concentratt

All other products

Total

(In millions of physical cases)

8 ounce volum
Carbonated soft drink
Concentratt

All other products
Total

(In millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Concentratt

All other products

Total

(In millions of physical cases)

8 ounce volum
Carbonated soft drink
Concentrate

All other products
Total

For the Year Ended January 2, 2010

North United All
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
$ 760 $161.¢ $364 $ — $— $ 958.
6.5 4.€ — 19.7 — 30.€
407.£ 192.¢ 6.3 1.1 — 607.€
$1,173.¢ $359.2 $42.7 $ 206 $— $1,596.
North United All
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
359.% 87.¢ 20.2 — — 467.¢
74.4 14.¢ — 219.¢ — 309.z
214 86.7 6.1 0.2 — 307.t
648.¢ 189.t 26.4 2201 — 1,084.¢
For the Year Ended December 27, 2008
North United All
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
$ 7487 $163.F $59.2 $ — $0¢ $ 9721
5.5 7.2 — 22 — 34.7
423.¢ 214.¢ 2.7 — — 641.5
$1,178.( $385.2 $61.¢ $ 22.C $0.8 $1,648.:
North United All
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
360.% 86.7 28.C — 0.7 476.]
84.¢ 18.1 — 2332 — 336.%
220.% 84.4 1.4 — — 306.1
665.¢ 189.2 29.4 233.2 0.7 1,118t
For the Year Ended December 29, 2007
North United All
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
$ 817.& $182.( $684 $ — $— $1,068.:
4.7 9.2 — 26.6 — 40.7
452.£ 214.1 1.C — — 667.5
$1,274¢ $ 405 $69.4 $ 26 $— $1,776.
North United All
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
379.¢ 99.¢ 33.€ — 0.€ 513.¢
72.2 15.¢ — 337.2 — 425.%
2475 83.€ 0.4 — — 331.t
699.€ 198.¢ 34.C 337.2 0.€ 1,270.:
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Results of operations
The following table summarizes the change in regdnuoperating segment for 2009:

For the Year Ended January 2, 2010

North United All
(In million of U.S. dollars) Cott 1 America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other
Change in revent $(51.4) $ (4.]) $ (26.0 $(19.2) $(1.2) $(0.9
Impact of foreign exchang? 88.1 14.t 62.2 11. — 0.7
Change excluding foreign exchar $36.7 $ 10.4 $ 36.2 $ (7.7 $(1.2) $(1.0)
Percentage change in rever -3.1% -0.3% -6.7% -31.(% -5.5% N/A
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreign
exchange 2.4% 0.9% 11.2% -15.2% -5.5% N/A

Cott includes the following operating segments:tN@tmerica, United Kingdom, Mexico, RCI and All @th
exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra

representing our Asia reporting unit, which ceasgeélrations in the fourth quarter of 201

The following table summarizes the change in regdnuoperating segment for 2008:

For the Year Ended December 27, 2008

Impact of foreign exchange is the difference betwie current year’s revenue translated utilizimg ¢urrent year's average foreign

Percent change in revenue and percent changeenuewexcluding foreign exchange is N/A for All Qtkleie to this operating segment

North United All
(In million of U.S. dollars) Cott 1 America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other
Change in revenL $(128.7) $(96.9) $ (20.0 $ (7.5 $ (4.9 $ 0.¢
Impact of foreign exchang? 27.€ (2.6) 29.¢ 0.4 — (0.2)
Change excluding foreign exchar $(100.7) $(99.5) $ 9.¢ $ (7)) $ (4.9 $ 0.8
Percentage change in rever -7.2% -7.€% -4.9% -10.8% -17.% N/A
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignaegss3 -5.6% -7.8% 2.6% -10.2% -17.% N/A

! Cott includes the following operating segments:tNémerica, United Kingdom, Mexico, RCI and All @th

2
exchange rates less the current ’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra

representing our Asia reporting unit, which did hegin operations until the fourth quarter of 2C

2009 versus 2008

Impact of foreign exchange is the difference betwtbe current year’s revenue translated utilizimg ¢urrent year’s average foreign

Percent change in revenue and percent changeenuewexcluding foreign exchange is N/A for All Qtkleie to this operating segment

Revenue decreased 3.1% in 2009 from 2008, primduéyto lower North America beverage case volunfisetoin part by an improved
product mix in the U.K. and higher local currencicimg in the U.S., Canada and the U.K. The weakgnialue in the Canadian dollar, the
pound sterling and the Mexican peso, each relétitbe U.S. dollar since December 27, 2008, haallaative $88.1 million negative impact

on our revenue and a $12.0 million negative impacbur gross margin from 2008.
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2008 versus 2007

Revenue decreased 7.2% in 2008 from 2007, primduéyto a decrease in North America beverage aalsene. The weakening value
in the Canadian dollar, the pound sterling andMile&ican peso, each relative to the U.S. dollaresidecember 29, 2007, had a collective
$27.6 million negative impact on our revenue ad & million negative impact on our gross margonir2007.

Revenue Results for Operating Segments
2009 versus 2008

North America revenue decreased 0.3% in 2009 fro@82primarily due to a 1.2% decline in beverageeosmlume that resulted from a
continued softness in demand in most categoriess@&lkng price per beverage case (which is netmae divided by beverage case volume)
was up slightly for 2009 from 2008. Absent foreggthange impact, North America revenue improveéoGr92009.

U.K. revenue decreased 6.7% in 2009 from 2008, quilynas a result of a weakening of the pound istgrbffset in part by a 2.0%
increase in beverage case volume, improved pradixcfprimarily increases in energy-related drinkajl local currency price increases. Net
selling price per beverage case decreased 8.4%0& f2om 2008. Excluding foreign exchange impacK.Uevenue increased 11.2% in 2009
from 2008. The U.K. total case volume increase@®d2ie to improved sales of energy-related drinks was partially offset by a decrease in
concentrate sales.

Mexico revenue decreased 31.0% in 2009 from 200@\apily due to a 10.2% decline in beverage cademe. Net selling price per
beverage case decreased 23.2% in 2009 from 20@8idtxg foreign exchange impact, Mexico revenue %&8% lower in 2009 from 2008.
Mexico case volume decreased 10.2% in 2009 dueftioess with modern trade customers and the cdntinmpact of our credit policies.

RCI revenue decreased 5.5% in 2009 from 2008, pilyves a result of a 5.7% decline in total caskimn® resulting from an unusually
large sales volume in the fourth quarter of 2008rticipation of a price increase that was effextiv2009. Net selling price per beverage
case was flat in 2009 from 2008. RCI primarily selbncentrate case volume.

2008 versus 2007

North America revenue decreased 7.6% in 2008 fro@v 2primarily as a result of a 7.4% decline indrage case volume that resulted
from the continued softness in the CSD and botilatér categories. Net selling price per beverage eas flat for 2008 from 2007. Absent
foreign exchange impact, North America revenue2fad8 declined 7.8%.

U.K. revenue decreased 4.9% in 2008 from 2007, gnilynas a result of a weakening of the pound istgihnd a 6.5% decrease in
beverage case volume due to price increases. Niaggarice per beverage case increased 1.6% ii8 #@dn 2007. Absent foreign exchange
impact, U.K. revenue increased 2.6% in 2008 fro@720’he U.K. operating segment case volume dealea886 due to accelerated CSD
category decline in the United Kingdom but was ipliyt offset by a 13.8% increase in concentratesal

Mexico revenue decreased 10.8% in 2008 from 200mapily due to a 13.5% decrease in beverage calsene. Net selling price per
beverage case increased 3.1% in 2008 from 200&nlisreign exchange impact, Mexico revenue deeka.3% in 2008 from 2007.
Mexico case volume decreased 13.5% in 2008 dueftioess with modern trade customers and the imgfamtir new credit policies, offset by
price increases.

RCI revenue decreased 17.9% in 2008 from 2007 gpifiyras a result of a 30.8% decrease in case whasulting from an unusually
large sales volume in the fourth quarter of 200@rnticipation of a price increase that was effectiv2008. Net selling price per beverage
case increased 18.6% in 2008 from 2007. RCI prignaells concentrate case volume.
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Cost of Sales
2009 versus 2008

Cost of sales decreased 8.2% overall and repres84td% of revenue in 2009 as compared to 89.020@8. This decline in costs was
due in part to lower costs and a slight reductio€ED and concentrate volumes. Variable costs septed 74.9% of total sales in 2009, d
from 78.6% in 2008. Major elements of these vadgatusts included ingredient and packaging cost$jlaition costs and fees paid to third-
party manufacturers.

2008 versus 2007

Cost of sales decreased 7.0% overall and repres88t6% of revenue in 2008 as compared to 88.820@7. This decline was due in
part to a 15.8% decrease in the utilization of darth American plant facilities and lower ingredi@md packaging costs. Variable costs
represented 78.6% of total sales in 2008, down frérb% in 2007. Major elements of these variabEsmcluded ingredient and packaging
costs, distribution costs and fees paid to thirdypaanufacturers. In 2007, we incurred $3.6 millaf product recall costs in the U.K. net of
$5.5 million of business interruption insurancemieursements.

Gross Profit
2009 versus 2008

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increas&8.6% in 2009 from 11.0% in 2008. The overallsgrprofit improved by 38.0% in
2009 primarily as a result of slightly improved setling prices in North America, improved produouk in the U.K. along with higher local
currency prices and lower operating costs.

2008 versus 2007

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue was relgtilat at 11.0% in 2008 and 11.2% in 2007. Therall gross profit decreased by
8.8% in 2008 due primarily to lower sales, higtieed operating costs due to a 15.8% decline irutization of our North American plant
facilities, and the sale of more lower-margin pradusuch as bottled water.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A)
2009 versus 2008

SG&A in 2009 decreased $33.0 million, or 18.4%pnirB008. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A was 922009, as compared to
10.9% in 2008. The decline in the overall SG&A samtd the percentage of revenue in 2009 was ptintaé result of a $2.6 million
reduction in compensation costs resulting fromrestructuring plans offset in part by $11.6 milliehincreased incentive pay over the prior
year (in 200- $3.3 million of executive severance costs; in@0¢66.8 million of executive transition costs,liring non-cash stock
compensation of $1.9 million), the noeeurrence of $4.5 million of previously capitalizeoftware expensed in 2008, a $4.9 million redun
in marketing costs as we continue to refocus away tbranded products and related promotional dgtigi $3.7 million decrease in
professional fees, a $2.5 million reduction in @mption expense primarily related to our vendisgess, a $7.1 million reduction in
amortization expense primarily related to a redurctn software costs that became fully amortizedd69, $2.3 million improvement in bad
debts as our Mexico operations stabilize and $2lébmof reduced travel costs offset in part by $nillion of additional costs related to our
vending operations.

2008 versus 2007

SG&A in 2008 increased $17.9 million, or 11.1%,fr@007. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A was 10092008 and 9.1% in 2007.
The increase in the overall SG&A costs and thegraage of revenue in 2008
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was primarily due to $4.4 million of increased bt expense, $2.7 million of increased amortiratédated to a change in the estimated
of certain trademarks, $0.9 million of additional@rtization related to certain software assets], ##llion of additional stock compensation
(including $1.9 million of stock compensation rekhto executive transition costs) due to our realénsthe prior year of the accrual for our
performance stock unit awards, a $1.5 million leggtlement and $4.5 million of previously capiteli software costs expensed in the third
quarter of 2008. These increases were partialgeothy a $6.8 million reduction in compensationeasie in part to the Refocus Plan
(including $4.9 million of executive transition ¢esnd the unfavorable impact of $3.3 million afeign exchange).

The table below summarizes the stock compensatiparse for the years 2009, 2008 and 2007. This easgiion expense was
recorded in selling, general and administrativeemses.

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Stock options $ 01 $ 0.8 $ 3.2
Performance share un 0.8 2.2 (1.2
Share appreciation righ 0.4 0.t 0.7
Restricted Stoc 0.1 — —
Interim CEO awar (0.2) 0.8 —
Former CEO awar — 1.6 1.2
EISP awarc — 0.1 0.2
Total $ 1.3 $ 6.3 $ 4.2

Restructuring, Goodwill and Asset Impairments
2009 versus 2008

In 2009, we recorded restructuring and asset impaits of $5.1 million, which included $3.6 milliéor asset impairments primarily
related to customer relationships and severands 06$1.5 million related to the organizationatracturing and headcount reductions
associated with the 2009 Restructuring Plan. IrB20& recorded restructuring, goodwill and ass@@iiments of $112.9 million, which
included a $69.2 million goodwill impairment changdated to our United Kingdom reporting unit, &3$Bmillion asset impairment
associated with the Rights, $1.6 million of asegtairment charges related to the decline in vafueedain held-for-sale assets in our North
America operating segment and $6.7 million of regtiring costs associated with the Refocus Plan.

2008 versus 2007

In 2008, we recorded restructuring, goodwill ansetasmpairments of $112.9 million, which include&&9.2 million goodwill
impairment charge related to our United Kingdonmorépg unit, a $35.4 million asset impairment asatet with the Rights, $1.6 million of
asset impairment charges related to the declinalire of certain held-fosale assets in our North America operating segia@ht$6.7 millior
of restructuring costs associated with the Refdlas. In 2007, we recorded restructuring, goodavill asset impairments of $90.8 million,
which included $55.8 million for goodwill impairmerelated primarily to our U.S. reporting unit, $Z0nillion for asset impairments,
primarily related to the disposal of a bottled wateduction facility, the discontinuance of centaiotfilled production assets, severance c
of $24.3 million related to the organizational rasturing and headcount reductions associatedtivitiNorth American Plan, and contract
lease termination costs, severance and other i@ated to the closures of the Wyomissing plantwacehouse and certain offices.
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Operating Income (Loss)
2009 versus 2008

Operating income in 2009 was $97.4 million, comgarean operating loss of $113.0 million in 2008arily due to higher gross
profit margins, lower SG&A costs and lower restruictg and asset impairment charges.

2008 versus 2007

Operating loss in 2008 was $113.0 million, compdoedn operating loss of $54.5 million in 2007 npairily due to lower gross margins
and higher SG&A costs in addition to the above-riogr®d restructuring and asset impairment charg8@3.

Other Expense (Income), net

In 2009, we recorded a $3.3 million charge on #payment of the 2011 Notes and $1.1 million ofifpreexchange losses. In 2008, we
recorded $4.5 million as business interruption vecg under our insurance coverage related to olumvary product recall that occurred in
United Kingdom in 2007. This amount was reporte@ther expense (income), net because there well@exi costs incurred in 2008 that
should be offset by the insurance proceeds. In 208&lso recorded $1.0 million of foreign exchafags, which includes $3.2 million of
foreign exchange losses related to inter-compaagdoln 2007 we recorded $4.4 million of foreigcleange gains.

Interest Expense
2009 versus 2008

Net interest expense in 2009 decreased 8.0% fr@8 gOmarily due to lower average short-term antyerm debt amounts and low
overall average interest rates.

2008 versus 2007

Net interest expense in 2008 decreased 1.5% fr@# gmarily as a result of lower overall averageiest rates even as we had ov
higher debt amounts.

Income Taxes
2009 versus 2008

We recorded an income tax benefit of $22.8 miliim2009 as compared with an income tax benefitl®.% million in 2008. This
benefit reflects the reversal of accruals relatmgncertain tax positions, plus interest and pgerglwhich generated a $17.5 million benefit
and a $25.0 million income tax benefit resultingnfrthe reversal of U.S. valuation allowances. Thedeation allowance reversals were
caused by the carryback of net operating losst®itJ.S. due to recent changes in tax law andtilieation in the current year of U.S.
deferred tax assets with valuation allowances. & hesefits were partially offset by $19.7 millichimcome tax expense resulting mostly
from current year earnings.

2008 versus 2007

We recorded an income tax benefit of $19.5 miliim2008 as compared with an income tax benefitl&.$ million in 2007. This
benefit reflects the settlement of certain mattieas were under audit and the benefit realized feemain book losses offset by the impact of
goodwill impairment charges that are not deductibteax purposes and income generated in cemaisdjictions. The benefit of tax losses
generated in the U.S. and
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Mexico cannot be recognized since it is “more lkian not"that these losses will not be utilized before tbepire. The valuation allowan:
resulted in the non-recognition of approximatelyt $million in tax benefits for the year.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share
2009 versus 2008

Net income for 2009 was $81.5 million, or $1.08 gituted common share, as compared to a net |0$%2#.8 million for 2008, or
$1.73 per diluted common share.

2008 versus 2007

Net loss for 2008 was $122.8 million, or $1.73 gitwted common share, as compared to a net 1088 b# million for 2007, or $0.99
per diluted common share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our cash flows 802, 2008 and 2007 as reported in our Consolidatattments of Cash Flows in 1
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements:

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Cash provided by operating activiti $ 155.1 $ 66.¢ $ 79.
Cash used in investing activiti (32.29) (54.¢) (78.7)
Cash (used in) provided by financing activit (207.5) (29.9) 12.£
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 0.€ (5.9 0.2
Net increase (decrease) in ci 16.2 (22.9) 14.C
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 14.5 27.L 13.4
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 30.< $ 14.7 $ 27.2

Operating activities

Cash provided by operating activities in 2009 was31 million as compared to $66.9 million in 20081 $79.5 million in 2007. The
$88.2 million increase from 2008 to 2009 was prilgatue to higher operating income and reductionworking capital as a result of
improved collection efforts and inventory managetnen

The $12.6 million decrease from 2007 to 2008 wasagnily due to lower operating income and the tighaf certain vendor invoices,
offset in part by the receipt of income tax refuadsl improved accounts receivable collection effagt reflected in a decrease of our day
outstanding (“DSO”) to 43.9 days in 2008 from 48's in 2007.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $32.2 milim2009 as compared to $54.8 million in 2008 ar#.$ million in 2007. The $22.6
million decrease from 2009 to 2008 was primarile do reduced capital expenditures. In 2008, we nsagtéficant expenditures for our wa
bottling equipment project. The $23.3 million dexse from 2008 to 2007 was primarily the resulteafuced capital intensive projects even
after taking into account our expenditures forwaer bottling equipment project.

Financing activities

Cash used in financing activities was $107.5 millio 2009 as compared to cash used of $19.3 mili@008 and cash provided of
$12.4 million in 2007. In 2009, we substantialldueed our ABL facility borrowings,
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repurchased $257.8 million of the 2011 Notes offisethe receipt of $47.5 million in net proceedmirthe Stock Offering and $211.9 million
from the issuance of the 2017 Notes. The $31.74anilhcrease in cash used in financing activitie2008 was primarily the result of the
purchase of $6.4 million of treasury shares byralependent trustee pursuant to certain of ouryqoihpensation plans, and a $27.8 million
reduction in our short-term borrowing facilitieds#t in part by financing the $32.5 million watettting equipment project.

Financial Liquidity

As of January 2, 2010, we had total indebtedne$2®1.0 million and $30.9 million of cash and casfuivalents as compared to $40
million of debt and $14.7 million of cash and casjuivalents as of December 27, 2008.

We believe that our level of resources, which idelsicash on hand, available borrowings under thie faBility and funds provided by
operations, will be adequate to meet our expemsgstal expenditures, and debt service obligatfonshe next twelve months. Our ability to
generate cash to meet our current expenses andafehite obligations will depend on our future periance. If we do not have enough cash
to pay our debt service obligations or if the ABicility or the 2017 Notes were to become curredtiyg, either at maturity or as a result of a
breach, we may be required to take actions suelmasding our ABL facility or the indenture govemiour Notes, refinancing all or part of
our existing debt, selling assets, incurring adddil indebtedness or raising equity.

For periods extending beyond twelve months, weelelthat our ability to generate cash to meet gperses and debt service
obligations and to otherwise reduce our debt asipated will primarily depend on our ability todece the rate of revenue decline, retain a
substantial amount of volume from our key custonagig improve the profitability of our businesswi do not generate sufficient cash from
operations or have excess debt availability to rmaeexpenses and debt service obligations oeifdBL facility or the 2017 Notes were to
become currently due, either at maturity or assaltef a breach, we may be required to take astsuch as amending our ABL facility or the
indenture governing the 2017 Notes, refinancingapart of our existing debt, selling assets, inag additional indebtedness or raising
equity. If we need to seek additional financinggrehis no assurance that this additional finaneiitigoe available.

Should we desire to consummate significant acqospportunities or undertake significant expansotivities, our capital needs
would increase and could result in our need toease available borrowings under our ABL facilityagcess public or private debt and equity
markets.

As of January 2, 2010, our total availability untiee ABL facility was $178.1 million, which was teakon our borrowing base
(accounts receivables, inventory, and fixed assestgf November 21, 2009 (the November month-emiguthe terms of the credit
agreement), and we had $20.2 million of ABL bornogg outstanding and $9.9 million in outstandintelst of credit. As a result, our excess
availability under the ABL facility was $148.0 midh. Each month’s borrowing base is not effectimélisubmitted to the lenders, which
usually occurs on the fifteenth day of the follogzimonth.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we repurchas28i7$l million in aggregate principal amount of #8641 Notes, pursuant to a public
cash tender offer, in which we also paid an eantydéer premium, accrued interest and associatedafebexpenses. We also purchased $20.7
million of the 2011 Notes in the third quarter @0®. The extinguishment of these 2011 Notes that welidly tendered resulted in a charge
of $3.3 million which was recorded to Other Expe(iseome) in the Consolidated Statement of Openatfor the year ended January 2,
2010. On February 1, 2010, we completed the redempf the remaining $11.1 million of the 2011 Nate

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we completed @ifering of $215.0 million in aggregate princigahount of 8.375% senior
unsecured unregistered notes due 2017 resultingtiproceeds of approximately $206.8 million aételiscount of $3.1 million and issuance
costs of $5.1 million. The 2017 Notes mature on
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November 15, 2017 and pay interest semiannuallylay 15thand November 1% of each year, beginning May 15020he 2017 Notes are
senior unsecured obligations and rank equally alitbther existing and future unsubordinated inddhess, including indebtedness under our
credit facilities. We are subject to such covenamig limitations on our and/or our subsidiariesligh subject to certain exceptions and
qualifications, to (i) pay dividends or make distriions, repurchase equity securities, prepay slihated debt or make certain investments,
(i) incur additional debt or issue certain disdfiedl stock or preferred stock, (iii) create orumdiens on assets, (iv) merge or consolidate with
another company (which applies to Cott and CottdBages, Inc. only) or sell all or substantiallyadkets taken as a whole, (v) enter into
transactions with affiliates and (vi) sell assets.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as dafimder Iltem 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K as of Zam2, 2010.

Contractual Obligations

The following chart shows the schedule of futurgrpants under certain contracts, including debtements and guarantees, as of
January 2, 2010:

Payments due by period

(in_millions of US dollars) Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014  Thereafter
8% Senior subordinated notes due in 2 $111 $111 $— $— $— $— $ —
8.375% Senior subordinated notes due in 2 215.( — — — — — 215.(
ABL Facility 1 20.z 20z — — — — —
GE Obligation? 16.C 5.8 4.1 2.4 1.C 1.1 1.€
Capital lease 3.2 0.4 0.4 0.t 0.t 0.t 0.¢
Other lon¢-term debt 2.€ 0.€ 04 0.2 0.2 .2 0.9
Other lon¢-term liabilities 5.7 5.7 — — — — —
Interest expens? 153.( 20¢ 197 19.t 191 19.C 55.C
Operating lease 95.¢ 18.z 16.1 13.1 10 7.7 30.7
Guarantee purchase equipm 10.1 10.1 — — — — —
Pension obligation 1.1 1.1 — — — — —
Purchase obligatior4 285.¢ 115.¢ 45.z 20.t 20.t 20.t 62.2
Others aL{e aL{e — — — — —
Total $820.2 $210.7 $86.C $56.2 $51.6 $49.£ $ 366./

! The ABL facility is considered a current liabilit

We funded new water bottling equipment throughrderim financing agreement signed in January 2888 GE Obligation”). At the
end of the GE Obligation, we may return $6.0 millmf assets in exchange for the extinguishmen6di illion in debt.

Interest expense includes fixed interest on the’ 20dtes, the 2011 Notes, the GE Obligation, the A#dility, capital leases and other
long-term liabilities. Actual amounts will differ fromsémates providec

Purchase obligations consist of commitments fopiliehase of inventory, energy transactions andfanmation technology
outsourcing contract. These obligations represgentriinimum contractual obligations expected undemormal course of busine

Represents our ASC 740 liability that will be paid2010. The contractual obligations table excluthesCompanys remaining ASC 74
uncertain tax positions liability of $13.7 millidrecause the Company cannot make a reliable estoh#te timing of cash paymen

2
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We also expect to recover the $20.8 million in imeotaxes receivable over the next 12 months, wénielrelated to tax refunds in
various jurisdictions.

Debt
Our debt is summarized as follows:

January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
8% senior subordinated notes due in 21 $ 11.1 $ 269.(
8.375% senior subordinated notes due in 22 215.( —
ABL facility 20.2 107.k
GE Obligation 22.C 28.71
Other capital lease 3.2 3.4
Other deb 2.€ 3.2
Total debt 274.1 411.¢
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de
ABL facility 20.2 107.k
Total shor-term borrowings 20.2 107.t
8% senior subordinated notes due in 2011 11.1 —
GE obligatior—current maturities 5.5 6.7
Other capital lease—current maturities 0.4 0.2
Other deb—current maturities 0.€ 0.€
Total current dek 37.¢ 115.]
Long-term debt before discou 236.: 296.7
Less discount on 8% not — (2.3
Less discount on 8.375% no! (3.7) —
Total long-term debt $ 233.C $ 294.

! Our 8% senior subordinated notes were issued igcauwht of 2.75% on December 21, 20

Our 8.375% senior subordinated notes were issuadiscount of 1.425% on November 13, 2(

8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011

The 2011 Notes are due on December 15, 2011. tigerepurchase of $257.8 million in principal ambofthe 2011 Notes in 2009,
principal amount of the 2011 Notes outstanding $&k 1 million as of January 2, 2010. The issughef2011 Notes is Cott Beverages Inc.,
but we and most of our U.S., Canadian and Unitedyldm subsidiaries guarantee the 2011 Notes. Taeest on the 2011 Notes is payable
semi-annually on June 5 and Decembeth 15

The remaining $11.1 million of the 2011 Notes wexgdeemed on February 1, 2010.

8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 millionesfiar subordinated notes that are due on Noventhe217. The 2017 Notes were
issued at a $3.1 million discount and deferredrfaieg fees of $5.1 million. The issuer of the 20ates is Cott Beverages Inc., but we and
most of our U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom gsilibges guarantee the 2017 Notes. The interest@2®@17 Notes is payable semi-
annually on May 1% and November @5 of each yeajinmng on May 15, 2010.
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Asset Based Lending Facilit

On March 31, 2008, we entered into our ABL facilitith various lenders led by JPMorgan Chase Bank, b provide financing for
our operating segments in North America, the UniKedydom and Mexico. Cott Corporation, Cott Beveradnc. and Cott Beverages Limi
are borrowers under our ABL facility. The debt under ABL facility is guaranteed by most of our U.8nited Kingdom, Canadian and
Mexican subsidiaries and is secured by substantdlibf the assets of the borrowers and guarantors

The ABL facility is a five-year revolving facilitpf up to $225.0 million that runs through March 20The amount available under the
ABL facility is dependent on a borrowing base ctdted as a percentage of the value of eligiblenbwg, accounts receivable and property,
plant and equipment. The ABL facility has subfdigh for letters of credit and swingline loans gedgraphical sublimits for Canada ($40.0
million) and the United Kingdom ($75.0 million).

The effective interest rate as of January 2, 2010IBOR and Prime loans is based on average aggregailability as follows:

Eurodollar CDOR LIBOR
Average Aggregrate Availability ABR Canadian
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Spreac Prime Spreac Spread Spreac Spread
Over $15C 2.2% 2.2% 3.25% 3.25% 3.25%
$75- 150 2.5(% 2.5(% 3.5(% 3.5(% 3.5(%
Under $7& 2.7"% 2.7"% 3.7%% 3.7"% 3.7%%

As of January 2, 2010, we had $20.2 million in ABarrowings outstanding and the commitment fee wa%@er annum of the unused
commitment.

We incurred $6.0 million of financing fees in cootien with the ABL facility. The financing fees abeing amortized over a five-year
period, which represents the duration of the ABtilfiy.

GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32.5 million of water bottling equipmeuirchases through a finance lease arrangemef0B. The quarterly payments
under the lease obligation total approximately $8ilion per annum for the first two years, $5.3limn per annum for the subsequent two
years, then $1.7 million per annum for the finalrfgears

Credit Ratings and Covenant Compliance
Credit Ratings

On July 28, 2009, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Sesviaised our debt rating on the 2011 Notes to Q6@ CCC-.Our corporate famil
rating was upgraded to B- from CCC+. On Septemb@089, Moody’s upgraded our corporate family mtio B3 from Caal and the rating
on the 2011 Notes to Caal from Caa2. The specelgtade liquidity rating was affirmed at SGL-3.Qxtober 2009, Moody’s assigned a
credit rating of Caal to the 2017 Notes and raaffiit its existing B3 company rating. On OctoberZt®)9, Standard & Poor’s Rating
Services upgraded our corporate family rating fooBh B- and rated the 2017 Notes at B.

Covenant Compliance
ABL Facility

We and our restricted subsidiaries are subjectonaber of business and financial covenants andtewd default under the ABL
facility. The debt under the ABL facility is guataed by most of our U.S., United Kingdom, Canadiad Mexican subsidiaries. The ABL
facility contains limitations on indebtedness, fign
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mergers, consolidations, liquidations and salegmgat of dividends, investments, loans and advaro@®nal payments and modifications
of subordinated and other debt instruments, amdaetions with affiliates that we believe to betoosary. Events of default under the ABL
facility include nonpayment, inaccuracy of repraaéions and warranties (which would include theusgence of an event having a material
adverse effect), violation of covenants, cross-aléta other indebtedness, bankruptcy, materiagjoents, and a change of control of the
Company. Upon the occurrence of an event of defthdtlenders may terminate the commitments antheall loans due and payable. We
have agreed to a mandatory prepayment provisionwiiiout a reduction of the commitment), subjecteértain exceptions, upon a sale or
transfer of assets of a borrower or guarantor, upersale of any common stock or other equity, uperreceipt of proceeds from the issue

of any indebtedness, upon the occurrence of ahadility shortfall under the revolver, or upon rgateof insurance proceeds or condemnation
awards.

Our ABL facility contains a covenant requiring animium fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.@e&tf’e when and if excess
availability is less than $30.0 million. Our fixelarge coverage ratio as calculated under thisnemteas of January 2, 2010 was greater than
1.1 to 1.0. If availability is less than $37.5 nail, the lenders will take dominion over the casH will apply excess cash to reduce amounts
owing under the revolver. The credit agreement gung the ABL facility requires us to maintain esseavailability of at least $15.0 million.
We believe we were in compliance with all of thelégable covenants under the ABL facility on Jaryu2r2010.

8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011

The indenture governing the 2011 Notes containsnaber of business and financial covenants and swdrdefault that apply to the
issuer and the guarantors. In addition to us, tleeantors are, in general, the subsidiaries orgdriiz Canada, the U.S., and the United
Kingdom. Events of default or triggers for prepaytngrovided for under the indenture include, amotigers: (i) a change of control of us in
certain circumstances; (ii) unsatisfied judgmemtsross-default or cross-acceleration to otherhieldgness in excess of $10.0 million, in the
case of the indenture; (iii) our insolvency or tbithe restricted subsidiaries; and (iv) covergefault under the credit facilities or indenture.

We believe we have been in compliance with alhef¢covenants under the 2011 Notes and there haverlzeamendments to any such
covenants since they were issued. See Note 14 toothsolidated financial statements containedi;mAhnual Report on Form 10-K.

8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2017

The 2017 Notes are senior unsecured obligationsaidequally with all other existing and futuresubordinated indebtedness,
including indebtedness under our credit facilitM& are subject to covenants and limitations onamalfor our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to
certain exceptions and qualifications, to (i) pasidénds or make distributions, repurchase equétusties, prepay subordinated debt or i
certain investments, (ii) incur additional debigsue certain disqualified stock or preferred stdiiiy create or incur liens on assets,

(iv) merge or consolidate with another company [i@aggo Cott and Cott Beverages, Inc. only) or aklbr substantially all assets taken as a
whole, (v) enter into transactions within affiliatend (vi) sell assets.

We believe we have been in compliance with alhefcovenants under the 2017 Notes and there haverlzeamendments to any such
covenants since they were issued.

Capital structure

In 2009, equity increased by $154.8 million fron080The increase was primarily the result of nebme of $81.5 million, the issuan
of $47.5 million of shares, a $26.5 million foreigarrency translation gain on the net assets bfsstaining foreign operations, $4.6 million
of non-controlling interest income partially offdmst
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$6.6 million distributions to non-controlling inest and $1.3 million of share-based compensatiperese. The foreign currency translation
adjustment resulted primarily from the decreastépound sterling, the decrease in the Canadibar @md the decrease in the Mexican peso
relative to the U.S. dollar since December 2008.

Dividend payments

No dividends were paid in 2009 and we do not exfechange this policy in 2010 as we intend toeash for future growth or debt
repayment.

There are certain restrictions on the paymentwifidnds under our ABL facility and Notes indenture.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
We do not trade market risk sensitive instruments.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exggheates. Operations outside of the U.S. accodotegpproximately 36.7% of
2009 revenue and 39.0% of 2008 revenue, and ameotmated principally in the U.K., Canada and MexM/e translate the revenues and
expenses of our foreign operations using averageamge rates prevailing during the period. Thecefdéa 10.0% change in foreign currer
exchange rates among the U.S. dollar versus thadtamdollar, pound sterling and Mexican peso akafiary 2, 2010, at current levels of
foreign debt and operations would result in oueraes in 2009 changing by $55.3 million and ousgnarofit in 2009 changing by $4.0
million. These changes would be material to ouhdbmsvs and results of operations.

Our primary exposure to foreign currency exchamges relates to transactions in which the curreatlgcted from customers is
different from the currency utilized to purchase groduct sold. Beginning in 2010, we entered fateign currency contracts to hedge some
of these currency exposures for which natural hedgenot exist. Natural hedges exist when purchasésales within a specific country are
both denominated in the same currency and, thexefiorexposure exists to hedge with foreign excadogvard, option, or swap contracts
(collectively, the “foreign exchange contracts”)eWo not enter into foreign exchange contractsréamting purposes. The risk of loss on a
foreign exchange contract is the risk of nonperfomoe by the counterparties, which we minimize bytlhg our counterparties to major
financial institutions. The fair values of the faye exchange contracts, which are nil, are estichaging market quotes. We had no foreign
exchange contracts at January 2, 2010.

Debt obligations and interest rates

We have exposure to interest rate risk from thetantling principal amounts of our short-term amdjiterm debt. Our longerm debt i:
fixed and our short-term debt is variable. Our siemm credit facilities are vulnerable to fluctioats in the U.S. short-term base rate and the
LIBOR rate. At current debt levels as of Januar@®.,0, a 100 basis point increase in the currenapeum interest rate for our ABL facility
(excluding the $9.9 million outstanding letterscoddit) would result in $0.2 million of additioniaterest expense during the next year. This
change would not be material to our cash flowswsrresults of operations. The weighted averageesteate of our debt outstanding at
January 2, 2010, was 8.0%.

We regularly review the structure of our indebtesinand consider changes to the proportion of figatersus fixed rate debt through
refinancing, interest rate swaps or other measuoressponse to the changing economic environmeistotically, we have not used derivative
instruments to manage interest rate risk. If weargkfail to manage these derivative instrumentsessfully, or if we are unable to refinance
our indebtedness or otherwise increase our delgic@igpn response to changes in the marketplaeegxpense associated with debt service
could increase. This would negatively impact ouoaficial condition and profitability.
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The information below summarizes our market risksoaiated with long-term debt obligations as ofiday 2, 2010. The table presents
principal cash flows and related interest rategdmr of maturity. Interest rates disclosed repregenactual weighted average rates as of
January 2, 2010.

Debt Obligations
Weighted average

Outstanding interest rate for debt

(in millions of US dollars) debt balance maturing

Debt maturing in:

2010 $ 17.¢ 8.C%
2011 4.9 8.C%
2012 3.1 8.C%
2013 1.7 7.%
2014 1.8 7.%
Thereafte 218.4 8.4%
Total $ 247.¢ 8.3%

Commodity Price Risk

The competitive marketplace in which we operate fimay our ability to recover increased costs ttghihigher prices. As a result, we
are subject to market risk with respect to commyoplitce fluctuations principally related to our pbases of aluminum, PET resin and HFCS.
When possible, we manage our exposure to thigriskarily through the use of supplier pricing agremts, which enable us to establish the
purchase prices for certain commaodities. We estrttat a 10% increase in the market prices of PEET the current market prices would
cumulatively increase our cost of sales duringniixet 12 months by approximately $11.5 million. Ttiinge would be material to our cash

flows and our results of operations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial statements and exhibits filed under itieim are listed in the index appearing in ltem 18 report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, under the supervisiomwéhdhe participation of the Company’s Chief Entiee Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of #ftectiveness of the design and operation of the@any’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of January 2, 2010 (the “Evaluatidésed upon the Evaluation, the Company’s Chiefchaive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the company’s disclosuretimds and procedures (as defined in Rule 13ée) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate “internal contra@rdinancial reporting” (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)L3¢lanagement evaluates the effectiveness oCitnapany’s internal control over
financial reporting using the criteria set forththg
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Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission in Internal Control—Integrated FraragewvManagement, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Compa Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financialfioér, assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportiag of January 2, 2010, and concluded that itfectve.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal cortk@r financial reporting as of January 2, 2010teen audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s indepemndgistered certified public accounting firm, wllso audited the Company’s
consolidated financial statements included in &risual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their repdich appears under Iltem 8.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company’s internal obotrer financial reporting that occurred during tiompany’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reablynigkely to materially affect, the Company’s int@l control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The information required by this item regardingediors is incorporated by reference to, and wiltbetained in, the “Election of
Directors” section of our definitive proxy circulfor the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareowners, whidhbe filed within 120 days after
January 2, 2010 (the “2010 Proxy Circular”). Thioimation required by this item regarding audit coittee financial expert disclosure is
incorporated by reference to, and will be contaimedhe “Corporate Governance” section of our 28t6xy Circular. The information
required by this item regarding executive officappears as the Supplemental Item in Part I. Theeve heen no material changes to the
procedures by which shareholders may recommendne@sito our Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is“andit committee” for the purposes of Section &8)(A) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Coremitharter is posted on our website at www.cott.cidme members of the Audit
Committee are Graham Savage (Chairman), GeorgecBund Gregory Monahan. As required by the NYSEsiuthe board has determined
that each member of the Audit Committee is finalhclderate and that Mr. Savage qualifies as amdiacommittee financial expert” within
the meaning of the rules of the U.S. SecuritiesExchange Commission.

All of our directors, officers and employees musinply with our Code of Business Conduct and EtHizaddition, our Chief Executi
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal aeoting officer and certain other employees havertnér obligation to comply with our
Code of Ethics for Senior Officers. Our Code of Bass Conduct and Ethics and our Code of EthicSé&mior Officers are posted on our
website, www.cott.com and we intend to comply vatiigations to disclose any amendment to, or wadfeprovisions of these codes by
posting such information on our website.

Section 16(a) Beneficial ownership reporting compdince

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference to, and will be contained in, tBection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” section of our 2010 ProxycGiar.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to, and will be contained in, @erhpensation of Executive Officers”
section of our 2010 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREOWNER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to, and will be contained in, tRaricipal Shareowners,” “Security
Ownership of Directors and Management” and “Eq@impensation Plan Information” sections of our 2Bt@xy Circular.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to, and will be contained in, tGertain Relationships and Related
Transactions” section of our 2010 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to, and will be contained in, thaditors” section of our 2010 Proxy
Circular.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(&) The documents filed as part of this reportearéollows:
1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and accompamgports of independent registered certifiedlipudccounting firm
are listed in the Index to Consolidated Financtat@&nents and are filed as part of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
3. Exhibits
Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K f&eth on the “Exhibit Index.”

All other schedules called for by the applicableCStecounting regulations are not required underdtaged instructions or are
inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmy authorized.

Cott Corporation

/s/ JERRYF OWDEN
Jerry Fowden

Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 16, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated:

/s/ JERRYF OWDEN Date: March 16, 2010 /s/ GREGORYM ONAHAN Date: March 16, 2010
Jerry Fowden Gregory Monahan
Chief Executive Officer, Director Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ NEAL C RAVENS Date: March 16, 2010 /s/ MAaRIoPiLozzi Date: March 16, 2010
Neal Cravens Mario Pilozzi
Chief Financial Officer Director

(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ GREGORYL EITER Date: March 16, 2010 /s/ GEORGEA. B URNETT Date: March 16, 2010
Gregory Leiter George A. Burnett
Chief Accounting Officer, Director

Senior Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/'s/ DAviD T. GIBBONS Date: March 16, 2010 /'s/  ANDREWP ROZES Date: March 16, 2010
David T. Gibbons Andrew Prozes
Chairman, Director Director
/'s/ M ARK B ENADIBA Date: March 16, 2010 /'s/ GRAHAM S AVAGE Date: March 16, 2010
Mark Benadiba Graham Savage
Director Director
/'s/ STEPHENH. H ALPERIN Date: March 16, 2010 /'s/ ERICR OSENFELD Date: March 16, 2010
Stephen H. Halperin Eric Rosenfeld
Director Director
/s/ BETTYJANE H ESS Date: March 16, 2010
Betty Jane Hess
Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Cott Corporation, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{(g)¢&sent fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Cott Corponamd its subsidiaries at January 2, 2010, andbleer27, 2008 and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the two yehentended in conformity with accounting principienerally accepted in the United State
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financsahtement schedules for the years ended Janua@i@,and December 27, 2008 appearing
under Item 15(a)(2) present fairly, in all materiedpects, the information set forth therein wheadrin conjunction with the related
consolidated financial statements. Also in our @pinthe Company maintained, in all material respesffective internal control over
financial reporting as of January 2, 2010, basedriteria established in Internal Control—Integthframework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis€dSO). The Company’s management is responsiblinése financial statements
and financial statement schedules, for maintaiefffigctive internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, indied in Management’s Report on Internal Control dveancial Reporting under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfoia statements, on the financial statement sdeedand on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our integrateditauWe conducted our audits in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdaadards require that we plan and perform the addibbtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of malterisstatement and whether effective internal mdmver financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audittheffinancial statements included examining, oasalbasis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, aggptte accounting principles used and signifiestimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement preg@maOur audit of internal control over financraporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financiglogiing, assessing the risk that a material weakegists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrcbiviased on the assessed risk. Our audits altadieat performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyde¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company changed the manner ichvithaccounts for non-
controlling interests in 2008.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financakstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; anda(iyide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the compangsats that could have a material effect on thentiizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tampa, Florida
March 16, 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of CotpGration:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under item 15{g)¢esent fairly, in all material
respects, the results of operations and cash déwott Corporation and its subsidiaries for tharyended December 29, 2007, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America. In addition, in ourropn, the financial statement schedule for
the year ended December 29, 2007, appearing utetet5(a)(2), presents fairly, in all material regpethe information set forth therein
when read in conjunction with the related consdéiddinancial statements. These financial statesn@ndl financial statement schedule are
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these fiahstatements and financial statement
schedule based on our audit. We conducted our afittiese statements in accordance with the stdaddithe Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamgisinethat we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatgmAn audit includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significaninesties made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Weete that our audit provides a reasonable basistdo opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company adopted the provisidatereto accounting for uncertain
tax positions.

As discussed in Note 1, the consolidated finarstatiements have been retrospectively adjustedhéomianner in which the Company
accounts for non controlling interests.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Ontario

March 10, 2008, except for Note 8, for which théeda as of March 11, 2009 and as it relates tattw®unting for non controlling interests as
discussed in Note 1, as to which the date is May2009
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
(In millions of U.S. dollars except share and geare data)

Revenue, ne
Cost of sale:
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairme
Restructuring
Gooduwill impairments
Asset impairment
Operating income (loss
Other expense (income), r
Interest expense, n
Income (loss) before income taxe
Income tax benef
Net income (loss
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation

Net income (loss) per common share attributed to GbCorporation
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average outstanding shares (thousands) ahuted to Cott Corporation
Basic
Diluted

For the Year Ended

January 2,

2010
$1,596.
1,346.¢
249.¢
146.¢
0.5

195

December 27

2008
$ 1,648.:
1,467..
181.(
179.¢
1.8

6.7
69.:

37.C
(113.0
@.7)

32.
(140.6)
(19.5)

$ (121
1.7

$ (1229

$ (179
$  (1.79

71,017
71,017

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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December 2¢€

2007
$ 1,776.-
1,578.(
198.¢
161.¢
0.2

24.%
55.¢

10.7

(54.5)

4.7)

32.¢

(82.6)
(13.9

$ (68.)
2.7

$ (719

$  (0.99
$  (0.99

71,83
71,83
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except share data)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $5.9 (¥&%f December 27, 200
Income taxes receivab
Inventories

Prepaid and other expens
Deferred income taxe

Other current asse

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Shor-term borrowings

Current maturities of lor-term debr
Income taxes payab

Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Deferred income taxe

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxe

Other tax liabilities

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and Contingenc—Note 16
Equity

Capital stock, no p—81,331,330 (December 27, 20- 71,871,330) shares issu
Treasury stocl

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earnings (defic
Accumulated other comprehensive |
Total Cott Corporation equity
Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity
Approved by the Board of Directors:

/sl Graham Savage

January 2,

2010

$ 30.¢
152.:
20.¢
99.7
114
3.2
2.2
320.5
343.(
30.€
155.5
5.4
18.€

$ 873.¢

$ 20z
17.¢

December 27

2008

$ 14.5
164.¢
7.7
111.1
©.2
3.C
310.
346.¢
27.C
169.¢
10.c
9.2

$ 8731

$ 107F
7.€

0.1

166.5

281.¢
294 .4
16.C
18.c
16.C

626.¢

275.(
(6.4)
38.1
(29.7)
(47.9)
229.:
17.
246

$ 8731

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

For the Year Ended
January 2, December 27 December 2¢

2010 2008 2007
Operating Activities

Net income (loss $ 86.1 $ (121.3) $ (68.7)
Depreciation and amortizatic 66.2 80.7 71.7
Amortization of financing fee 1t 1.1 1.€
Shar-based compensation expel 1.3 5.€ 4.2
Increase (decrease) in deferred income t 6.2 (13.9) 0.1
(Decrease) increase in other income tax liabili — (22.7) 0.c
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm 0.5 1.3 0.2
Loss (gain) on buyback on not 18 — (0.9
Asset impairment 0.1 1.€ 10.7
Intangible asset impairmer 3.t 35.4 —
Goodwill impairments — 69.2 55.¢
Lease contract termination lo — (08 12t
Lease contract termination payme (3.8 (3.9 (7.7)
Other nor-cash item: 2.€ 3.1 (0.7)
Change in accounts receival 20.¢ 8.5 (7.3
Change in inventorie 16.C 6.4 7.C
Change in prepaid expenses and other current ¢ (1.€) (0.7) 0.6
Change in other asse 1.2) (6.0) —
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabi (6.5) 3.9 13.C
Change in income taxes receivable, (38.0) 25.2 (15.9
Net cash provided by operating activit 155.1 66.< 79.5
Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipmi (32.9) (55.9) (73.9)
Additions to intangible: (1.6 (3.9 (3.€
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equiptand hel-for-sale assel 1.7 4.t 1.2
Acquisition of businesses and business as = = (22
Net cash used in investing activiti (32.9 (54.9 (78.1)
Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term debt (265.5) (9.0 (8.9
Issuance of lor-term debt 211.¢ 33.¢ 14
Borrowings on credit facility, ne — (127.5) —
Shor-term borrowings, ne — (8.1 23.1
Shor-term borrowings, ABL 768.1 1,300.: —
Shor-term repayments, AB (856.€) (1,192.) —
Distributions to no-controlling interest: (6.€) 3.9 4.0
Issuance of common shai 47.5 — €
Purchase of treasury sha — (6.4) —
Deferred financing fee (6.2) (5.9 —
Other financing activitie (0.7) (0.E) (0.3)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (107.9 (19.9) 12.4
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 0.6 (5.9 0.2
Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents 16.2 (12.7) 14.C
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of period 14.7 27.4 13.4
Cash & cash equivalents, end of period $ 30.¢ $ 14.7 $ 27.4
Supplemental Noncash Financing Activities:
Capital lease additior $ 0.2 $ 4.€ $ =
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for intere: $ 23.¢ $ 31.1 $ BB
Cash paid for income taxes, 1 $ 11.C (9.6 0.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance at December 30, 2006

Options exercise

Common shares issui

Restricted share

Shar-based compensatic

Reclassified share-based compensation to
liabilities

Adjustment for adoption of FASB
Interpretation No. 4i

Adjustment for adoption SFAS 1!

Change in uncertain tax positio

Distributions to no-controlling interest:

Comprehensive los

Currency translation adjustme

Pension liabilities

Net (loss) incom

Balance at December 29, 2007

Treasury shares purcha—PSU Plar
Treasury shares purcha—EISPP
Restricted share

Shar-based compensatic
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Comprehensive los

Currency translation adjustme
Pension liabilities

Net (loss) incomq

Balance at December 27, 2008

Treasury shares isst—PSU Plar
Treasury Shares issL—EISPP
Common shares issur

Shar-based compensatic

Options exercise

Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Comprehensive incon

Currency translation adjustme
Pension liabilities, net of te

Net income

Balance at January 2, 2010

Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Equity

Cott Corporation Equity

(In millions of U.S. dollars except share data)

Number of Number of Retainec Accumulated
Additional Other Non-
Common  Treasury Common Treasury Restricted Earnings Comprehensive  Controlling
Shares (In  Shares (In Paid-in- Total
thousands thousands Shares _Shares Shares Capital (Deficit) Income (Loss) Interests Equity
71,75( — $ 2732 % — $ 0.7 $ 296 $ 168.7 $ 178 $ 20.¢  $509.¢
53 — 0.5 — — — — — 0.t
68 — 1.1 — — — — — — 1.1
— — — — 0.2 — — — — 0.2
— — — — — 3.8 — — — 3.€
— — — — (0.4) — — (0.4)
— — — — — (4.6) 4.2 — — (8.€)
— — — — — — (2.2) — (2.2)
— — — — — 315 — — — 315
— — — — — — — — (4.0) (4.0)
— — — — — — — 17.¢ — 17.¢
— — — — — — — (0.9) — (0.€
— — — — — (71.4) — N (68.7)
71,871 — $ 275 % — $ 0.4 $ 32z $ 931 $ 325 $ 19.€ $451.¢
— 1,95¢ — (5.4) — — — — — (5.4)
— 358 — (1.0 — 1.0 — — — —
— — — — 0.4 (0.4) — — — —
— — — — — 52 — — — 52
— — — — — — — — (3.9 (3.€
— — — — — — — (76.€) 0.1 (76.7)
— — — — — — — (3.5) — (3.5
— — — — — — (122.9) — 17 (121.))
71,871 2307 $ 2750 % (64 $ — $ 381 $ (290 $ 478 $ 17.5  $246.F
— (560) — 14 — (1.4) — — — —
— (249) — 0.€ — (0.6) — — — —
9,43t — 47.t — — — — — — 47.t
— — — — — 1.3 — — — iLg
25 — — — — — — — — —
— — — — — — — — (6.€) (6.€)
— — — — — — — 26.5 — 26.t
— — — — — — 81. — 4.€ 86.1
81,33! 1506 $ 3225 $ (449 $ — 3 374 $ 518 $ (215 $ 15.5  $401.:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

For the Year Ended

January 2,

Net income (loss $ 86.1

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Net currency translatio 26.5
Pension benefit plan, net of t —

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of te 26.5
Comprehensive income (loss $ 112.¢
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 4.€
Comprehensive income (loss) attributed to Cott Corpration $ 108.C

December 27
2008
$ (121.)

(76.7)
(3.5)
(80.29)
$ (201.9
1.7
$  (203.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatetisdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,’or
“our”), is one of the world’s largest non-alcoholieverage companies and the world’s largest retaitnd soft drink provider. In addition to
carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs”"), our product lifredude clear, still and sparkling flavored watersergy-related drinks, juice-based
products, bottled water and ready-to-drink teas.

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have beaped in accordance with United States (“U.Seheagally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) using the U.S. dollar as theoegting currency, as the majority of our businesd the majority of our shareowners are in
the U.S.

For the year ended January 2, 2010, we had 53 wéalctivity compared to 52 weeks for the year ehbBecember 27, 2008. We
estimate the additional week contributed $20.3iomibf additional revenue and $1.3 million of adulil operating income.

We operate in five operating segments—North Amefidaich includes our U.S. reporting unit and Canegfsorting unit), United
Kingdom (“U.K.”) (which includes our United Kingdomeporting unit and our Continental European rapgrtinit), Mexico, Royal Crown
International (“RCI") and All Other (which includesur international corporate expenses and our #egiarting unit, which we closed at the
end of fiscal 2008). We changed our operating segsria the third quarter of 2008 to reflect a chaimgour management structure and how
information is reported to management.

For comparative presentation purposes, the Comadogted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC'9.1810-10-10,
“Consolidation” (“ASC 810-10-10"). ASC 810-10-10tabklishes accounting and reporting standards focotrolling interests in
subsidiaries. This statement requires the repodfrajl noncontrolling interests as a separate ammept of total equity, the reporting of
consolidated net income (loss) as the amount atafide to both the parent and the noncontrollingrasts and the separate disclosure of net
income (loss) attributable to the parent and tonibvecontrolling interests. In addition, this stagnprovides accounting and reporting
guidance related to changes in noncontrolling ogmiprinterests. The presentation and disclosungéinements of ASC 810-10-10 have
resulted in reclassifications to our prior periashsolidated financial information and the remeaseat of our 2008 effective tax rate. We
reported non-controlling interests as a componéataity in our Consolidated Balance Sheets andvb@icome tax expense in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. As non-obinig interests will be recorded below income &xpense, it will have an impact on our
total effective tax rate, but our total taxes widit change.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements consolidate our accowuttsyholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaried @int ventures where we are
exposed to the majority of the expected lossestarms. All intercompany transactions and accohat® been eliminated in consolidation.

During the period ended September 27, 2008, weifdahan error related to the expensing of certafarmation technology software
costs that were previously capitalized and amadtaeer an estimated life and during the period dridecember 27, 2008, we identified
errors relating to foreign exchange gains and bsskating to intercompany debt transactions. Véessed the materiality of these items on
the income for the year ended December 27, 200&khother periods subsequent to those dates,ciordance with the SEC’s Staff
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Accounting Bulletin No. 99 (“SAB 99”), and conclutli¢hat these errors were not material to any seciog@s. In accordance with SECStaft
Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB 108"), the Decesnt27, 2008 consolidated financial statements hdrave been revised to correct the
immaterial errors and to reflect the corrected heda of other expense, currency translation adprstnmtangible assets and selling, general
and administrative expenses as of that date. Threction resulted in a reduction of intangibleeds®f $4.6 million and an increase in sell
general and administrative expenses of $4.6 miliiod net other expense of $1.0 million in the Céidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss as of Dece2®e2007 includes an out-of-period adjustmenttmrd the unfunded liability
of our U.K. Pension Plan. The adjustment of $2.Biani (net of income tax of $0.9 million) was toam ASC No. 715-20, “Compensation—
Defined Benefit Plans—General” (“ASC 715-20"), whiequired that we record the unfunded statuseptnsion plan. We should have
recognized this adjustment to Accumulated Other @r@mensive Loss on December 30, 2006. In addii@mecorded an out-of-period
adjustment in Accumulated Other Comprehensive t@wsscognize a minimum pension liability of $0.91man (net of tax of $0.3 million) fo
our U.K. Pension Plan. Since the U.K. pension gaponsored by our U.K. subsidiary, the recordifithe minimum plan liability required
an out-ofperiod adjustment of $1.0 million to reduce therency translation adjustment recorded in Other Gemmgnsive Income (Loss). V
should have recognized minimum pension liabilifes the corresponding effect of currency trangtaitioprior years. The recording of the
pension plan did not have a material impact ortbesolidated Statement of Income (Loss) and we hawmeluded, through a quantitative
and qualitative analysis, that the adjustmentsdoutnulated Other Comprehensive Loss are not mbter#07 or prior years’ consolidated
financial statements.

Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financidaéstants in conformity with GAAP requires managentenhake estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported iceéhsolidated financial statements and accompanyates. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. The consolidated financial statisneclude estimates and assumptions which, impiirtion of management, were
significant to the underlying amounts representirgfuture valuation of intangible assets, longdiassets and goodwill, accounting for
share-based compensation, realization of defen@shie tax assets and the resolution of tax comicige. We review long-lived assets and
goodwill for impairment whenever events or chanigesrcumstances indicate that the carrying amourag not be recoverable. Determining
whether impairment has occurred requires variotimates and assumptions including estimates of flasls that are directly related to the
potentially impaired asset, the useful life oveiliahhcash flows will occur and their amounts. Theasmgement of an impairment loss requires
an estimate of fair value, which is based on chsh éstimates and the application of an appropdéateount rate.

Accounting Policies
Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue, net of sales returns, whereship passes to customers for products manuéktinrour own plants and/or by
third parties on our behalf, and when prices toaustomers are fixed and collection is reasonafgyiieed. This may be upon shipment of
goods or upon delivery to the customer, dependimgamtractual terms. Shipping and handling cosid Ipathe customer to us are include
revenue. Although we accept returns of productsifoar customers occasionally, such returns, hisatlyi, have not been material.

Sales incentives

We participate in various incentive programs witin oustomers, including volume-based incentivespational allowance incentives
and contractual rebate incentives. Sales incensived®ased on our customers
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achieving volume targets for a period of time. Theg deducted from revenue and accrued as thetinegrare earned and are based on
management’s estimate of the total the customexpgcted to earn and claim. We regularly reviewausr sales forecasts to ensure volume
targets will be met and adjust incentive accruatoedingly.

Cost of sales

We record shipping and handling and finished gandsntory costs in cost of sales. Finished goodsntory costs include the cost of
direct labor and materials and the applicable sbhowerhead expense chargeable to production.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
We record all other expenses not charged to pramuas selling, general and administrative expenses

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation expense for all shard-basgensation awards granted after January 1, 2006sed on the grant-date fair
value. We recognized these compensation costs madfoofeiture rate on a straight-line basis over tequisite service period of the award,
which is generally the vesting term of three ye¥¥s. estimated the forfeiture rate for fiscal 20@8dxd on our historical experience with
forfeitures during the preceding three fiscal yelis estimated forfeitures were included in thegkdtion of share-based compensation for
the 2009, 2008 and 2007 share-based awards.

Additional paid-in capital is adjusted by the taxpact related to the difference between the amdedticted for tax purposes and the
compensation cost for accounting purposes. Wheréathdeduction exceeds book compensation cogtceease in additional paid-in capital
is recorded. Where the tax deduction is less tlwak bompensation cost, a reduction in additiona{racapital is recorded to the extent
there is an accumulated balance or charged to ia¢amexpense if a shortfall remains after the acdated additional paid-in capital is
brought to zero.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligaoicestments with original maturities not exceedimgee months at the time of
purchase. The fair values of our cash and casivalguits approximate the amounts shown on our Clzgetl Balance Sheets due to their
short-term nature.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A portion of our accounts receivable is not expeédtebe collected due to non-payment, bankruptmiessales returns. Our accounting
policy for the provision for doubtful accounts rés us to reserve an amount based on the evaiuattithe aging of accounts receivable,
sales return trend analysis, detailed analysisghf-Hisk customers’ accounts, and the overall miaakel economic conditions of our
customers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, ddtexchon the first-in, first-out method, or net izable value. Returnable bottles and
plastic shells are valued at the lower of costodépsalue or net realizable value. Finished gasis work-in-process include the cost of raw
materials, direct labor and manufacturing overheesis.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation. Depreciation is détearusing the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets |ksie:

Buildings 10 to 50 yeal
Machinery and equipme 7 to 15 yeat
Furniture and fixture 3to 10 yeat
Plates, films and molc 1to 10 yeal
Vending 5to 10 yeat
Transportation equipme 3to 15 yeal

Leasehold improvements are amortized using thagbktrine method over the remaining life of thedeaMaintenance and repairs are
charged to operating expense when incurred.

Gooduwill and indefinite life intangible assets:

January 2, December 27

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
Cost

Balance at beginning of ye $ 96.2 $ 108.:

Foreign exchang 3.6 (12.7)

Balance at end of ye $ 99.€ $ 96.2
Impairment

Balance at beginning of ye $ 69.z $ —

Impairment losses recogniz—Note 2 — 69.2

Balance at end of ye $ 69.2 $ 69.2
Balance at end of yeal $ 30.€ $ 27.C

Goodwill represents the excess purchase pricedpfiearl businesses over the fair value of the ne#tasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested at least annfrallynpairment in the fourth quarter or more freqihe if we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss omized in our results of operations. We evalgatadwill for impairment on a reporting
unit basis. Reporting units are operations for Whiiscrete financial information is available. Tdwaluation of goodwill for each reporting
unit is based upon the following approach. We camplae fair value of a reporting unit to its camyiamount. Where the carrying amount is
greater than the fair value, the implied fair vatdi¢he reporting unit goodwill is determined bjoahting the fair value of the reporting unit
all the assets and liabilities of the reportingt wvith any of the remainder being allocated to geilidThe implied fair value of the reporting
unit goodwill is then compared to the carrying amtoaf that goodwill to determine the impairmentdoAny impairment in value is
recognized in net income (loss).

The only remaining goodwill on our books is for Banada reporting unit and the RCI reporting unit.

We measure the fair value of reporting units usingix of the income approach (which is based ordibeounted cash flow of the
reporting unit) and the public company approaciorRo December 30, 2007, we only used the incoppeaach. We use a combination of
two approaches which provides a more accurate tratubecause it incorporates the actual cash geoeraf the company in addition to how
a third party market participant would value thparing unit. Because the business is assumedntince in perpetuity, the discounted future
cash flow includes a terminal value. We used a hteid) average terminal growth rate of 2% for our&nreporting unit in 2009 and 2008
and 0% for our RCI reporting unit in 2009 and 2008e long-term growth assumptions incorporated th&odiscounted cash flow calculation
reflect our long-term view of the market (includiaglecline in CSD demand), projected changes isdheof our products, pricing of such
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products and operating profit margins. The estichaégenue changes in this analysis for the Cangmlarting unit and RCI reporting unit
range between -0.3% and 10.8% for 2009 and betw&8% and 9.0% for 2008.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimai@s 11% for 2009 and 12% for 2008. This rate &eHaon the weighted average cost
of capital a market participant would use if evéilgthe reporting unit as an investment. The figle rate for 2009 was 4.2% and is based on
a 20-year U.S. Treasury Bill as of the valuatioteda

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evaltieeassumptions used to reflect changes in thedasenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoaté. Based on the evaluation performed this yglizing the assumptions above, we
determined that the fair value of each of our répgrunits exceeded their carrying amount and i@salt further impairment testing was not
required. We analyze the sensitivity these assumgthave on our overall impairment assessment aedtinat as of January 2, 2010 annual
assessment, the fair value for each of these liagarhits were substantially in excess of its dagwalue. We do not believe that goodwill in
our Canada reporting unit nor the RCI reporting biave a high risk of failing impairment testingtlais time.

We determined that as of September 27, 2008, oitetdKingdom reporting unit's goodwill was impairedsed on our estimate of its
fair value. This impairment analysis was triggede@ to cumulative declines in our cash flows inltttmited Kingdom, which was lower than
the forecast used to value this asset in our 2@@airment analysis. This decrease in cash flowpaatly the result of lower than anticipated
volumes and the adverse impact of rising commagliie our raw material costs. Allocating this faatue to the assets and liabilities to the
United Kingdom reporting unit resulted in a $69.@ion goodwill impairment charge.

Due to the ongoing decline in the CSD markets werdened that as of December 29, 2007 our U.S.rtigygpunit's goodwill was
impaired based on our estimate of its fair valuéodating this fair value to the assets and lidiei of the U.S. reporting unit resulted in a
$55.0 million goodwill impairment charge. We alsetermined that the decision to dispose of the Réoled, British Columbia operation
resulted in a $0.8 million impairment of goodwil the Canada reporting unit.

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite lifdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual gy from Royal Crown Company, Inc.
including the right to manufacture our concentratath all related inventions, processes, technielmgechnical and manufacturing
information, know-how and the use of the Royal Qndwand outside of North America and Mexico (thégtRs”) which has a net book val
of $45.0 million. Prior to 2001, we paid a volumesbd royalty to the Royal Crown Company for puret@Esconcentrates. There are no legal,
regulatory, contractual, competitive, economicothrer factors that limit the useful life of thigamgible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be inde&rand therefore not amortized, but instead igtkat least annually for impairment or
more frequently if we determine a triggering eviea$ occurred during the year. For an intangibletasgh an indefinite life, we compare the
carrying amount of the Rights to their fair valuelavhere the carrying amount is greater than thevédue, we recognize in income an
impairment loss. To determine fair value, we useliaf from royalty method which calculates a fe@ue royalty rate which is applied to a
forecast of future volume shipments of concentifade is used to produce CSDs. The forecast of éwofumes is based on the estimated
inter-plant shipments and RCI shipments. The rgyalief method is used since the Rights were pasel in part to avoid making future
royalty payments for concentrate to the Royal Cr@empany. The resulting pro forma cash flows asedalinted using the same assumpt
discussed above for goodwill. As such, no impairtweas calculated as of January 2, 2010. As of Septe 27, 2008, we recorded an asset
impairment related to the Rights of $27.4 millitniggered primarily due to the decline of our No#tinerica case volume (including
reductions in volume with Wal-Mart) and lower aigited overseas concentrate volume by our RCI tipgraegment. We incurred an
additional $8.0 million asset impairment as of Deber 27, 2008 to reflect additional anticipatedwmoé declines in our RCI operating
segment for a total impairment of $35.4 million.

F-13



Table of Contents

Intangibles and other assets

As of January 2, 2010, intangibles and other asgets $110.5 million, which consisted principally§Y4.8 million of customer
relationships that arise from acquisitions anddradrks of $9.5 million. Customer relationshipsamertized on a straight-line basis for the
period over which we expect to receive economielits) which is up to 15 years. We review the eatiad useful life of these intangible
assets annually, taking into consideration theifipamdiscounted net cash flows related to thanigible asset, unless it is required more
frequently due to a triggering event such as tke &if a customer. This analysis requires us to re@jgficant estimates and assumptions in
projecting future cash flows, and changes in faots circumstances could result in material chaimg#ge amount of any impairment losses.
The permanent loss of any customer included inrttaamgible asset would result in impairment in Wadue of the intangible asset or
accelerated amortization and could lead to an impait of fixed assets that were used to servidecifent.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-livedets whenever adverse events or changes in theelsesilimate indicate that the
expected undiscounted future cash flows from tketed category of assets may be less than preyiansicipated. If the net book value of
related category of assets exceeds the undiscofuited cash flows of the category of assets, aeifbelieve a certain asset’s future
utilization is impaired, the carrying amount wolle reduced to the fair value and an impairmentwsssld be recognized. This analysis
requires us to make significant estimates and assons in projecting future cash flows, and changdacts and circumstances could result
in material changes in the amount of any impairniesges.

If the carrying amount of an asset, including agged intangibles, exceeds the sum of estimatedcodnted future cash flows, then
impairment loss is recognized for the differenceveen estimated fair value and carrying amount. W\ilie dispose of assets, the cost and
related accumulated depreciation are removed frenatcounts, and any gains or losses are reflectgokerating expenses.

Foreign currency translation

The assets and liabilities of non-U.S. active ofi@na, all of which are selustaining, are translated to U.S. dollars at Kob&nge rate
in effect at the balance sheet dates. Revenueexqgmhses are translated using average monthly mgetrates prevailing during the period.
The resulting gains or losses are recorded in astated comprehensive income under shareownerstyequi

Taxation

We account for income taxes under the asset abiditfamethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilitees recognized based on the
differences between the accounting values of assetdiabilities and their related tax bases usimgently enacted income tax rates. A
valuation allowance is established to reduce dedeimcome tax assets if, on the basis of availabigence, it is not more likely than not that
all or a portion of any deferred tax assets wiltbalized. We classify interest and income tax fiEsaas income tax expense (benefit).

Effective December 31, 2006, we adopted the pronssielated to uncertain tax positions in ASC Nt),7Income Taxes” (“ASC
740") , which provides specific guidance on the financiatement recognition, measurement, reporting asclaure of uncertain tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeASC 740 addresses the determination of winétixebenefits, either permanent or
temporary, should be recorded in the financiakst&nts. Differences between the amounts recogpiiedto the adoption of the provisions
related to uncertain tax positions in ASC 740 dredamounts reported after adoption are accounteskfa cumulative-effect adjustment
recorded to the beginning balance of retained rgsnand other shareowner equity accounts. As # mfsadopting the provisions related to
uncertain tax positions in ASC 740 as of the begigiof our 2007 fiscal year we recognized a $4.Bioni decrease to retained earnings and
$4.6 million decrease in additional paid-in-capttatecognize the cumulative effect of adoption.
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We account for uncertain tax positions using a step process. The first step is to evaluate th@aakion for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidenceigades that it is more likely than not that theipos will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation proesssf any. The second step requires us to estiarateneasure the tax benefit as the largest
amount that is more than 50% likely to be realiapdn ultimate settlement. It is inherently diffitahd subjective to estimate such amounts,
as we have to determine the probability of varipassible outcomes. We re-evaluate these unceeripdsitions on a quarterly basis. This
evaluation is based on factors including, but imoitéd to, changes in facts or circumstances, chamngtax law, effectively settled issues
under audit, and new audit activity. Such a changecognition or measurement would result in #agognition of a tax benefit or an
additional charge to the tax provision.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts reflected in the consolidét@ldnce sheets for cash, receivables, payabled;tshm borrowings and long-term
debt approximate their respective fair values, pkes otherwise indicated. The carrying valuesestoinated fair values of our significant
outstanding debt as of January 2, 2010 and Dece2H&008 are as follows:

January 2, 2010 December 27, 2008

Par Fair Par Fair
(in_millions of US dollars) Value Value Value Value
8% senior subordinated notes due in 21 $ 111 $ 111 $269.C $164.1
8.375% senior subordinated notes due in 2t 215.C 222.( — —
ABL facility 20.2 20.z 107.t 107.5
Total $246.% $253.° $376.5 $271.€

! The fair values of our 8% and 8.375% senior sulmatgid notes are based on the trading levels ataffgidprices observed by a market

participant.

Pension costs

We record annual amounts relating to defined bepefision plans based on calculations, which irekatious actuarial assumptions
such as discount rates and assumed rates of apanding on the pension plan. Material changegmsion costs may occur in the future
due to changes in these assumptions. Future aamaints could be impacted by changes in the disaatsy changes in the expected long-
term rate of return, changes in the level of ctmtions to the plans and other factors. The fursdatlis is the difference between the fair v
of plan assets and the benefit obligation. Thesidjant to accumulated other comprehensive incoradaition represents the net
unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and unrézadjprior service costs. Future actuarial gainesses that are not recognized as net
periodic benefits cost in the same periods wiltdmognized as a component of other comprehensbegrnia.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements
ASC No. 80—Business Combinations

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&alard (“FASB”) issued ASC No. 805, “Business Camkons.” This statement
significantly changes the financial accounting agbrting of business combination transactions. droeisions of this statement are to be
applied prospectively to business combination &atiens in the first annual reporting period begigron or after December 15, 2008. This
will have an impact on our accounting for any fetbusiness combinations; however, at this timegtlseno impact.

ASC No. 81-10—Derivatives and Hedging Disclosure

In March 2008, the FASB issued ASC No. 815-10, fizsives and Hedging” (“ASC 815-10"). ASC 815-1@inases the disclosure
requirements for derivative instruments and hedgictities to improve the
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transparency of financial reporting. Entities a¥gquired to provide enhanced disclosures aboutoi&)dnd why an entity uses derivative
instruments, (b) how an entity accounts for deisainstruments and related hedged items, anddi)derivative instruments and related
hedged items affect an entity’s financial posititnancial performance, and cash flows. The provisiof this statement are to be applied
prospectively in the first annual reporting perfmefjinning on or after November 15, 2008 with corapiae disclosures for earlier periods at
initial adoption being optional. We have no matec@ntracts for which ASC 815-10 applies.

ASC No. 35-30-55-1C—Useful Life Intangibles

In April 2008, the FASB issued ASC No. 350-30-55;1i@tangibles—Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350-30-3%2"). ASC 350-30-55-
1C amends the factors to be considered in devejapinewal or extension assumptions used to detertheuseful life of intangible assets
under ASC No. 350-30, “Intangibles—Goodwill and &th Its intent is to improve the consistency bedwéhe useful life of an intangible
asset and the period of expected cash flows usegtésure its fair value. This ASC was effectivedsras of March 28, 2009. We have
evaluated the impact of ASC 350-30-55-1C on ousobdated financial statements and it did not heweaterial impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

ASC No. 71-20-50—Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Blatlosure

In December 2008, the FASB issued ASC No. 715-20‘G0mpensation—Retirement Benefits” (*“ASC 715-209% ASC 715-20-50
requires enhanced disclosures about our plan gssébe defined benefit pension and other poseetent plans. The enhanced disclosures
required by this ASC are intended to provide uséfimancial statements with a greater understanadiin (1) how investment allocation
decisions are made, including the factors thaparénent to an understanding of investment pdicied strategies; (2) the major categorie
plan assets; (3) the inputs and valuation techsigised to measure the fair value of plan asseétthé4effect of fair value measurements u
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) on chanigeplan assets for the period; and (5) significamcentrations of risk within plan assets.
This ASC became effective for us for our fiscalyeaded January 2, 2010 and resulted in certagladisres reflected in Note 15.

ASC No. 82-10—Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure

Effective for our 2009 fiscal year, we adopted AS& 820-10, “Fair Value Measurements and DisclosUfASC 820-10"), as it
relates to nonfinancial assets and nonfinancibllitees that are not recognized or disclosed atJalue in the financial statements on at least
an annual basis. ASC 82 defines fair value, establishes a frameworkifeasuring fair value in U.S. GAAP, and expandsldsaes abot
fair value measurements. The provisions of thisddiad apply to other accounting pronouncementsréuatire or permit fair value
measurements and are to be applied prospectivéyliwiited exceptions. The adoption of ASC 820-d49jt relates to nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities had no impact on the fi#al statements. The provisions of ASC 820-10 héllapplied at such time a fair value
measurement of a nonfinancial asset or nonfinatiataility is required, which may result in a faialue that is materially different than would
have been calculated prior to the adoption of A2G-80.

ASU No. 200-05—Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate (“ASU”) No. 2009-05, “Measuring Liabiliset Fair Value” (“ASU
2009-05"), which amends ASC 820-10. ASU 2009-05/jates clarification in circumstances when a qugdgde in an active market for an
identical liability is not available. ASU 2009-0%a clarifies that when estimating the fair valdediability, a reporting entity is not required
to include a separate input or adjustment to atiparts relating to the existence of a restrictioat orevents the transfer of the liability.
Additionally, ASU 2009-05 clarifies that both a ded price in an active market for an identicaliilidpat the measurement date and the
quoted price for an identical liability when tradeslan asset in an active market when no adjussnettie quoted price of the asset are
required are Level 1 fair value measurements. We baaluated the potential impact of ASU 2009-08 @éetermined that it did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial steats.
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ASC No. 85-10—Subsequent Events

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC No. 855-10, “Sgjosait Events” ("ASC 855-10"), which sets forth galestandards of accounting
for and disclosure of events that occur after thlafice sheet date but before financial statemeatssued or are available to be issued. ASC
855-10 became effective in the second quarter 09 20d did not have a material impact on our cadatdd financial statements.
Additionally, in February 2010, the FASB issued AND. 2010-09, “Amendments to Certain Recognitiod Bxisclosure
Requirements” (*“ASU 2010-09"), which became effeetupon issuance and amended the guidance on sigipéexyents to remove the
requirement for SEC filers to disclose the dateulgh which an entity has evaluated subsequent @WAf@ have evaluated certain events and
transactions occurring after January 2, 2010 amdjstlosed in Note 19, we had one event that neeti¢finition of a subsequent event for
period ended January 2, 2010.

Variable Interest Entity (formerly SFAS No. 167)

In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement of FinbAcieounting Standard No. 167, “Amendments to FAS&rpretation No. 46
(R)" (“SFAS 167"), which amends FASB InterpretatiNn. 46 (revised December 2003), to address tharetion of the concept of a
qualifying special purpose entity. SFAS 167 algdaees the quantitatiieased risks and rewards calculation for determimihigh enterpris
has a controlling financial interest in a variaipierest entity with an approach focused on idgimgf which enterprise has the power to direct
the activities of a variable interest entity and dbligation to absorb losses of the entity orrigbt to receive benefits from the entity.
Additionally, SFAS 167 provides more timely andfusénformation about an enterprise’s involvemerithwa variable interest entity. SFAS
167 will become effective in the first quarter @1®. We have evaluated this standard and do nigvieethis standard will have an impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards Codificatic

During 2009, we adopted the FASB Accounting Statslatpdate No. 2009-01, “Amendments based on Stateofiéinancial
Accounting Standards No. 168—The FASB Accountirgn8ards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generatigepted Accounting
Principles” (the “Codification”).The Codification became the single source of aitditore GAAP in the U.S., other than rules andriptetive
releases issued by the United States SecuritieEarttange Commission (“SEC”). The Codification ganrized GAAP into a topical format
that eliminates the previous GAAP hierarchy andeiad established two levels of guidance—authovigadind nonauthoritative. All non-
grandfathered, non-SEC accounting literature that mot included in the Codification became nonaittitove. The adoption of the
Codification did not change previous GAAP, but extiimplified user access to all authoritativeritare related to a particular accounting
topic in one place. Accordingly, the adoption hadmpact on our consolidated financial positionmesults of operations. All prior references
to previous GAAP in our consolidated financial etaents were updated for the new references undeZddification.

Note 2—Restructuring, Goodwill and Asset Impairmens
The following table summarizes restructuring, goiidand asset impairments:

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Restructuring $ 1t $ 6.7 $ 24.:
Goodwill impairments — 69.2 55.¢
Asset impairment 3.€ 37.C 10.7

$ 5.1 $ 112« $ 90.€
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During the last three years we have undertaker ttegtructuring plans. In 2007, we implementedfiosir plan, which involved the
realignment of the management of our Canadian aBd uisinesses to a North American basis, ratipstadin of our product offerings,
elimination of underperforming assets, an incredseds on high potential accounts, and the clostiseveral plants and warehouses in N
America that resulted in lease contract terminalii@ses (the “North American Plan”). In 2008, welemented a plan to refocus on retailer
brands and reduce costs in the operation of ounéss (the “Refocus Plan”). The Refocus Plan has lsempleted and resulted in a partial
reduction of our workforce in 2008. We also undekta plan to improve efficiencies and reduce cfistéiscal year 2009 (the “2009
Restructuring Plan”). The 2009 Restructuring Plaodmplete and also resulted in a partial reduafayur workforce. We will continue to
pay cash for lease termination costs under thelNamerican Plan through February 2010, which haaenbaccounted for as restructuring

accruals. We do not anticipate incurring any adddi charges related to the North American PlamRbfocus Plan or the 2009 Restructuring

Plan.

The following table is a summary of our cash redtiting charges through the year ended Januar§1):2

North American Plan:

Balance at Balance at
December 2¢ Charge to Cost: Payments mad December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2007 and Expenses during the year 2008
Severance and termination bene $ 21 $ — $ (2.3 $ —
Lease contract termination lc 12.1 0.3 (2.9 9.€
$ 14z $ 0.2 $ (4.9 $ 9.6
Balance at
December 27 Charge to Cost: Payments mad Balance at
January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2008 and Expenses during the year 2010
Lease contract termination lg 9.€ — (3.9 5.8
$ 9.€ $ — $ 3.6) $ 5.8
Refocus Plan:
Balance at Balance at
December 2¢ Charge to Cost: Payments mad December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2007 and Expenses during the year 2008
Severance and termination bene $ — $ 6.4 $ 6.4) $ —
$ — $ 6.4 $ (6.9 $ —
2009 Restructuring:
Balance a
Balance at
December 27 Charge to Cost: Payments mad January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2008 and Expenses during the year 2010
Severance and termination bene $ — $ 1t $ (1.9 $ —
$ — $ 1.5 $ (1.5 $ —

As of January 2, 2010, $3.0 million (December 2Q&— $5.8 million) of the lease contract termioatioss liability has been recorded
as other long-term liabilities and $2.8 millionle&se contract termination loss liability (Decem®@y 2008—38.8 million) has been classifit
as accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Weeiaturred $0.3 million of additional terminatioerefits in 2008 related to our Wyomissing
property, which was closed in 2007.
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In 2008, we recorded pre-tax restructuring chatgesding $6.4 million in connection with severarumsts relating to headcount
reductions associated with the Refocus Plan.

Year ended January 2, 2010
The following table sets out our restructuring asdet impairments on a segmented basis for theepelad January 2, 2010.

North

(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Total
Restructuring $ 1E $1.5
Asset impairment 3.€ _3.€

$ 5.1 $5.1

Restructuring—In 2009, we recorded pre-tax restructuring chatgiging $1.5 million in connection with severarmmsts relating to
headcount reductions associated with the 2009 &Rdsting Plan.

Asset impairments-In 2009, we recorded an asset impairment char@a.6f million related primarily to customer relatghips. In
accordance with ASC 360, it was determined thatcostomer relationship intangible asset no longekfature cash flows due to the loss
specific customer. As a result, the customer i@tatiip was determined to have a nil carrying value.

Year ended December 27, 2008

The following table sets out our restructuring, dedl and asset impairments on a segmented basthdéoyear ended December 27,
2008.

North

(in millions of U.S. dollars) America U.K. Total

Restructuring $ 6.7 $— $ 6.7
Goodwill impairments — 69.2 69.2
Asset impairment 37.C — 37.C

$ 43.7 $69.2 $112.¢

Restructuring—On June 19, 2008, we announced the Refocus PI&0A8, we recorded pre-tax restructuring chargieding $6.4
million in connection with severance costs relatindieadcount reductions associated with the Refétan.

Asset impairments-In 2008, we recorded an asset impairment chalgeerkto the Rights of $35.4 million and recordegRa6 million

asset impairment charge for our Elizabethtown ifgciWe also recovered $1.0 million of previoustygaired held-for-sale assets (hot filled
production assets) in 2008.

Goodwill impairments—We recorded a goodwill impairment loss of $69.Hian associated with our United Kingdom reportimgt as
disclosed in Note 1.
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Year ended December 29, 2007

The following table sets out our restructuring, dedl and asset impairments on a segmented basthdéoyear ended December 29,
2007.

North

(in millions of U.S. dollars) America U.K. RCI Total
Restructuring $ 25.4 $(1.2) $0.1 $24.3
Gooduwill impairments 55.¢ — — 55.¢
Asset impairment 10.7 — — 10.7

$91c¢ $(1.29) $0.1 $90.€

Restructuring—We recorded restructuring charges of $24.3 milflmmseverance, contract and lease terminatiorscesdted to the
North American Plar

Asset impairments-We recorded an impairment loss of $10.7 milliohjel was comprised of $0.9 million for certain sadte assets,
$2.6 million for property, plant and equipment tethto the disposal of the Revelstoke facility &2 million for certain equipment at a co-
packer.

Goodwill impairments—We recorded an impairment loss of $55.8 milliohjal was comprised of $0.8 million for the disposkihe
Revelstoke facility and $55.0 million for the Ur8porting unit as disclosed in Note 1.

Note 3—Other Expense (Income), Net

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Foreign exchange loss (ga $ 1.1 $ 1.C $ (4.9
Gain on purchase of 8% senior subordinated r — — (0.9
Insurance reimburseme — (4.5) —
Debt extinguishment cos 3.2 — —
Other (gain) los: — (1.2 0.1
Total $ 44 $ (4.7 $ 4.7)

Note 4—Interest Expense, Net

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Interest on lon-term debi $ 23.¢ $ 22.¢ $ 23.€
Other interest expen: 6.2 10.C 9.€
Interest incom 0.7) (0.6) (0.9
Total $ 29.7 $ 32.Z $ 32.¢

Interest paid for the year ended January 2, 20K)aparoximately $23.8 million ($31.1 million — Deaeer 27, 2008; $33.3 million—
December 29, 2007).
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Note 5—Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes consisted ofdt@wing:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Canade
QOutside Canad

Income (loss) before income taxe

Income tax (benefit) expense consisted of the folg:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Current

Canade

Outside Canad

Deferred
Canads
Outside Canad

Income tax benefit

For the Year Ended

January 2,

2010
0.8
62.5

»

N 4

©“
(o)}
w
ra

December 27

2008
$ 1.¢
(142.5)
$  (140.6

For the Year Ended

December 2¢

2007
$ 10.¢

(92.9)
$ (826

January 2,

2010

$ (20.2)

(8.9
29.

F
S

“
N w
0 (D

©“
o
Ny

&+
N
N
a3

December 27

2008

$ 0.4

(8.9
$ (84

$ —
(11.9)

$ (119

$  (19.9

December 2¢€

2007

$ (7.0
(3.6)
$ (109

$ I
(3.9

$ (3.2

$ (139

Net income tax (including interest) paid was $1rhilion for the year ended January 2, 2010 (nebime tax refund—December 27,

2008 — $9.6 million; December 29, 2007—$0.2 miljion

The following table reconciles income taxes calmdaat the basic Canadian corporate rates witintteene tax provision:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Income tax expense (benefit) based on Canadianatatrates
Foreign tax rate differentii

Inter-company debt structur:

(Decrease) increase in valuation allowa

Decrease to ASC 740 resel

Non-deductible goodwill impairmer

Other items

Income tax benef

For the Year Ended

January 2,

2010
$ 10¢
2.7
2.9)
(22.7)
(17.9)

(2.9
$ (22.9
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__ 2008
$ (449
(4.5)

(3.9)

24.

(12.9)

21.7

(0.1)

$  (19.9

December 2¢

2007

$ (289
(4.9)

(3.7)

21.2

0.9

6.C

(3.9)

$  (13.9
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities weregaized on temporary differences between the filsand tax bases of existing ass
and liabilities as follows:

January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
Deferred tax assets
Loss carryforward $ 101 $ 41.C
Leases 8.6 11.¢
Property, plant and equipme 7.4 —
Liabilities and reserve 9.t 7.2
Intangibles 9.5 11.t
Stock Options 7.1 7.1
Other — 2.4
52.2 80.¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme (37.9) (36.9)
Intangible asset (5.9 (4.9
Other (1.7 —
(43.9 (40.¢)
Valuation allowanct (17.9 (42.9)
Net deferred tax liability $ (9.9 $ (2.9
The deferred tax assets and liabilities have b&ssified as follows on the consolidated balan@e=sh
January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
Deferred tax assets
Current $ 3.2 $ 3.C
Long-term 5.4 10.2
Deferred tax liabilities:
Current $ (0.9 $ —
Long-term (17.5 (16.0
Net deferred tax liability $ (9.9 $ (2.9

As of January 2, 2010, we have claimed the indefirdversal exceptions of ASC 740.

As of January 2, 2010, the company reflected operddss carryforwards totaling $109.0 million. $toarryforward amount was
attributable to a Mexico net operating loss camyfard of $10.1 million that will expire in 2018 a2619 and U.S. state net operating loss
carryforwards of $98.9 million that will expire fm0o2011 to 2027.

The Company establishes a valuation allowancedooe deferred tax assets if, based on the weighiecdvailable evidence, both
positive and negative, for each respective tasgliction, it is more likely than not that some jmrtor all of the deferred tax assets will not
realized. Due to cumulative losses generated ientegears in the U.S. and Mexico, the Company kéerohined that it is more likely than r
that the benefit from net operating loss carryfaxdsaand other net deferred tax assets in thesaljations will not be realized in the future.
recognition of this risk, we have provided a vailbmatallowance of $17.6 million on the net defertad assets relating to our net deferred tax
assets in these jurisdictions. If our assumptidiange and we determine we will be able to reahiezsé deferred tax assets, an income tax
benefit of $17.0 million will be realized as a ritsf the reversal of the valuation allowance atuly 2, 2010.
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In 2006, the FASB issued guidance regarding promsbf uncertain tax positions in ASC 740hich provides specific guidance on the
financial statement recognition, measurement, tampand disclosure of uncertain tax positions taéeexpected to be taken in a tax return.
ASC 740 addresses the determination of whethdodafits, either permanent or temporary, shoulteberded in the financial statements.
We adopted the provisions of uncertain tax pos#ionASC 740 as of the beginning of our 2007 fisesr and, as a result, recognized a
$4.2 million decrease to retained earnings and $dllibn decrease in additional paid-in-capitali®07 to recognize the cumulative effect of
adoption.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoaindur unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of y $ 38.7 $ 62.¢ $ 63.¢
Additions based on tax positions taken during argéeriod 2.2 0.8 5.2
Reductions based on tax positions taken duringca period (29.9) (9.5 (13.9
Settlement on tax positions taken during a prigiogk (0.9 (7.4 —
Lapse in statue of limitatior — — (3.7)
Additions based on tax positions taken during tieent perioc 1.7 0.7 2.3
Foreign exchang 2.4 (8.9 8.€
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of yec $ 145 $ 38.7 $ 62.¢

As of January 2, 2010, the Company had $14.7 millibunrecognized tax benefits, a net decreas@40&million from $38.7 million
as of December 27, 2008. If the Company recogritsedx positions, approximately $4.8 million wodélorably impact the effective tax
rate. The Company believes it is reasonably pasditait its unrecognized tax benefits will decrearsee recognized in the next twelve mor
by up to $1.0 million due to expiration of statutédimitations in various tax jurisdictions.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiesretatunrecognized tax benefits in the provisiarifiocome taxes. The Company
recovered $2.1 million, $5.5 million and $4.4 nuhi of interest and penalties as of January 2, 2D&6ember 27, 2008 and December 29,
2007, respectively. The amount of interest and fpesaecognized as an asset in the consolidatiechta sheets for 2009 and 2008 was $3.6
million and $1.0 million, respectively.

We are currently under audit in the U.S. by thedmal Revenue Service for tax years 2006 and 20€&ts prior to 2006 are closed to
audit by the Internal Revenue Service. Years gd@®005 are closed to audit by U.S. state jurigalist We are also currently under audit in
Canada by the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) folyeats 2005 through 2008. Years prior to 1997 ksed to audit by the CRA. In the
U.K., years prior to 2004 are closed to audit.

Note 6—Share-based Compensation

As of January 2, 2010, we had six share-based aosagtien plans, which are described below. The shased compensation plans h
been approved by our shareholders, except for @8 Common Share Option Plan, as amended (thed®ptian”),which was adopted pri
to our initial public offering, and our Chief Exdite Officer (“*CEO") awards, which were inducememants made in connection with
attracting and retaining that executive. Subseqasm@ndments that required shareowner approval seeapproved.
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The table below summarizes the stock compensatiparse recorded in selling, general and adminiggraixpenses.

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Stock options $ 0.1 $ 0.8 $ 38
Performance share un 0.8 2.2 (1.2
Share appreciation righ 0.4 0.5 0.7
Restricted Stoc 0.1 — —
Interim CEO awar (0.2) 0.8 —
Former CEO awar — 1.8 1.2
EISP awarc — 0.1 0.2
Total $ 1.3 $ 6.3 $ 4.2

As of January 2, 2010, the unrecognized compensatipense and years expected to recognize comanseapense were as follows:

Unrecognizec Years expecte
compensatior to recognize
compensation
(in millions of U.S. dollars except years) expense expense
Stock options $ — 0.1
Performance share un 0.3 1.C
Share appreciation righ 0.2 1.€
EISP awarc 0.1 1.C
Total $ 0.€

The fair value of each option and share appreciatghts grant is estimated on the date of graimtguhe Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The assumptions are based on three faciskdree interest rate, expected term and expeséatility. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the implied yield available on zero coupomernment of Canada bonds with an equivalentirgngaterm. The expected term of
options represents the estimated period of timi exércise and is based on historical experiericgnoilar awards, giving consideration to
the contractual terms, vesting schedules and expecs of future employee behavior. The expectecksprice volatility is based on a
combination of historical volatility of our stockd the implied volatility of our traded options.

Option Plan

Under the 1986 Common Share Option Plan, as amgtiedOption Plan”), we have reserved a total 4001million common shares
for future issuance. Options are granted at a pritdess than the fair value of the shares ord#te of grant. As of January 2, 2010, there
were 7.4 million shares available for issuance utigke Option Plan.

In 2009, we awarded options representing 250,08€eshat an exercise price of C$1.10 that vestatblsaover four quarters. There w
no common shares issued pursuant to option exsrdiging 2008. However, in the second and thirdtguaf 2008, we granted options to
purchase an aggregate of 125,000 shares to new heanbers who joined the board in 2008.

Options granted after September 1, 1998 expire afyears. Options granted after July 17, 200h¢orton-management members of the
Board of Directors vest immediately. All optiongaron-transferable and when options are exercisedsue new shares. As a result, shares
issued upon the exercise of these options arewdiltd our shareowners.
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The fair value of each option granted during tharye estimated on the date of grant using thekB&aholes option pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions:

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
2010 2008 2007
Risk-free interest rat 2.2% 3.2% 4.7%
Average expected life (yeat 5.5 5.C 3.C
Expected volatility 50.(% 76.2% 37.4%

Expected dividend yiel — — —

Options representing 250,000 shares were issuaadgdine year ended January 2, 2010 at an exerose @ C$1.10 and vested ratably
over four quarters. The fair value of this optioarg was estimated at C$0.475 using the Black-®shaptions pricing model. Options
representing 125,000 shares were issued duringetiireended December 27, 2008 at exercise pricgi@afrom C$2.60 to C$3.50 per share.
The fair value of each 2008 option grant was eggoh#o be between C$1.50 and C$1.65 using the Blatloles option pricing model. These
grants were fully vested at the time of the gramtt therefore the entire amount was recorded agdi@sed compensation during the second
and third quarters of 2008. Options representing@Dshares were issued during the year ended ere2f, 2007 at an exercise price of
C$18.48 per share. The fair value of each optiamtgwas estimated to be C$5.70 using the Black{8staption pricing model. Because
these options were issued to directors, these greerte fully vested at the time of the grant aretdfore the entire amount was recorded as
share-based compensation during the second qua2807. There were no options granted during tsr ynded December 30, 2006.

Option activity was as follows:

Weighted
Weighted averagi average remaining Aggregate
intrinsic
Shares exercise contratual term value (C$)
(in thousands’ price (C$) (years) (in thousands’
Balance at December 30, 2006 2,69¢ $ 29.6¢ 3.6 $ 746.(
Granted 50 18.4¢
Exercisec (53 9.87
Forfeited or expirel (329 28.4¢
Balance at December 29, 2007 2,36¢ $ 30.0¢ 2.7 $ —
Granted 12& 3.32
Forfeited or expirel (1,607 16.7¢
Balance at December 27, 20C 892 $ 27.52 3.0 $ —
Granted 25C 1.1C
Exercisec (25) 2.6(
Forfeited or expirel (28¢€) 31.6¢
Balance at January 2, 201! 831 $ 18.97 4.6 $ 618.]
Vested and expected to vest at January 2, 20 824 $ 20.42 4.6 $ 618.]
Exercisable at January 2, 201( 76¢€ $ 20.42 4.5 $ 618.]

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the tablteve represent the difference between the clgsiag of our common stock on
January 2, 2010, which was C$8.66 (December 278 200$1.27; December 29, 2007 — C$6.58), and thecise price, multiplied by the
number of in-the-money stock options as of the sdate. The total intrinsic value of stock optiomereised during the year ended January 2,
2010 was $0.I million (December 27, 2008 — nil; Baber 29, 2007 — $0.4 million).

Total compensation cost related to unvested awardsr the option plan not yet recognized is undet #illion. The total fair value of
shares that vested during the year ended JanuafiR,was $1.4 million.
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Outstanding options at January 2, 2010 were agvist

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Remaining Weighted Weighted
Number Contractual Number

Exercisable Exercise Exercisable Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices (C$) (in thousands Life (Years) Price (C$) (in thousands Price (C$
$1.10- $3.50 35C 8.1 $ 1.7¢ 287 $ 1.9¢
$18.48- $29.95 23¢ 2.8 $ 26.8 23¢ $ 26.8i
$30.25- $43.64 2428 1.1 $ 35.9¢ 245 $ 35.9¢
831 4.€ $ 18.97 76€ $ 20.4:

Long-Term Incentive Plans

During the second quarter of 2006, our shareowaygpsoved and adopted two long-term incentive plénesPerformance Share Unit
Plan (“PSU Plan”) and the Share Appreciation Rightn (“SAR Plan”). The PSU Plan and SAR Plan veenended and restated in the
second quarter of 2007.

Amended and Restated PSU Plan

Under the Amended and Restated PSU Plan, perfoergrare units (“PSUs”) may be awarded to emplogéesr Company and its
subsidiaries. The value of an employeaward under our PSU Plan will depend on (i) arfggmance over a performance cycle of up to t
years; and (ii) the market price of our common ebat the time of vesting. Performance targetsheilestablished annually by the Hun
Resources and Compensation Committee of the Bddbdtectors. PSUs granted will vest over a termtooéxceed three fiscal years. The
PSU Plan allows for early funding by us under t&&JAPlan and also permits our Board of Directoradcelerate the vesting of all or a port
of the unvested PSUs of all of or any of the pgséints under the PSU Plan on a Change of Contsadi{ah term is defined in the PSU Plan)
irrespective of whether termination of employmeas loccurred. As of January 2, 2010, the trusteeruhe PSU Plan held 1.0 million
common shares to satisfy our anticipated fututalitg under the PSU Plan.

Amended and Restated SAR Plan

Under the Amended and Restated SAR Plan, share@aton rights (“SARs”) may be awarded to emplsyand directors of our
Company and its subsidiaries. SARs typically vesth® third anniversary of the grant date. On ngsteach SAR will represent the right to
be paid the difference, if any, between the priceus common shares on the date of grant and phigie on the vesting date of the SAR.
Payments in respect of vested in-the-money SAR%@imade in the form of our common shares purehasghe open market by an
independent trust with cash contributed by usutfghare price on the date of vesting is lower thrathe date of grant, no payment will be
made in respect of those vested SARs. Prior tanggghere are no dividends paid on the SARs, aidens do not have the right to vote the
common shares represented by their SARs. The SARd&lows for early funding by us and also permits Board of Directors to accelerate
vesting of some or all of the SARs of all of or afythe participants under the SAR Plan as detexthby the Board of Directors or the
Human Resources and Compensation Committee inlgsdsscretion, irrespective of whether terminatisra Change of Control (as such
term is defined in the SAR Plan) has occurred.

We recognize the compensation cost of the PSUSARS based on the fair value of the grant. We meizegthese compensation costs
net of a forfeiture rate on a straight-line basierahe requisite service period of the award, Wldécgenerally the vesting term. Compensation
cost of the PSUs may vary depending on managemestifaates of the probability of the performancesuees being achieved and the
number of PSUs expected to vest.
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During 2009 and 2008, the PSU and SAR activity asfollows:

Number of Number of

(In thousands) PSUs SARs
Balance at December 29, 2C 86C 622

Awarded 1,612 —
Forfeited (980 (137)
Balance at December 27, 2C 1,49 491
Awarded 48 10C

Issuec (560 —
Forfeited (359 337
Balance at January 2, 20 625 254

PSUs
The following table summarizes the number of PSWarded during 2009 and their value if the targetdan the PSU Plan are met:

Number of
PSUs to be Remaining Total Value of
expensed if Total Value of award if
performance target award if performance targets
targets are value per performance
met PSU (C$) targets are met are met
(in thousands’ (in millions of C$) (in millions of U.S.$,
Awarded:
February 28, 200! 21 $ 2.5: $ 0.1 $ 0.1
July 16, 200¢ 27 6.8: 0.2 0.2
Total 48 $ 0.3 $ 0.3

! On March 23, 2009, we adjusted an outstanding ateakdt. Fowden to conform to the terms of his offetter. The amount of the

adjustment is reflected in the tak

The number of PSUs awarded and target values pgmefd above are based on an assumption thaesiormance targets will be
achieved. The number of units and target valuesragnfrom 0 to 150% depending on the level of perfance achieved relative to the
performance target. The target values per PSU notdc table above were determined based on tisng market price of our common
shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) onldisetrading day prior to the award date.

Subject to the terms of the PSU Plan, the vestatg tbr the PSUs awarded in fiscal 2007 was Dece2®e2009. We did not meet the
targets for the PSUs awarded in fiscal 2007 or 20ibas such those awards were forfeited as ohdpa@y2010 and December 27, 2008,
respectively.

During 2008, we awarded a fixed dollar amount aR$illion of PSUs (representing 1.5 million sharescertain executives as a
retention incentive. We met certain performancgetsr as of December 27, 2008 and as a resultndillidn of these awards vested as of
December 27, 2008. Furthermore, an additional 8iliion of these awards vested as of January 2028 additional $0.5 million of these
awards were issued in 2009 as a result of emplsgeerance agreements. The remainder of the awsadged in 2008 have been forfeited
due to terminations. These PSUs settle in sha&ave been accounted for as an equity award. ¥deaavarded $0.3 million of individual
sign-on PSU awards in 2009 and $0.4 million ofwdlial sign-on PSU awards in 2008 that will vestéftain performance targets are met.
We recognized $0.8 million and $2.2 million of coengation costs associated with these PSU awar@9@® and 2008, respectively.
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SARs

In the third quarter of 2009, we awarded to an eygt 100,000 SARs having a fair value of $0.2 omllvhich will vest ratably on an
annual basis over 3 years. No SARs grants weredmaidan 2008. During the first quarter of 2007, weaeded to our employees 217,836
SARs having a fair value of $1.0 million which wist on February 19, 2010.

The fair value of the SARs grant is estimated endate of grant using the Black-Scholes optionipgienodel with the following
assumptions:

February 19,
September 8, 2009 2007
Risk-free interest rat 1.0%- 1.5% 5.05%
Average expected life (year 2.0 4.0
Expected volatility 50.0%- 101.0% 33.9%

Expected dividend yiel — —

Other Share-Based Compensation

In 2006, Brent Willis, our former Chief Executivefl@er, received a net cash award of $0.9 milliothe& commencement of his
employment to purchase shares of the Company. titehased shares were required to be held for ammaimi of three years. Mr. Willis’s
employment terminated in March 2008, and as pahiofermination agreement, we ceased to enfoceettuirement that he hold the shares.
In 2008, $0.4 million (December 29, 2007 — $0.3ioml) was recorded as compensation expense. Itiaddin 2006, 204,000 common
shares with a fair value of $3.2 million, which veser three years, were granted to Mr. Willis. 608, compensation costs of $1.4 million
were expensed as compensation expense becau$mathe gested upon termination. On May 16, 2007 tline of his grant vested and, as a
result, he received 68,000 common shares, whichrea@gynized as an issuance of share capital. Aophrs termination agreement, the
remaining 136,000 shares were vested upon hisrnation and $0.3 million of cash (which was recliésgias a liability award) was paid
based on the fair value of such shares.

In connection with his appointment, we granted &vid Gibbons, our former Interim Chief Executivefi©dr, 720,000 restricted stock
units on March 24, 2008, of which 360,000 unitstedsmmediately. Of the remaining 360,000 restdcttock units, 300,000 vested ratably
on a monthly basis over a five-month period begigrDctober 24, 2008 through February 27, 2009.Q®ilsbons resigned as Interim Chief
Executive Officer and his employment arrangemeatsecto an end on February 27, 2009, at which tifp@06prorated restricted stock units
vested and the remaining 54,000 restricted stodk wrere forfeited. This award is recognized as jgensation expense over the vesting
period. For 2008, $0.8 million of this award wasaeled as compensation expense to reflect the wéline 540,000 vested restricted stock
units and the anticipated vesting of the 120,008aiaing shares as of December 27, 2008. The faievand compensation costs vary based
on share price and this has been accounted foliasildy award.

Restated Executive Incentive Share Purchase Plan

In the second quarter of 2007, our shareownersoapgra restated executive incentive share purghlasgthe “EISP Plan”), which
allows officers and senior management executivedgaignated by the Human Resources and Compen§atiomittee, to elect to receive
their performance bonus (or a portion thereof)aamon share units held on their behalf by an inddpst trust. If the employee elects to
receive common share units, we will provide toe¢hgployee an equal number of shares, which vestéetyears provided certain corporate
performance goals are achieved (“Match Portion”).

The Match Portion of the performance bonus is exttich based on the employee’s election and willrberized over the service period
of approximately four years. During 2007, employelested to defer a total of $1.1 million under EI8P Plan. The Company recorded an
expense of $0.1 million for the year ended
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January 2, 2010 related to the anticipated 200 ¢Hmireg portion of the performance bonus. No amoastlieen accrued for the Match Portion
for 2008 deferrals because corporate performanaks geere not achieved and no bonus amounts weeerddfinto the plan. Effective as of
December 27, 2008, Human Resources and the Contjgen€ammittee approved an amendment to the ResE®P Plan with the effect of
freezing participation in the plan.

Average Canadian—U.S. Dollar Exchange Rates for 2002008 and 2007

Various compensation components in Note 6 areaied in Canadian dollars. The table below repregbrtaverage Canadian dolla
U.S. dollar exchange rate for the fiscal years drizfi09, 2008 and 2007 for comparative purposes:

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
2010 2008 2007
Average exchange ra $ 0.87¢ $  0.94¢ $ 0.93¢

Note 7—Net Income (loss) per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is cordpagadividing net income (loss) by the weightedrage number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incomess) per common share is calculated using thehigigaverage number of common shares
outstanding adjusted to include the effect, if e, that would occur if in-the-money stock opsonere exercised.

The following table reconciles the basic weightedrage number of shares outstanding to the dilwEdhted average number of she
outstanding:

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(In thousands) 2010 2008 2007
Weighted average number of shares outsta—basic 74,207 71,017 71,83
Dilutive effect of stock option 267 — —
Dilutive effect of PSU: 741 — —
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outistg—diluted 75,21t 71,017 71,83:

At January 2, 2010, options to purchase 830,65@¢BPwer 27, 2008 — 891,740; December 29, 2007 -82,38) shares of common
stock at a weighted average exercise price of @F1®ecember 27, 2008 — C$27.52; December 29, 200830.03) per share were
outstanding, of which 439,441 were not includethim computation of diluted net income per shar@abse the options’ exercise price was
greater than the average market price of our conmstaok.

Note 8—Segment Reporting

We produce, package and distribute retailer bramdosanded bottled and canned soft drinks, wajtigiree-based products, energy-
related drinks and ready-to-drink teas to regi@mal national grocery, mass-merchandise and whelesalns through five reportable
segments—North America (which includes our U.Sortipg unit and Canada reporting unit), U.K. (whinbludes our United Kingdom
reporting unit and our Continental European repgrtinit), Mexico, RCI and All Other (which includesr international corporate expenses
and our Asia reporting unit, which we closed atehd of fiscal 2008). We closed our active Asiarrations at the end of 2008. We changed
the operating segments in the third quarter of 200@8flect a change in our management structudeham information is reported to the ct
operating decision maker.
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Operating Segments

For the Year Ended
January 2, 2010

North United All
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenu? $1,173.¢ $359.2 $42.7 $20.6 $—  $1,596.
Depreciation and amortizatic 51.C 13.4 1.8 — — 66.2
Restructuring and asset impairme
Restructuring 1kt — — — — 1.t
Asset impairment 3.6 — — — — 3.6
Operating income (lost 77.€ 23.C (7.2 3¢ — 97.4
Property, plant and equipme 236.k 93.C 13.t — — 343.(
Goodwill 26.1 — — 45 — 30.€
Intangibles and other ass 137.C 17.7 0.8 — — 155.F
Total asset? 632.1 197.C 334 10.€ 0.7 873.¢
1.C — — 32.:

Additions to property, plant and equipmt 221 8.€

! Intersegment revenue between North America andttier segments is not material and has not beerratefy disclosed in the table

above.
Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentatebs receivable
Operating Segments

For the Year Ended
December 27, 2008

North United All
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenu? $1,178.C $385.: $61.¢ $22.C $0.¢ $1,648.:
Depreciation and amortizatic 62.2 16.2 2.3 — — 80.7
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairme
Restructuring 6.7 — — — — 6.7
Goodwill impairments — 69.2 — — — 69.2
Asset impairment 37.C — — — — 37.C
Operating (loss) incom (56.%) (53.5 (8.9 8.1 (25 (123.0
Property, plant and equipme 244.1 88.7 14.C — — 346.¢
Goodwill 22.F — — 4&£ — 27.C
Intangibles and other ass: 150.2 18.2 0.¢ — 0.2 169.€
Total asset? 642.: 189.: 29.¢ 116 — 873.1
8.5 3.2 — — 55.¢

Additions to property, plant and equipm 441

! Intersegment revenue between North America andttiier segments is not material and has not beerratety disclosed in the table

above.

Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentates receivable. Also, we reclassified certain @am®in the North America
operating segment to conform to the current pesipdésentation, which includes a reclassificatibf4o5 million from accrued
liabilities to allowance for doubtful accoun
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Operating Segments

For the Year Ended

December 29, 2007

North United All
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenu? $1,274.¢ $405.. $69.2 $26.& $— $1,776.
Depreciation and amortizatic 52.¢ 17.¢ 1.2 — — 71
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairme
Restructuring 25.4 (1.2 — 01 — 24.%
Goodwill impairments b5.¢ — — — — 55.¢
Asset impairment 10.7 — — — — 10.7
Operating (loss) incom (78.9 16.€ 1.7 107 (5.3 (54.5)
Property, plant and equipme 250.¢ 125.2 124 — — 388.¢
Goodwill 28.C 75.¢ — 45 — 108.:
Intangibles and other ass 208.( 26.4 1€ — — 236.(
Total asset? 745.2 351.1 35.8 11.¢ 0.7 1,144..
55.¢ 17.4 01 — — 73.<

Additions to property, plant and equipmi

1

Intersegment revenue between North America andtther segments is not material and has not bearatepy disclosed in the table
above.

Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentates receivable
For the year ended January 2, 2010, sales to Walddaounted for 33.5% (2008 — 35.8%, 2007 — 39.826ur total revenues, 39.4%

of our North America operating segment revenue882042.1%, 2007 — 45.9%), 17.7% of our U.K. oprgasegment revenues (2008 —
21.1%, 2007 — 26.5%) and 18.4% of our Mexico opegagegment revenues (2008 — 22.2%, 2007 — 22.1%).

Credit risk arises from the potential default afustomer in meeting its financial obligations with Concentrations of credit exposure
may arise with a group of customers that have ameitonomic characteristics or that are locatétlérsame geographic region. The ability of
such customers to meet obligations would be silyikffected by changing economic, political or athenditions. We are not currently aw
of any facts that would create a material cregk.ri

Revenues by geographic area are as follows:

For the Year Ended

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
United State: $1,034.: $ 1,006.¢ $ 1,087.(
Canads 198.7% 229.2 268.¢
United Kingdom 360.¢ 385.3 405.¢
Mexico 42.7 61.¢ 69.4
RCI 20.¢ 22.C 26.¢
All Other — 0.¢ —
Elimination? (60.2) (58.0 (80.5)

$1,596. $ 1,648 $ 1,776.

Represents intercompany revenue among our repartiitg, of which $14.0 million, $12.4 million and%.1 million represents
intersegment revenue between North America andtier operating segments for January 2, 2010, Dieee¥, 2008, and

December 29, 2007, respective
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Revenues are attributed to countries based orota¢ion of the plant.

Property, plant and equipment by geographic areasifollows:

January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
United State: $ 188.7 $ 201.
Canads 47.¢€ 42.¢
United Kingdom 93.C 88.7
Mexico 13.F 14.C
$ 343.C $  346.€
Note 9—Accounts Receivable, Net
January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
Trade receivable $ 149.2 $ 158.:
Allowance for doubtful accoun (5.9 (5.5
Other 9.C 11.€
Total $ 152.% $ 164.
Note 10 — Inventories
January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008
Raw materials $ 394 $ 40.C
Finished good 45.: 54.t
Other 15.C 16.€
Total $ 99.7 $ 111.1
Note 11—Property, Plant and Equipment
January 2, 2010 December 27, 2008
Accumulated Accumulated
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Cost Depreciation Net Cost Depreciation Net
Land $212 % — $212 $19¢ $ — $ 19.€
Buildings 119.7 44 ¢ 74.¢ 111.1 38.1 73.C
Machinery and equipme
Owned 472.F 263.¢ 208.¢ 480.1 267.¢ 212.7
Capital lease 3.8 0.8 3.C 3.€ 0.2 3.3
Plates, films & and mold 32.¢ 26.1 6.7 32.7 24.¢ 7.8
Vending 18.C 14.7 3.3 22.5 18.c 4.C
Transportation equipme 0.€ 0.t 0.1 0.8 0.€ 0.2
Leasehold improvemen 34.¢ 11.5 23.4 35.C 11.C 24.C
Furniture and fixture 8.9 7.4 1.5 11.¢ 9.5 2.1
Total $712.« $ 369.4 $343.( $716.& $ 370.C $346.f

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2009 was $48.5mnil($53.5 million—December 27, 2008; $50.0 milkeecember 29, 2007).
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Note 12—Intangibles and Other Assets

January 2, 2010 December 27, 2008
Accumulated Accumulated
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
Intangibles
Not subject to amortizatic
Rights $45.C % — $45C $45C 9 — $ 45.C
Subject to amortizatio
Customer relationshiy 154.1 79.5 74.¢ 157.F 69.¢ 87.¢
Trademarks 247 15.2 9.5 24.¢ 13.2 11.€
Information technolog 54.1 48.2 5.8 51.C 42 .4 8.€
Other 3.€ 2.C 1.€ 3.€ 1.7 1.9
236.5 144.¢ 91.7 236.¢ 127.2 109.7
281t 144.¢ 136.% 281.C 127.2 154.5
Other Assets
Financing cost 11.4 2.1 9.3 6.7 1.7 5.C
Deposits 7.8 — 7.8 7.€ — 7.€
Other 7.3 5.€ 1.7 7.8 5.5 2.3
26.5 7.7 18.¢ 22.1 7.2 14.€
Total Intangibles & Other Assets $308.C $ 1525 $155.F $304.( $ 1344 $169.¢

Amortization expense of intangibles was $20.2 wnillduring 2009 ($29.0 million—December 27, 20084 $2million—December 29,
2007). Amortization of intangibles includes $4.3lion ($10.4 million— December 27, 2008; $8.5 nati—December 29, 2007) relating to
information technology assets and $1.6 million {®tillion—December 27, 2008; $1.8 million—DecemB8r 2007) relating to deferred
financing assets. During the year ended Decemhe2(B, we recorded an asset impairment relatéuket®ights of $35.4 million, primarily
due to the decline of our North America case volyrartially offset by anticipated increased oversgagentrate volume in our RCI
operating segment.

The estimated amortization expense for intangibles the next five years is:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

2010 $14.7
2011 14.C
2012 12.¢€
2013 12.4
2014 12.C
Thereaftel 25.7

$91.7
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Note 13—Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Trade payable

Accrued compensatic
Accured sales incentive
Accrued interes
Restructurin—Note 2
Payroll, sales and other tax
Other accrued liabilitie

Total

Note 14—Debt
Our debt is summarized as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
8% senior subordinated notes due in 21
8.375% senior subordinated notes due in 22
ABL facility
GE Obligation
Other capital lease
Other deb
Total debt
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de
ABL facility
Total shor-term borrowings
8% senior subordinated notes due in 20
GE obligation—current maturities
Other capital lease—current maturities
Other deb—current maturities
Total current dek
Long-term debt before discou
Less discount on 8% not
Less discount on 8.375% no!
Total long-term debt

1

2

Our 8% senior subordinated notes were issued igcauwht of 2.75% on December 21, 20
Our 8.375% senior subordinated notes were issuadiscount of 1.425% on November 13, 2(
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January 2,

2010
$ 84F
21.2
21.¢

2.6

January 2,

2010
$ 111
215.(
20.2
22.C
3.2
2.6

274.1

December 27

2008

$

98.¢
11.C
21.C

1.3

3.8
14.C
16.7

166.7

December 27

2008
$ 269.

107.k
28.1
3.4
3.2

411.¢

107.t
107.t

6.7
0.2
0.6
115.1
296.]
2.9)

$ 294.
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The long-term debt payments (which include curreaturities of long-term debt) required in eachi@f hext five years and thereafter
are as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

2010 $ 17.¢
2011 4.9
2012 3.1
2013 1.7
2014 1.9
Thereaftel 218.¢
$247.¢ 1

We funded the purchase of a new water bottlingggent through an interim financing agreement signelinuary 2008 (the “GE
Obligation”). At the end of the GE Obligation, we may return $®&i0ion of assets in exchange for the extinguishtrad $6.0 million in
debt or elect to purchase such equipm

Debt
8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011

Our senior unsecured notes due in 2011 (“the 20dte$) are due on December 15, 2011. After thendmase of $257.8 million in
principal amount of the 2011 Notes in 2009, tha@pal amount of the 2011 Notes outstanding wasl$dilllion as of January 2, 2010. The
issuer of the 2011 Notes is Cott Beverages In¢.weuand most of our U.S., Canadian and United #amg subsidiaries guarantee the 2011
Notes. The interest on the 2011 Notes is payalig-annually on June 1% and Decembet15

The remaining $11.1 million of the 2011 Notes wexgeemed on February 1, 2010.

8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 millionevfiar subordinated notes that are due on Novenfhe2l17 (“the 2017 Notes”).
The 2017 Notes were issued at a $3.1 million distand deferred financing fees of $5.1 million. Tésuer of the 2017 Notes is Cott
Beverages Inc., but we and most of our U.S., Camaaind United Kingdom subsidiaries guarantee ti& Mbtes. The interest on the 2017
Notes is payable se-annually on May 18 and November ®#5 of each yeagirtning on May 15, 2010.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in cortien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amd amortized over an eight-year
period, which represents the duration of the 20a%Al

Asset Based Lending Facilit

On March 31, 2008, we entered into our asset blaselihg (“ABL”") facility with various lenders ledybJPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. to
provide financing for our operating segments intN@&merica, the United Kingdom and Mexico. Cott @aration, Cott Beverages Inc. and
Cott Beverages Limited are borrowers under our Astility. The debt under our ABL facility is guartaed by most of our U.S., United
Kingdom, Canadian and Mexican subsidiaries anddsired by substantially all of the assets of thedveers and guarantors.

The ABL facility is a five-year revolving facilitpf up to $225.0 million that runs through March 20The amount available under the
ABL facility is dependent on a borrowing base ctdted as a percentage of the value of eligiblenibwg, accounts receivable and property,
plant and equipment. The ABL facility has subfaigh for letters of credit and swingline loans gedgraphical sublimits for Canada ($40.0
million) and the United Kingdom ($75.0 million).
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The effective interest rate as of January 2, 2010IBOR and Prime loans is based on average aggregailability as follows:

Canadian Prime Eurodollar CDOR LIBOR
Average Aggregate Availability ABR
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Spreac Spread Spread Spreac Spread
Over $15C 2.25% 2.25% 3.25% 3.25% 3.25%
$75- 150 2.5(% 2.5(% 3.5(% 3.5(% 3.5(%
Under $7& 2.7%% 2.7%% 3.7"% 3.7"% 3.7%%

As of January 2, 2010, we had $20.2 million in ABarrowings outstanding and the commitment fee wa%@er annum of the unused
commitment.

We incurred $6.0 million of financing fees in cootien with the ABL facility. The financing fees abeing amortized over a five-year
period, which represents the duration of the ABtilfiy.

GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32.5 million of water bottling equipmeuirchases through a finance lease arrangemef0B. The quarterly payments
under the lease obligation total approximately $8ilion per annum for the first two years, $5.3lian per annum for the subsequent two
years, then $1.7 million per annum for the finalrfgears

Covenant Compliance
ABL Facility

We and our restricted subsidiaries are subjectionaber of business and financial covenants andtewd default under the ABL
facility. The debt under the ABL facility is guateed by most of our U.S., United Kingdom, Canadiad Mexican subsidiaries. The ABL
facility contains limitations on indebtedness, iemergers, consolidations, liquidations and s@agment of dividends, investments, loans
and advances, optional payments and modificatibsslmordinated and other debt instruments, and#@tions with affiliates that we believe
to be customary. Events of default under the ABtility include nonpayment, inaccuracy of represgoits and warranties (which would
include the occurrence of an event having a matedierse effect), violation of covenants, crosfaudk to other indebtedness, bankruptcy,
material judgments, and a change of control ofGbmpany. Upon the occurrence of an event of defthdtlenders may terminate the
commitments and declare all loans due and pay#gehave agreed to a mandatory prepayment provibisrwithout a reduction of the
commitment), subject to certain exceptions, upsala or transfer of assets of a borrower or guaranpon the sale of any common stock or
other equity, upon the receipt of proceeds fromishkeance of any indebtedness, upon the occuradrare availability shortfall under the
revolver, or upon receipt of insurance proceedsoodemnation awards.

Our ABL facility contains a covenant requiring animium fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.@e&tff’e when and if excess
availability is less than $30.0 million. Our fixetlarge coverage ratio as calculated under thismaoteas of January 2, 2010 was greater than
1.1 to 1.0. If availability is less than $37.5 raitl, the lenders will take dominion over the castl will apply excess cash to reduce amounts
owing under the revolver. The credit agreement gung the ABL facility requires us to maintain esseavailability of at least $15.0 million.
We believe we were in compliance with all of thelégable covenants under the ABL facility on Jaryu2r2010.

8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2017

The 2017 Notes are senior unsecured obligationsanidequally with all other existing and futuresubordinated indebtedness,
including indebtedness under our credit facilitM& are subject to covenants and limitations onamalfor our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to
certain exceptions and qualifications, to (i) pay
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dividends or make distributions, repurchase ecégurities, prepay subordinated debt or make odrigestments, (ii) incur additional debt
or issue certain disqualified stock or preferraxtkt (iii) create or incur liens on assets, (iv)rgeeor consolidate with another company (wl
restrictions apply to Cott and Cott Beverages, tmdy) or sell all or substantially all assets take a whole, (v) enter into transactions with
affiliates and (vi) sell assets.

The events of default in the indenture governirgg2817 Notes include, among others: (i) failurpay interest after a 30-day grace
period; (ii) failure to pay principal when due;)ibreach of the change of control covenant (whictuld require us to offer to repurchase the
2017 Notes) or asset sale covenant; (iv) unsadigfieggments or cross-default acceleration to ataebtedness in excess of $20.0 million;
and (v) our insolvency or that of our restrictetdsidiaries that are significant subsidiaries.

We believe we have been in compliance with alhefcovenants under the 2017 Notes and there haverlzeamendments to any such
covenants since they were issued.

Note 15—Benefit Plans

We maintain two noncontributory defined benefitndaesulting from prior acquisitions that covertagr employees at one plant in the
U.S. under a collective bargaining agreement (“®1&n") and certain salaried employees in the Wdniteagdom (“U.K. Plan”). Retirement
benefits for employees covered by the U.S. Plafased on years of service multiplied by a monbiggefit factor. The monthly benefit for
employees under the U.K. Plan is based on yeasruice multiplied by a monthly benefit factor. Biem costs are funded in accordance
the provisions of the applicable law. Both Plares@dosed to new participants. We use a Decembearezsurement date for both of our plans.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss as of Dece2®he2007 includes an out-of-period adjustmenetmrd the unfunded liability
of our U.K. Pension Plan. The adjustment of $2.Bani (net of income tax of $0.9 million) was to@mt ASC No. 715-20, “Compensation—
Defined Benefit Plans—General” (“ASC 715-20"), wihizquired that we record the unfunded statuseptnsion plan. We should have
recognized this adjustment to Accumulated Other @remensive Loss on December 30, 2006. In addiwemecorded an out-of-period
adjustment in Accumulated Other Comprehensive t@sscognize a minimum pension liability of $0.91an (net of tax of $0.3 million) fo
our U.K. Pension Plan. Since the U.K. pension @aponsored by our U.K. subsidiary, the recordifithe minimum plan liability required
an out-ofperiod adjustment of $1.0 million to reduce therency translation adjustment recorded in Other Gemmgnsive Income (Loss). V
should have recognized minimum pension liabiliiesl the corresponding effect of currency transtaitioprior years. The recording of the
pension plan did not have a material impact ordbesolidated Statement of Loss and we have cond)ullmugh a quantitative and
qualitative analysis, that the adjustments to Aaglated Other Comprehensive Loss are not mater20@¥ or prior years’ consolidated
financial statements.
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Obligations and Funded Status

The following table sets forth the change in thedfi obligation, change in plan assets and unfdredatus of the two plans:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye

Service cos

Interest cos

Plan participant contributior
Benefit payment

Acturial (gains) losse
Translation gains (losse

Benefit obligation at end of ye

Change in Plan Assets
Plan assets beginning of ye
Employer contribution

Plan participant contributior
Benefit payment

Actual return on plan asse
Translation gains (losse

Fair value at end of yei
Funded Status of Plar
Projected benefit obligatic
Fair value of plan asse
Unfunded statu

For the Year Ended

January 2,

2010

$ 24¢

December 27
2008
$ 33.€
0.3
1.€
0.1
(0.8)
(2.€)
(7.4)
$ 24.¢
$ 27.¢
0.€
0.1
(0.8)
(5.4)
(6.0
$ 16.7
$ (249
16.7
$ (8.1

The accumulated benefit obligation for both defibedefit pension plans equaled the projected bieolgigations of $9.2 million and

$8.1 million at the end of 2009 and 2008, respetfiv

Periodic Pension Cos

The components of net periodic pension cost afellasvs:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Service cos
Interest cos

Expected return on plan ass
Amortization of prior service cos

Amortization of net los
Net periodic pension co
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January 2,

2010
0.3
17

1.2
0.1
0.6

1.5

©
~

@

December 27
2008
$ 0.3
1.€
(1.€)
0.3
$ 0.€

December 2¢€

2007
$ O
1.7
(1.9)
0.4
$  0C
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L

Amounts included in accumulated other compreherisis@me, net of tax, at year-end which have nobgen recognized in net

periodic benefit cost are as follows:

January 2, December 27 December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 2008 2007
Unamortized prior service bene $ (0.6 $ (0.9 $ (0.5)
Unrecognized net actuarial (loss) g (6.9 (6.2 (2.9
Unamortized prior service benefit or actual | $ (79 $ 6.€) $ 3.1)
Assumption:
Weighted average assumptions used to determindibelniggations at year-end:
January 2, December 27 December 2¢
2010 2008 2007
Discount rate 6.2% 6.C% 6.C%
Weighted average assumptions used to determingenietic benefit cost at year-end:
January 2, December 27 December 2¢
2010 2008 2007

U.K. Plan

Discount rate 5.8% 6.4% 5.%

Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 7.2% 6.% 7.1%
U.S. Plar

Discount rate 6.2% 6.4% 5.8%

Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 7.C% 7.C% 7.C%

Inflation factor 3.7% 3.1% 3.3%

The discount rate for the U.S. Plan is based omdetportfolio of AA rated bonds with a maturity tolaed to the estimated payouts of
future pension benefits for this type of plan. igcount rate of the U.K. Plan is based on a mpdgfolio of AA rated bonds, using the
redemption yields on the constituent stocks ofMeerill Lynch index with a maturity matched to testimated future pension benefits. The
weighted average return for both plans for the pealed January 2, 2010 was approximately 27%. TKeahd U.S. Plan’s expected return
on plan assets are based on our expectation tdrigeterm average rate of return on assets in éimsipn funds, which is based on the
allocation of assets.

Asset Mix
Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocatiprasset category are as follows:

January 2, December 27
2010 2008
U.K. Plan
Equity securitie: 65.5% 60.(%
Debt securitie! 34.5% 40.(%
U.S. Plar
Equity securitie: 50.(% 50.(%
Debt securitie! 50.(% 50.(%
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Plan Asset:

Our investment policy is that plan assets will benaged utilizing an investment philosophy and apgihacharacterized by all of the
following, but listed in priority order: (1) emplia®n total return, (2) emphasis on highality securities, (3) sufficient income and sli&pof
income, (4) safety of principal with limited voléty of capital through proper diversification a(®) sufficient liquidity. The target allocation
percentages for the U.K. Plan assets are 70% iityespcurities and 30% in debt securities. Thedhadjocation percentages for the U.S. Plan
assets are 50% in equity securities and 50% inskhtrities. None of our equity or debt securiéiesincluded in plan assets.

Cash Flows
We expect to contribute $1.1 million to the pengiems during the 2010 fiscal year.
The following benefit payments are expected to &id:p

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Expected benefit payments

FY 2010 $0.8
FY 2011 0.8
FY 2012 1.C
FY 2013 1.1
FY 2015 1.2
FY 2016 through FY 201 9.C

Cott primarily maintains defined contribution retinent plans covering qualifying employees. The #taense with respect to these
plans was $4.1 million for the year ended Januag020 ($5.0 million— December 27, 2008; $5.7 mili—December 29, 2007).

The fair values of the company’s pension plan assedanuary 2, 2010 were as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalen $— $— $—
Equities:

International mutual fund 13.2 — —
Index mutual fund: 2.3 — —
U.S. mutual fund: 14 — —
Fixed income:

Mutual funds 6.2 — —
Total $23.1 $— $—

There is less than $0.1 million of cash equivalémas are valued as Level 2 ass
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Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies

We lease buildings, machinery & equipment, compsidtware and furniture & fixtures. All contractuatreases and rent free periods
included in the lease contract are taken into aticaen calculating the minimum lease payment aedgnized on a straight line basis over
the lease term. Certain leases have renewal peaximtisontingent rentals, which are not includethetable below. The minimum annual
payments under operating leases are as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

2010 $18.2
2011 16.1
2012 13.1
2013 10.C
2014 7.7
Thereaftel 30.7

$95.€

Operating lease expenses were:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Year ended January 2, 20 $19.¢
Year ended December 27, 2C 21.€
Year ended December 29, 2C 22.5

$64.2

Operating lease expenses are shown net of subteasae of $1.0 million for 2009. As of January B1P, we had commitments for
capital expenditures of approximately $10.1 milleord commitments for inventory of approximately $BLmillion.

In 2007, we entered into a $39.7 million purchaskégation for new equipment to support our bottreater business. Of the $39.7
million, payments of $16.5 million were made a®eicember 29, 2007. In the first quarter of 2008 alge entered into a capital lease with
GE to fund $31.4 million of this purchase obligati@he lease provides for quarterly rental paymewés a term of 96 months beginning
June 1, 2008. The quarterly rental payments af@ 2lion from June 1, 2008 through May 30, 201€clthing to $1.2 million on June 1,
2010 through May 31, 2012, and declining to $0.4ioni on June 1, 2012 through the balance of thede At the end of the lease term, we
have the option to purchase the equipment atets thir market value or return the equipment to GE.

In January 2005, we were named as one of many di@iésin a class action suit alleging the unautkoruse by the defendants of
container deposits and the imposition of recycfeggs on consumers. On June 2, 2006, the Britishrtlula Supreme Court granted the
summary trial application, which resulted in therdissal of the plaintiffs’ action against us ane dither defendants. On June 26, 2006, the
plaintiffs appealed the dismissal of the actiothi® British Columbia Court of Appeals which was iéeln and an appeal to the Supreme Court
of Canada was rejected on December 20, 2007. IuBgb2005, similar class action claims were file@ number of other Canadian
provinces. Claims filed in Quebec have since béstodtinued, but is unclear how the dismissal efBhitish Columbia case will impact the
other cases.

We are subject to various claims and legal procegdivith respect to matters such as governmergalations, income taxes, and other
actions arising out of the normal course of businbsanagement believes that the resolution of thesters will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results of agions.
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We had $9.9 million in standby letters of creditstanding as of January 2, 2010 ($10.8 million— &weber 27, 2008).

We have future purchase obligations of $285.6 amilthat consist of commitments for the purchasew#ntory, energy transactions ¢
an information technology outsourcing contract. Sehebligations represent the minimum contractubgjations expected under the normal
course of business.

Note 17—Shares Held in Trust treated as Treasury Ses

In May 2008, an independent trustee acting undeaiceof our benefit plans purchased 2.3 millioroaf common shares on the open
market for $6.4 million, of which 2.0 million shaxeor $5.4 million, are to be used to satisfy atyife liability under the PSU Plan and the
EISP Plan and 0.3 million shares, or $1.0 milliare held in trust for certain of our employeesas pf the deferred compensation
arrangement under the EISP Plan. See Note 6 fthrefludetails of these two plans. Treasury shaeesegorted at cost. In 2009, we issued to
the participants 0.6 million shares, or $1.4 milliander the PSU Plan and 0.2 million shares, @& #0llion, under the EISP Plan.

Note 18—Equity Offering

On August 11, 2009, we completed a public offenf§,435,000 common shares at a price of $5.3GIpare (the “Stock Offering”).
Net proceeds of the Stock Offering were $47.5 onillafter deducting expenses, underwriting discountscammissions.

Note 19—Subsequent Events
The remaining $11.1 million of the 2011 Notes wedeemed on February 1, 2010.

Note 20—Quarterly Financial Information—(Unaudited)

Year ended January 2, 2010 (53 weeks)

First Second Third Fourth
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amauts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue $367.( $438.6  $404.¢ $386.( $1,596.7
Cost of sale: 308.¢ 365.F 341.1 $331.t 1,346.¢
Gross Profit 58.2 73.% 63.¢ 54t 249.¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 34.7 35.1 36.¢ 40.1 146.¢
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and piopgnt 0.2 0.1 — 0.t 0.t
Restructuring and asset impairmel
Restructuring 1.2 0.4 — (0.2) 175
Asset impairment 0.1 3.4 — 0.1 3.€
Operating incom: 22.2 34.2 26.€ 13.¢ 97.4
Net income attributable to Cott Corporati $ 19.¢ $33.7 $13¢ $14.cC $ 81t
Per share dat:
Net income per common she
Basic $ 0.2¢ $ 04¢ $0.1& $ 0.1¢ $ 1.1C
Diluted $ 0.2¢ $04¢ $ 018 $0.17 $ 1.0¢
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Year ended December 27, 2008 (52 weeks)

First Second Third Fourth
(In millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amauts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue $389.7 $466.F $420.f $371.¢ $1,648.:
Cost of sale! 348.¢ 409.t 372.¢ 335.¢ 1,467..
Gross Profil 40.¢ 57.C 477 35.k 181.C
Selling, general and administrative exper 52.¢ 44.F 42.4 40.1 179.¢
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.¢ 1.3

Restructuring, asset and goodwill impairme

Restructuring — 6.7 (0.2) 0.1 6.7
Goodwill impairments — — 69.2 — 69.2
Asset impairment — 0.4 26.€ 10.C 37.C
Operating (loss) incom (12.2) 3 (90.5) (15.6) (113.0
Net (loss) attributable to Cott Corporati $(21.9) $ (1.8 $(B87.6) $(12.1) $ (1229
Per share dat
Net (loss) per common shg
Basic $(0.30) $(0.09 $(1.25 %019 $ (1.79
Diluted $(0.30) $(0.09 $(@.25 $0©0.19) $ (1.79

» The fourth quarter of 2009 included an extra wedkich is estimated to have contributed $20.3 millad revenue and $1.3
million of operating income, and a $3.5 milliondosn the retirement of a portion of the 2011 Nc

e For the third quarter of 2009, we incurred $2.9ioml of executive severanc
» For the first quarter of 2008, we incurred $6.8liomil of executive severanc

Note 21—Guarantor Subsidiaries

The 2011 Notes and 2017 Notes issued by our wiellyed subsidiary, Cott Beverages, Inc. are uncimmdilly guaranteed on a senior
subordinated basis pursuant to guarantees by @gpoCation and certain other wholly owned subsid&(the “Guarantor Subsidiaries”).
Such guarantees are full, unconditional and jaiut several.

We have not presented separate financial staterapdtether disclosures concerning subsidiary gtarsubecause management has
determined such information is not material tolibtders of the above-mentioned notes.

The following supplemental financial informationtséorth on an unconsolidated basis, our balaneetshstatements of income and
cash flows for Cott Corporation, Cott Beverages,|uarantor Subsidiaries and our other subsididtie “Non-guarantor Subsidiaries”).
The supplemental financial information reflects mwestments and those of Cott Beverages Inc.dir tespective subsidiaries using the
equity method of accounting.
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Revenue
Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative
expense:

Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipmel

Restructuring and asset impairmel

Restructuring
Asset impairment

Operating income (loss;

Other expense (income), r

Intercompany Interest expense
(income), ne

Interest expense (income), |

Income (loss) before income taxe
(benefit) and equity (loss) income

Income taxes (benefit) exper

Equity income (loss

Net income (loss

Less: Net income attributable to non
controlling interest:

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott
Corporation

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended January 2, 2010

Cott
Corporation
$ 198.7

167.¢

30.¢
36.5
0.2

0.2
(6.1)
0.8

(8.1)
0.2

0.
(16.9)
63.€

81.t

Cott
Beverages Inc
$ 958.¢

805.¢
152.¢

70.¢

46.7
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Guarantor Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
$ 360.¢ $ 126.¢
313.1 108.(
47.5 18.¢€
24.7 14.5
(0.2) —
22.¢ 3.€
(4.8 —
0.3 0.2
27.4 3.7
3.5 0.2
46.€ —
70.5 3.t
— 4.€
$ 70F $ (1.1)

Elimination

Entries Consolidatec
$ (48.0 $ 1,596.;
(48.0) 1,346.¢

— 249.¢

— 146.¢

— 0.5

— 1t
— 3.6
— 97.¢
— 4.4

— 63.
— (22.6)

(116.7) —

(116.1) 86.1

— 4.€

$ (116.) $  8LE
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Revenue
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expense:
Loss (gain) on disposal of property.
plant and equipmel
Restructuring, goodwill and asset
impairments
Restructuring
Goodwill impairments
Asset impairment
Operating income (loss)
Other expense (income), r
Intercompany Interest expense
(income), ne
Interest expense (income), 1
Income (loss) before income taxes
(benefit) and equity (loss) incom
Income taxes (benefit) exper
Equity income (loss
Net income (loss)
Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cotl
Corporation

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 27, 2008

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
$ 229.1 $ 942.¢ $ 391.: $ 138.2

191.% 858.: 343.¢ 126.€
37.4 84.t 47.¢ 11.2
46.C 83.t 34.€ 15.7

0.5 1.2 (0.9 —
1.1 5.7 — (0.1)
— — 69.2 —
— 37.C — —

(10.2) (42.9) (55.6) 4.3
— (0.2) (5.9 0.8
(12.4) 12.¢ (0.5) —

0.3 31.7 — 0.3
1. (87.9) (49.9) (5.4)
0.4 (22.2) 1€ 0.6

(124.7) 1.6 (73.6) —

(122.¢) (63.4) (125.0) (6.0)
— — — 1.7

$ (122.9) $ (63.9 $ (125.0 $ (7.7
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Elimination

Entries

Consolidatec

$

(53.2)
(53.2)

$ 1,648.:
1,467..

181.(

179.¢

1.

(¢6)

6.7
69.2
37.C

(113.0
(4.7)

32.%

(140.6)
(19.9)

(121.))

1.7

$ (122.9
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Revenue
Cost of sale:
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expense:
Loss (gain) on disposal of property.
plant and equipmel
Restructuring, goodwill and asset
impairments
Restructuring
Goodwill impairments
Asset impairment
Operating income (loss)
Other expense (income), r
Interest expense (income), |
Income (loss) before income taxe
(benefit) and equity (loss) incom
Income taxes (benefit) exper
Equity income (loss
Net income (loss
Less: Net income attributable to no
controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott
Corporation

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 29, 2007

Cott
Corporation

Cott
Beverages Inc

$ 268.¢ $ 1,033
228.F 943.(
40.1 90.¢

31. 84.¢€

— 0.4

10.2 15.2

— 55.¢

— 5.€

1.9 (70.9)

(4.5) 1.5

(7.2) 37.1

10.2 (109.9)

(7.2) 6.7)
(88.5) 2.8
(71.4) (100.0)

$ (7149 $  (100.0
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Guarantor Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
$ 409.¢ $ 135.¢
357.¢ 120.C
51.7 15.¢
37.1 9.0
(0.2) —
(1.2 —
5.1 —
10.¢ 6.8
(0.7) (1.0)
— 2.8
11.€ 5.0
(0.6) 0.5
(100.2) —
(88.0) 4.5
— 2.7
$ (88.0 $ 1.8

Elimination

Entries

Consolidatec

$ (7149
(71.4)

$ 1,776.
1,578.(

198.¢

161.¢

0.2

$ (719
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ASSETS

Current assets
Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivabl
Income taxes receivab
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Deferred income taxe
Other current asse

Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Income taxes payab
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Deferred income taxe

Long-term debi

Deferred income taxe

Other tax liabilities

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Losses and distributions in excess of
investmeni

Due from affiliates

Equity
Capital stock
Common share
Treasury share
Additional paic-in-capital
Retained earnings (defic
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income
Total Cott Corporatic’s equity
Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of January 2, 2010

Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 4.2 $ 10.4 $ 122 $ 4.1 — $ 30.¢
38.1 77.% 55.¢ 17.5 (36.9) 152.%
2.t 17.¢ — 0.5 — 20.¢
15.¢ 61.1 15.¢ 6.9 — 99.7
4.1 5.2 2.C 0.1 — 11.4
1.t 1.7 — — — 3.2
— — 2.2 — — 2.2
66.¢ 173.F 88.C 29.1 (36.4) 320.¢
47.¢ 185.: 96.1 13.¢ — 343.(
26.1 4.t — — — 30.¢
1.C 111.¢ 17.7 25.C — 155.5
5.€ — — 0.2 (0.4) 5.4
— 18.¢ — — — 18.¢
247.1 10.C 207.¢ 41.¢ (506.9) —
— 14.F — 152.F (167.0 —
393.¢ 518.2 409.7% 262.t (710.9) 873.¢
— 20.z — — — 20.2
— 17.2 — 04 — 17.€
— — 2.1 — — 2.1
37.1 99. 52.4 14.2 (36.4) 166.¢
— — 0.4 — — 0.4
37.1 136.¢ 54.¢ 14.€ (36.9) 207.1
— 230.t — 2.7 — 233.2
— 6.4 10.€ 0.2 — 17.t
— — — 0.9 (0.4) 0.5
0.1 6.t 7.€ — — 14.2
(72.5) — 118.¢ — (46.9) —
43.2 206.€ 234.t 22.€ (506.9 —
7.6 586.¢ 426.7 41.C (590.0) 472.F
322t 279.2 378.( 175.C (832.29) 322t
(4.4) — — — — (4.4)
37.4 — — — — 37.4
51.€ (346.7) (393.0) (27.6) 766.€ 51.¢
(21.9) (1.5) (2.0) 58.€ (55.9) (21.9)
386.( (68.5) (7.0 206.2 (120.7) 386.(
— — — 15.5 — 15.2
386.( (68.5) (17.0 221F (120.7) 401.:
$ 393« $ 518. $ 409.% $ 262.% $ (710.% $ 873.¢
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ASSETS

Current assets
Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivabl
Income taxes receivab
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Deferred income taxe

Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass:
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiaris

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term deb
Income taxes payab
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Deferred income taxe

Long-term deb

Deferred income taxe

Other tax liabilities

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Losses and distributions in excess of
investmen:

Due to affiliates

Equity
Capital stock
Common share
Treasury share
Additional paic-in-capital
Retained earnings (defic
income
Total Cott Corporatic’s equity
Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 27, 2008

Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor

Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 2.1 $ 3.1 $ 7.4 $ 2.1 $ — $ 14
37.1 97.2 57.7 18.: (45.9 164.¢

— 7.7 — — — 7.7

19.2 68.7 17.€ 5.6 — 111.1

2.2 3.6 3.C 0.2 — 9.3

— 3.C — — — 3.C

60.€ 183.€ 85.7 26.2 (45.9 310.2
42.¢ 197.1 93.¢ 12.€ — 346.¢
22.F 4.t — — — 27.C

- 119.1 18.c 28.€ — 169.€

10.z — 0.1 — — 10.:

— 9.2 — — — 9.2
249.7 10.C 210.< 41.€ (511.9 —

— 14.€ — 131.¢ (146.€) —

$ 389.c $ 538.: $ 408.: $ 241, $ (704.9 $ 8731
$ 2.6 $ 104.¢ $ — $ — $ — $ 107t
— < — 0.3 — 7.€

— 0.1 — — — 0.1

38.2 95.¢ 64.2 14.2 (45.9) 166.7
41.1 207.¢ 64.2 14.5 (45.9 281.¢

— 291.¢ — 3.0 — 294..

— 4.8 11.2 — — 16.C

18.C — — 0.3 — 18.c

0.1 9.€ 6.3 — — 16.C

57.€ — 2721 — (330.5) —
43.C 209.2 247.( 12.7 (511.9 —
160.( 722.C 601.5 30.5 (888.9) 626.€
275.( 211. 294.F 175.: (681.2) 275.(
(6.4) — — — — (6.4)

38.1 (1.0) — 1.0 — 38.1
(29.7) (393.7) (502.9) (20.7) 916.¢ (29.7)
(47.6) (1.6) 15.2 38.2 (51.7) (47.8)
229.: (184.6) (193.9) 193.¢ 183.¢ 229.:

— — — 17.3 — 17.%
229.: (184.6) (193.9) 211.2 183.¢ 246.F

$ 389. $ 538.: $ 408.: $ 241.5 $ (704.9 $ 8731
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 2, 2010

Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating activities
Net income (loss $ 8lEt $ 46.7 $ 70t $ 3.t $ (116.)) $ 86.1
Depreciation and amortizatic 8.1 37.¢ 14.¢ 5.€ — 66.2
Amortization of financing fee 0.2 11 0.2 — — 1kt
Shar-based compensatic 0.1 1.2 — — — 1.3
Deferred income taxe 3.2 2.C 0.1 (0.7 — 6.2
Loss (gain) on disposal of
property, plant and
equipmen: 0.2 0.4 (0.2) — — 0.t
Equity (loss) income, net of
distributions (62.9) (5.7 (46.7) 1.3 116.1 —
Intercompany transactiol 8.6 6.S — — (15.5) —
Loss on buyback of 2011
Notes 1.t — — — — 1.t
Asset impairment — 0.1 — — — 0.1
Intangible impairment — 3.t — — — 3.t
Lease contract termination
payments — (3.9 — — — (3.9
Other noi-cash item: — 2.€ — — — 2.€
Net change in non-cash
working capital (102.0) 64.€ (0.5) 11.¢ 15.F (10.6)
Net cash provided by (used |
operating activitie: (60.9) 158.¢ 38.1 19.5 — 155.1

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant

and equipmer 4.3 (18.9) (8.6) (1.0 — (32.9)
Proceeds from disposal of

property, plant and

equipmen: — 1.t 0.2 — — 1.7
Advances to affiliate 12.€ — (11.2) (9.9 8.5 —
Additions to intangibles and

other asset — (1.6) — — — (1.6)
Net cash (used in) provided

investing activities 8.2 (18.5) (19.6) (10.9) 8.5 (32.2)
Financing activities
Payments of lor-term debt — (265.2) — (0.3 — (265.5)
Issue of lon-term deb — 211.¢ — — — 211.¢
Long-term borrowing—ABL 87.C 595.( 86.1 — — 768.1
Long-term repaymen—ABL (90.7) (679.9) (87.7) — — (856.€)
Advances from affiliate 10.C 11.c (12.¢) — (8.5 —
Distributions to subsidiary

minority shareowne — — — (6.€) — (6.6)
Issure of common shar 47.t — — — — 475
Deferred financing fee — (6.2 — — — (6.2
Other financing activitie — — — (0.7) — (0.7)
Net cash (used in) provided

financing activities 54.4 (132.6) (13.9) (7.0 (8.5) (107.5)
Effect of exchange rate on

cash 0.2 — 0.1 0.4 — 0.8
Net increase in cast 2.1 7.3 4.8 2.C — 16.2
Cash and cash equivalents

beginning of period 2.1 3.1 7.4 2.1 — 14.5
Cash and cash equivalents,

end of period $ 4.2 $ 10.4 $ 122 $ 4.1 $ — $ 30.¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 27, 2008

Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating activities
Net income (loss $ (122.¢) $ (63.4) $ (125.0) $ (6.0) $ 196.1 $ (121.7)
Depreciation and amortizatic 13.€ 41.€ 19.5 6.0 — 80.7
Amortization of financing fee 0.2 0.7 0.2 — — 1.1
Shar-based compensatic 2.1 3.4 0.1 — — 5.€
Deferred income taxe (27.9) 30.7 (3.2 (13.0 — (13.9)
Tax receivabl¢ — — — — — —
Increase in other income tax liabiliti 21.: (42.7) (1.3 — — (22.7)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipmen 0.E 1.z (0.9 — — iLg
Equity (loss) income, net of distributio 124.: (1.€) 73.€ — (196.1) —
Intercompany transactiol 9.7 3.6 3.C — (16.5) —
Asset impairment — 1.€ — — — 1.€
Intangible impairment — 35.4 — — — 35.4
Goodwill impairments — — 69.2 — — 69.2
Lease contract termination lo — 0.2 — — — 0.2
Lease contract termination payme — (3.6 — — — (3.6
Other nor-cash item: i3 1.€ — — — 31
Net change in nc-cash working capite (34.5) 5.1 30.C 29.C — 29.€
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities (12.0 13.7 65.7 16.C (16.5) 66.<
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipm (2.5) (42.6) (8.5) (2.3 — (55.€
Acquisitions — — — — — —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipmen’ 23 1.¢ 0.1 — — 4.5
Advances to affiliate 22.4 — (10.9 (6.0) (6.0) —
Investment in subsidiar — — — — — —
Additions to intangibles and other ass (0.3 (3.9) — — — (3.9
Net cash (used in) provided by investing
activities 22.1 (43.€) (18.€) (8.3 (6.0) (54.€)
Financing activities
Payments of lor-term debt — (8.7) — (0.3 — 9.0
Issue of lon-term debt — 33.¢ — — — 33.¢
Payments on extinguishment of credit faci (20.9) (91.9) (13.9) 1.3 — (127.%)
Shor-term borrowings — (8.1) — — — (8.1)
Long-term borrowing—ABL 40.¢ 1,196.¢ 62.5 — — 1,300.¢
Long-term repaymen—ABL (38.0 (1,092.9) (62.5) — — (1,192.)
Advances from affiliate 6.C 10.4 (22.9) — 6.C —
Distributions to subsidiary minority shareowi — — — (3.9 — 3.9
Issure of common shar — — — — — —
Purchase of treasury sha (6.4) — — — — (6.4)
Issuance of shc-term debt — — — — — —
Deferred financing fee (0.9) 3.7 (0.§) — — (5.9
Dividends paic — 3.0 9.7) (3.9) 16.5 —
Other financing activitie (0.2) (0.3 — — — (0.5)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing
activities (18.9) 33.2 (46.€) 9.3 22.t (19.9)
Effect of exchange rate on ce 2.3 — 3.0 0.2 — (5.5
Net (decrease) increase in cash (11.7) 3.1 (2.€ (1.8) — (12.7)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period 13.2 — 10.2 3.8 — 27.4
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 2.1 $ 3.1 $ 7.4 $ 2.1 $ = $ 14.7
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Operating activities
Net income (loss

Depreciation and amortizatic

Amortization of financing fee

Shar-based compensatic

Deferred income taxe

Increase in other income tax
liabilities

Gain on repurchase of not

Loss (gain) on disposal of propel
plant and equipmet

Equity (loss) income, net of
distributions

Asset impairment

Goodwill impairments

Lease contract termination lo

Lease contract termination
payments

Other nor-cash item:

Net change in non-cash working
capital

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activitie:

Investing activities

Additions to property, plant and
equipmen’

Additions to intangibles and other
assets

Proceeds from disposal of prope
plant and equipmet

Acquisition of business and
business asse

Return of capita

Advances to affiliate

Net cash (used in) provided by
investing activities

Financing activities

Payments of lor-term debt

Issue of lon-term debt

Shor-term borrowings

Advances from affiliate

Return of capita

Distributions to subsidiary minori
shareowne

Issure of common shar:

Dividends paic

Other financing activitie

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities

Effect of exchange rate on ce

Net increase (decrease) in cash

Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end
of period

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Cott
Corporation
$ (71.4)

12.F
0.1

1.0
3.2

(10.6)
()

194.2

11

133.¢

(6.9

29

9.8
(5.9

20.4
(127.9

For the year ended December 29, 2007

Non- Elimination
Cott Guarantor guarantor
Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ (100.0 $ (88.0 $ 4.t $ 186.Z $ (68.7)
34.1 20.4 4.8 — 7117
0.z 11 0.4 — 1€
2. 0.4 — — 4.2
(3.9 0.5 0.2 — 0.1
10.C 15 — — 0.c
— — — — (0.9
0.4 0.2 — — 0.z
1.2 113.2 — (308.¢) —
iLE 5.1 — — 10.7
55.¢ — — — 55.¢
12t — — — 12t
(7.7) — — — (7.7)
(0.7 = = = (0.7
(39.9) 39.1 (2.0 — (1.5
(32.9 93.2 8.C (122.6) 79.5
(47.6) (17.2) 1.6 — (73.9)
(0.9 (0.4) 0.9 — (3.9
iLE — — — iLE
— (2.2) — — (2.9
— 97.4 — (97.9 —
83.2 (25.9 (34.9 (23.0) —
36.€ 51.7 (36.0) (120.5) (78.)
(2.9 — — — (8.9
14 — — — 14
76.1 (107.9) 34.% — 23.1
27.2 77.4 0.2 23.1 —
97.9 — — 97.4 —
— — (4.0 — (4.0
— — — — 0.t
(13.) (105.9 4.1 122.€ —
— — 0.1 — (0.9
(8.6) (135.7) 26.5 243.] 12.4
— (0.2 — — 0.z
4.9 9.1 (1.6 — 14.C
4.¢ 1.2 5.3 — 13.4
$ (0.0 $ 10.2 $ 3.8 $ — $ 27.4
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In millions of U.S. dollars) Year ended January 2, 2010
Balance at Charged ta Charged tc
Beginning of Reduction in
Costs and Other Balance at
Description Year Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year

Reserves deducted in the balance she
from the asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses o

Accounts receivable $ (5.5 $ — $ (0.9 $ 0€ $ (0.2 $ (59
Inventories (7.2 — 0.6 (0.7 (0.7) (6.7)
Deferred income tax asst (42.7) — 22.7 2.4 — (17.6)

$ (55.9 e $ 22 $ 2¢ $ (0.9 $ (30.)
(In millions of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 27, 2008

Balance at Charged ta Charged tc
Beginning of Reduction in
Costs and Other Balance at

Description Year Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year

Reserves deducted in the balance she
from the asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses o

Accounts receivable $ (4.9 $ — $ (29 $ 1t $ 0.3 $ (5.5
Inventories (14.9) — (8.3 1.3 14.7 (7.2)
Deferred income tax liabilitie (20.8) — 34.€ (19.5) — (5.7)
Other tax liabilities (36.6€) — (5.1 23.2 — (18.9)
Accrued sales incentive (22.9 (34.7) — 5.C 31.C (21.0)

$ (100.0 $  (34.0) $ 18.f $ 117 $  46.C $ (57.6

(In millions of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 29, 2007
Balance at Charged ta Charged tc
Beginning of Reduction in
Costs and Other Balance at
Description Year Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year

Reserves deducted in the balance sheet
from the asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses o

Accounts receivable $ (5.0 $ — $ 01 $ — $ — $ (49
Inventories 9.9 — (22.7) — 16.€ (14.¢)
Deferred income tax asst (17.5) — (21.2) 17.t — (21.2)
Other tax liabilitiest (30.2) — 0.7) (5.7 — (36.6€)
Accrued sales incentive (23.9 (48.€) — — 49.€ (22.9)

$ (859 $ (486 $ (439 $ 11f $ 66.c $ (100.9)

On December 31, 2006, we adopted ASC No. 740 “Ircdaxes.” As of the beginning of our 2007 fiscadyave recorded a liability
for uncertain tax provisions in our ConsolidatedaBae Sheet of $30.2 million. This liability cortsi®f a decrease in retained earnings
of $4.2 million, a decrease in additional paid apital of $4.6 million, a reclassification of $1Ibllion from income taxes receivable
and the recognition of $9.8 million of deferred &ssets. Included in the recognition of the $9.laniof deferred tax assets is the 2006
valuation allowance of $17.5 millio
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Number

2.1

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.11

10.22

10.32

10.42

10.52

Cott Corporation
Exhibit Index

Description
Agreement Relating to the Sale and Purchase diMihele of the Issued Share Capital of Macaw (Holdjrigmited, dated

August 10, 2005, between Andrew Cawthray and OthedsMartyn Rose and Cott Beverages Limited (inoated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Forr-K dated August 16, 200&

Articles of Amalgamation of Cott Corporation (inporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our FornKlfiled February 28,
2007).

Amended and Restated By-laws of Cott Corporatinadiporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our FAO¥Q filed May 10,
2007).

Indenture dated as of December 21, 2001 goverhim@10% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011,dst\Cott Beverages
Inc. (as issuer) and HSBC Bank USA (as trusteep(imorated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our FA0K filed March 8,
2002).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of DecerabgP001, among Cott Beverages Inc., the Guarantored therein and
Lehman Brothers Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Corp. atBCWorld Markets Corp. (incorporated by referetedxhibit 4.4 to
our Form 1-K filed March 8, 2002)

Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 13 g00erning the 8.0% Senior Subordinated Notes2@ldéd, by and
among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corporation, threrautors identified therein and HSBC Bank USA, bladi Association, as
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4ur Form -K filed on November 16, 2009

Indenture dated as of November 13, 2009, goverthia@®.375% Senior Notes due 2017, by and amongBeegrages Inc.,
Cott Corporation, the guarantors identified theiid HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as treigtecorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Forr-K filed on November 16, 2009

Form of 8.375% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporatedefierence to Exhibit 4.2 to our Forr-K filed on November 16, 200¢

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveriBe2009, among the Issuer, the Company, the gtasidentified
therein and Barclays Capital Inc., J.P. Morgan 8ges Inc. and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (ipooated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to our Form-K filed on November 16, 2009

Supply Agreement, dated December 21, 1998, betWémrMart Stores, Inc. and Cott Beverages USA, (now “Cott
Beverages In”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to oumkd(-K filed March 31, 2000)

Second Canadian Employee Share Purchase Planaff@ahuary 2, 2001 (incorporated by referencextulit 10.11 to our
Form 1(-K filed March 20, 2001)

Supply Agreement executed November 11, 2003, éffedanuary 1, 2002 between Crown Cork & Seal Camppimc. and
Cott Corporation (incorporated by reference to BitHi0.14 to our Form -Q/A filed August 5, 2004)

Share Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective &maber 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to ExAibil5 to our Form
1C-K filed March 18, 2004)

Employment Offer Letter to Matthew A. Kane, Jr.ethiMarch 12, 2004 (incorporated by reference tatkh0.42 to our
Form 1(-K filed March 11, 2008)

EX-1



Table of Contents

Number

10.62

10.71

10.82

10.92

10.102

10.112

10.122

10.132

10.142

10.152

10.162

10.171

10.182

10.19

10.202

10.212

Description
Restated 1986 Common Share Option Plan of CottdZatijpn/Corporation Cott as amended through Octgbe2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Barm 1(-K filed March 16, 2005)

Amendment to Supply Agreement between Crown Cofke&l USA, Inc. (successor to Crown Cork & Seal CamypInc.) an
Cott Corporation, dated December 23, 2004 (incaiaar by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our Forr-K filed March 16, 2005

Cott Corporation Executive Incentive Share Purclitlaa (2008 Restatement) effective December 316 Zib@orporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Forn-8 filed on June 20, 200€

Employment Offer Letter to William Reis dated Jaryu29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to ExhiBi4B to our Form 10-K
filed March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Juan R. Figuereo datedd¥l 5, 2007 (incorporated by reference to ExHiBitl to our Form 10-Q
filed May 10, 2007)

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Creamer datedilA}6, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit19 to our Form 10-
K filed March 11, 2009)

Amended and Restated Retention, Severance and Nmpaition Plan (incorporated by reference to EiXHiB.6 to our Form
1C-Q filed August 9, 2007

Amended and Restated Performance Share Unit Pleorfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to oumia0-Q filed August
9, 2007).

Amended and Restated Share Appreciation Rights(iflaarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Barm 109 filed Augus
9, 2007).

Employment Offer Letter to Gregory Leiter, execu@ctober 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference taitiixh0.41 to our Form
1C-K filed March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Jerry Fowden dated Falyr29, 2008 (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi29 to our Form 10-
K filed March 11, 2009)

Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2008 amantyyCorporation, Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Bevesdgeited, the other
Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thed@®Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., London Branch as3gKurity Trustee,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agemdt Administrative Collateral Agent, and Generaldiic Capital
Corporation, as C-Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to Bihi0.1 to our Form-K/A filed April 10, 2008).

Employment Agreement with David T. Gibbons datedil&8, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhitfit3 to our Form 10-
Q filed May 13, 2008)

Agreement between Cott Corporation and Cresendoétarll, L.P., Series |, Crescendo InvestmentsL, Crescendo
Partners Ill, L.P., Crescendo Investments Ill, LIEEic Rosenfeld, Mark Benadiba, Mario Pilozzi, Cadteider, and Greg
Monahan, dated June 18, 2008 (incorporated byeaederto Exhibit 99.1 to the amended Schedule 180 By Crescendo
Partners, L.P. on June 20, 20C

Employment Offer Letter to Neal Cravens dated Aad@s 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1® our Form 10-Q
filed October 29, 2009

Severance Agreement with Juan Figuereo dated Sbptein2009 and effective October 31, 2009 (filecelwvith).
EX-2
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Number

10.22

10.232

10.242

10.252

10.262

21.1
23.1
23.2
311

31.2

32.1

32.2

Description

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, U.S. Pledge Security Agreement and Canadian Pledge and $géugieement,
dated as of July 22, 2009, among Cott Corporafimtt Beverages Inc., Cott Beverages Limited, asdvegrs, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and tesllhagent and General Electric Capital Corponatis co-collateral agent,
and the other financial institutions party therete Jenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1o our Form 8-K filed July
22, 2009)

Amendment No. 1 to Restated Executive Investmeate&SRurchase Plan, effective December 28, 2008rfiocated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form-Q filed May 5, 2009)

Employment Agreement between Cott Corporation a&nd/JFowden dated February 18, 2009 (incorporayectference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Form-K dated February 24, 200¢

Cott Corporation Severance and Non-Competition Rlated February 18, 2009 (incorporated by referéa&Exhibit 10.2 to
our Form K dated February 24, 200¢

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Cott @atpon and David T. Gibbons dated February 1893@tcorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Fori-K dated February 24, 200¢

List of Subsidiaries of Cott Corporation (filed baiith).
Consent of Independent Registered Certified Puktimounting Firm (filed herewith’
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fab2he year ended
January 2, 2010 (filed herewitt

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarbar@sley Act of 2002 for the year ended Jant
2, 2010 (filed herewith’

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fab2he year ended
January 2, 2010 (furnished herewit

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuao section 906 of the Sarbar®@sley Act of 2002 for the year ended Jant
2, 2010 (furnisheherewith).

Document is subject to request for confidentiztimeent.

Indicates a management contract or compensatomny
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Exhibit 10.21
September 1, 2009
WITHOUT PREJUDICE

DELIVERED TO:

Juan Figuereo

Dear Juan,

Re: Cott Corporation (“Cott”) — Termination of Empl oyment

We are writing to notify you that your employmernitmCott is hereby terminated without cause, effecOctober 31, 2009. Your duties as
Chief Financial Officer of Cott will cease on Sapteer 8, 2009.

Cott appreciates your contribution to the corporatind with a view to resolving all matters on amcable basis, has prepared this letter
agreement which sets forth the severance arrangsrnetween Cott and you (collectively, with Scheduil” and “2,” the “Separation
Agreement and Release”):

1. Date of Termination
The effective date of termination of employmen®istober 31, 2009 (the “Termination Date”).

2. Accrued Salary and Vacation Pay

Subject to the terms of this Separation AgreemedtRelease, you will be paid your salary and aatuaeation pay to the Termination Date.
These payments will be paid in a lump-sum paymaearing the next pay period immediately following fhermination Date.

3. Severance Paymen

As outlined in your Retention, Severance and Nomfetition Plan Agreement dated May 11, 2007 (thetéRtion Agreement”) and in the
Amended and Restated Retention, Severance and Nopéition Plan dated June 25, 2007 (the “ReterRiam” and together with the
Retention Agreement, the “Retention Agreements® have agreed to pay you a lump-sum payment egalitnes your annual base salary,
car allowance, and bonus at target. . You will ie=¢hese payments on the first pay run occurrifgast five business days after the later of
(a) the Termination Date and (b) the date on wkiich Separation Agreement and Release becomesdable. Such payments will be made
on the basis that you will continue to perform yduties and our agreement to make such paymeritbewiull and void if the reason for
termination is Cause or resignation without Goodgoa (as such terms are defined in the Retentioaehgent) before the Termination Date.
We agree, however, that your compliance with angyest not to come into Cott’s offices or to takeaaeduced role in performance of
service for Cott shall not be deemed a resignatidimout Good Reason.

The lump sum payment will be equal$h,572,00Q calculated as follows:

Annual Base Salar $ 385,00(
Bonus at Targe $ 385,00(
Car Allowance $ 16,00(
Sut-Total $ 786,00(

x Severance Multiple (2 $1,572,00



4, Pro-rated Bonus

No later than March 15, 2010, you shall be entittetle paid your prorated portion (i.e., 10 montifdny bonus earned for the fiscal y
ending January 2, 2010, based on the attainmehederms and targets of the Cott performance bplaus

5. Benefits

We confirm that, to the extent Cott may do so Isgahd in compliance with its benefit plans in eégitce from time to time, your health
benefits will continue until the earlier of: (i) 2donths following the Termination Date or (ii) tHate alternative employment is secured that
provides comparable benefits. All other benefith t@rminate effective on the Termination Date.

6. Outplacement

For a period of 12 months from the Termination D&ett shall pay up to $10,000 for outplacementises that will be provided to you by a
third party vendor chosen by Cott in its sole dition.

7. EXxpenses

To the extent that you have incurred any propeetrantertainment or other business expensesywlbbe reimbursed in accordance with
Cott’s policy. All expense reports must be subrdittéthin 30 days of your Termination Date.

8.  Stock Options/Share Purchase Plan/DPSP/RSP/P¢

All of your rights with respect to vested stockiops that you hold personally will continue for @8@ys following the Termination Date,
subject to the provisions of Cott's Restated 198&@ion Share Option Plan as amended, and thereattkroptions shall be null and void.

Your rights to unvested shares in the PerformamageSUnit (PSU) Plan, will terminate effective avuy Termination Date.

The Special Performance Share Unit award providgati in 2008 will be pro-rated based on your Teation Date as follows: The prorated
portion of your 2008 award of 177,798 PSU’s willB&,165common shares of Cott. These shares will be coresidmarned and vested as of
the Termination Date and shall be distributed to,Yess applicable taxes which will be paid with iroceeds of the sale of the appropriate
number of shares, within 30 days of the Terminabate. You shall receive cash in the amount of $28%in lieu of common shares in
satisfaction of the PS's awarded to you upon hirit




This is subject to, and without any limitation &émy additional rights you may have under Sectiof the Retention Agreements or any
additional rights arising under the Retention Agneats on a Change of Control during a Change otrébWindow (as such terms are
defined in the Retention Plan).

All other rights under Cott’s share purchase pkmg other long-term incentive plans, including hwiit limitation, all rights to unvested
shares under the 401k Plan, the Executive Incefthare Purchase Plan, and Employee Share Purclaassh@ll terminate on the
Termination Date in accordance with those plangh®iunder these plans that have vested as ofetmiffation Date will continue in
accordance with and subject to the terms of théicgipe plans.

9. No Other Payments

Other than as set out in Section 7 of the ReterRian, the payments and other entitlements setrawferenced in this Separation Agreement
and Release constitute your complete entitlemenhiGott's complete obligations whatsoever, includivith respect to the cessation of your
employment, whether at common law, statute or echtiFor greater certainty, we confirm that, otiran as set forth in this Separation
Agreement and Release, you are not entitled tduatlyer payment (including any bonus payments) gfies) perquisites, allowances or
entitlements earned or owing to you from Cott parguo any employment or any other agreement, venethitten or oral, whatsoever, all
having ceased on the Termination Date without &rrtibligation from Cott. All amounts paid to yourpuant to this Separation Agreement
and Release shall be deemed to include all amowitgy pursuant to thEmployment Standards Act, 2086d any applicable state wage
payment or wage collection lavand such payments represent a greater right offibtran that required under tligmployment Standards

Act, 200Cand any applicable state wage payment or wagectiolielaw.

10. Resignation & Releast

You will resign as an officer of Cott (and any dirand indirect affiliates, subsidiaries and asseci companies) with effect as of the
Termination Date. In this respect, you agree t@eteeand deliver the Resignation Notice attachedtbes Schedule “1” and such further
documentation as may reasonably be required by iDats sole discretion, in order to effect thésignation. You agree to sign, no earlier
your last day of active employment with Cott, thelddise Agreement in the form attached as Sch“2” (the “Release Agreement”) to this
Separation Agreement and Release and further #gggenotwithstanding anything to the contraryhia Retention Agreements, your
execution without revocation of the Release Agrewngea condition precedent to you receiving anyesance payments hereunder that are in
excess of payments required by statute.

11. Your Continuing Obligations

(@ You will continue to abide by all of the proiaiss of your Employment Agreement through the Teation Date, and with all of
the provisions of the Retention Agreements thrathghTermination Date and at all times thereaftdofang the cessation of your
employment in accordance with and subject to thregeof the Retention Agreements (including therieiste covenants set forth
in Section 8 of the Retention Plan) and this SdjmraAgreement and Relea:s

(b) You are required to return to Cott within fi(e® business days of the Termination Date all efgitoperty of Cott in your
possession or in the possession of your familygents including, without limitation, wireless destcand accessories, computer
and



office equipment, keys, passes, credit cards, mestdists, sales materials, manuals, computer imidion, software and codes,
files and all documentation (and all copies thereefling with the finances, operations and adtisibf Cott, its clients, employe
or suppliers

(c) You will agree to cooperate reasonably withtCand its legal advisors, at Cott’s request, dioecand reasonable cost, in
connection with: (i) any Cott business matters imalv you were involved during your employment w@btt; or (ii) any existing
or potential claims, investigations, administratireceedings, lawsuits and other legal and busimesters which arose during
your employment involving Cott; (iii) effecting rne administrative compliance with respect to eegulatory requirements th
were applicable to Cott during the period of yompéoyment; and (iv) completing any further docunsengtquired to give effect to
the terms set out in this letter with respect tacllyou have knowledge of the underlying fa

(d) You agree to indemnify and hold harmless Cott ibs subsidiary companies and affiliated compgriggether with its and their
respective officers, directors, partners, sharehislcemployees and agents, and each of its andptlegiecessors, successors and
assigns, from and against any and all damagess,tpgealties, interest, expenses and any othes itopbsed under, in connection
with, or related to Section 409A of the InternavBeue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), wibeact to payments and
benefits provided pursuant to this Separation Agesg and Release including, but not limited to, pegalties associated with
failure to report or failure to withhol

12. Taxes

All payments referred to in this Separation Agreetand Release will be less applicable withholdiagd deductions, and you shall be
responsible for all tax liability resulting from yoreceipt of the payment and benefits referreid this letter, except (i) to the extent that Cott
has withheld funds for remittance to statutory atities, and (i) to the extent provided otherwisgour Retention Agreements with respect
to any Gross-Up Payment. For greater certaintycoveéirm that Section 7 of the Retention Plan presifor a Gross-Up Payment in
connection with any excise tax imposed under Seetfif9 of the Code and not in connection with axy penalty or interest imposed under
(or in connection with) Section 409A of the Codenb event are you entitled to any payment front @ih respect to any tax, penalty or
interest imposed under (or in connection with) Bect09A of the Code, and in no event shall anyhgag, penalty or interest be taken into
account for purposes of determining the amounngfayment due under Section 7 of the Retentiore&grent To the extent any severance
payments due to you pursuant to the terms heredifisé treated as deferred compensation under Sedgon 409A, payment of such amc
shall be delayed until the first day of the seventinth following the Termination Date, but onlytt® extent that such delay is necessary in
order to avoid penalties under Code Section 409A weispect to payments to you as a Specified Emeplogs defined in Treasury Regulati
Section 1.409-1(i) upon Separation from Service, as defined mafury Regulations Section 1.4(-1(h).



13.

General

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(€)

Entire AgreementExcept as otherwise specified in this Agreemttis, Separation Agreement and Release constitug¢esritire
agreement between you and Cott with referenceymthe matters herein provided or with referetgour employment or
office with Cott, or the cessation thereof. All prises, representations, collateral agreementssadfed understandings not
expressly incorporated in this letter agreemenhareby superseded and have no further effectgieater certainty, your
entittement under Section 7, and your obligationdar Section 8, of the Retention Plan are exprésstyrporated in this lette

Severability: The provisions of this letter agreement shallbemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforitigabf any
provision set out herein shall not affect the vigfidr enforceability of the other provisions hefeall of which shall continue in
accordance with their term

Full Understanding By signing this Separation Agreement and Relegse confirm that: (i) you have had an adequateodppity
to read and consider the terms set out hereinydirgd) the Release Agreement attached as Scheduher@to, and that you fully
understand them and their consequences; (ii) yoa baen advised, through this paragraph, to comsthitiegal counsel and have
obtained such legal or other advice as you consideisable with respect to this Separation Agredrard Release, including
attachments; (iii) you have consulted with legalmregel regarding the application of Section 409Ahef Code to the payments and
benefits provided pursuant to this Separation Agesg and Release; (iv) you are signing this Sejpardtgreement and Release
voluntarily, without coercion, and without relianoe any representation, express or implied, by, @otby any director, trustee,
officer, shareholder, employee or other represmeatatf Cott other than as set forth in this SeparafAgreement and Release and
the Retention Agreements; and (v) you have beeviged with the 45-day consideration period and sed&y revocation period
described in the attached Release Agreen

Arbitration: In the event any dispute arises between you artvith respect to the interpretation, effect onstruction of any
provisions of this Separation Agreement and Relezitteer Cott or you may refer the matter to fiaatl binding arbitration
without right of appeal, pursuant to the Unitedt€teFederal Arbitration Act, as applicable, for digputed matters to be
determined by an arbitrator that is to be mutuafiyeed upon, upon written notice to the other, eingon, subject to the
availability of such an arbitrator, the arbitratioearing will commence within 30 days of the saitiae, without formality, with
the costs of the arbitration to be shared equatywben the parties, subject to such order for @ssthe arbitrator may determine
his or her sole discretion. The arbitration shellconducted pursuant to the then-existing rulesregdlations of the American
Arbitration Association to the extent not inconsigtwith this letter agreemel

Currency: All dollar amounts set forth or referred to insthetter refer to US currenc



(H Governing Law: To the extent the laws of the United States rappty, the agreement confirmed by this letter shaljoverned
by the laws of the State of Floric

* k *

If this Separation Agreement and Release is acbkpta you once you have had an opportunity toemit, please sign the
Acknowledgement and Acceptance below, the Resign&litice, and the Release Agreement to confirnr yeaeptance of same and return
to Reese Reynolds at the Tampa Office.

If you have any questions regarding the terms geincthis letter, please feel free to contact mReese Reynolds.
Yours very truly,

COTT CORPORATION

Per:

/sl Michael Creame /sl Matthew A. Kane, J

Michael Creamer, VP Peog Matt Kane, VP, General Counsel & Secretl
Enclosures

1. Schedule1l” — Resignation Notic
2. Schedule'2” — Release Agreeme

Acknowledgement and Acceptance

| acknowledge that | have been provided 21 days\iew this Separation Agreement and Release, whacknowledge is a reasonable pe

of time (although | may sign it sooner should lideas long as the date of execution is after myday of active employment), and seven
days thereafter to revoke the Separation AgreearahRelease, if | so choose. | also acknowledgd tieve been advised, by this paragraph,
and have had the opportunity to obtain indepenidgial advice and that the only consideration ferdttached Release Agreement is as
referred to in this Separation Agreement and Reldasonfirm that no other promises or represemtatiof any kind other than as set forth in
this Separation Agreement and Release and the tRetékgreements have been made to me to cause gigrtohis Acknowledgement and
Acceptance.

/sl Juan Figuereo November 2, 200
Juan Figuere Date




SCHEDULE “1”
RESIGNATION NOTICE

TO: COTT CORPORATION
AND TO: ALL DIRECT AND INDIRECT AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES AN D ASSOCIATED COMPANIES THEREOF
AND TO: ALL DIRECTORS THEREOF

I, Juan Figuereo, confirm my resignation from dfices held by me o€ott Corporation, including all direct and indirect affiliates,
subsidiaries, and associated companies, with edfeof September 8, 2009.

/sl Juan Figuereo

Juan Figuereo



SCHEDULE “2”
RELEASE AGREEMENT

In consideration of the mutual promises, paymentstenefits provided for in the Retention, Seveeaanad Non-Competition Plan
Agreement dated May 11, 2007 (the “Retention Agrewi), the Amended and Restated Retention, Severand Non-Competition Plan
dated June 25, 2007 (the “Retention Plani)l the letter agreement dated January 12, 20@8ith this Release Agreement is a Schedule
“Separation Agreement and Release” and togethértivit Retention Agreement and the Retention Plen’;Separation Agreements”), Cott
Corporation (the “Corporation”) and Juan Figuerth@ (‘Employee”) agree to the terms of this Releageement dated as of the 31st day of
October, 2009 (this “Release Agreement”). Capi¢aliterms used and not defined in this Release Agrethave the meanings assigned
thereto in the Retention Plan.

1. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that tipo@dion is under no obligation to offer the Enyge the payments and benefits
set forth in the Separation Agreements, unles&thployee consents to the terms of this Releaseehyeat. The Employee further
acknowledges that he is under no obligation to enhito the terms of this Release Agreement andlieaEmployee has entered into this
Release Agreement freely and voluntarily.

2. In consideration of the payment and benefit§@ét in the Separation Agreements and the Cotjmora release set forth in
paragraph 5 of this Release Agreement, the Emplegiemtarily, knowingly and willingly releases afmtever discharges the Corporation
its subsidiary companies and affiliated compartiggether with its and their respective officersediors, partners, shareholders, employees
and agents, and each of its and their predecessmsessors and assigns (collectively, “Releasgesth any and all charges, complaints,
claims, promises, agreements, controversies, cafisetion and demands of any nature whatsoevétiibeEmployee or his executors,
administrators, successors or assigns ever hadhaee/or hereafter can, shall or may have agdiesReleasees by reason of any matter,
cause or thing whatsoever arising prior to the tirhsigning of this Release Agreement by the Emgdoylhe release being provided by the
Employee in this Release Agreement includes, babidimited to, any rights or claims relating inyaway to the Employee’s employment
relationship with the Corporation or any other Reke, or the termination thereof, or under anyt&aincluding, but not limited to the
Employment Standards Act, 2000, the Human Righte Gbe Workplace Safety and Insurancere-employment provisions, the
Occupational Health& Safety Act, the Pay Equity Act, the Labour Relatidat,Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended by @der Workers’ Benefit Protection Act, the Familyd Medical Leave Act, and the
Americans With Disabilities Act, or pursuant to asther applicable law or legislation governing elated to his employment or other
engagement with the Corporation or any other Rekeds no event shall this Release apply to thel&yep’s right, if any, to indemnificatio
under the Employee’s employment agreement or oikephat is in effect on the date of this Relems®, if applicable, to the Corporation’s
obligation to maintain in force reasonable dire@nd officer insurance in respect of such inderoatfon obligations.

3. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that Henshadirectly or indirectly, seek or further katitled to any personal recovery in
any lawsuit or other claim against the Corporatioany other Releasee based on any event arisingf the matters released in paragraph 2
above.



4. Nothing herein shall be deemed to releasengi)ad the Employee’s rights under the Separatione&ments; or (ii) any of the vested
benefits that the Employee has accrued prior taléte this Release Agreement is executed by thddyegunder the employee benefit plans
and arrangements of the Corporation or any offfisades; or (iii) any claims that may arise aftibie date this Release Agreement is executed

5. In consideration of the Employee’s release aehfin paragraph 2 above, the Corporation knowirgid willingly releases and
forever discharges the Employee from any and atgds, complaints, claims, promises, agreementsra@rsies, causes of action and
demands of any nature whatsoever that the Corpoaratiw has or hereafter can, shall or may havenaghim by reason of any matter, cause
or thing whatsoever arising prior to the time afréng of this Release Agreement by the Corporafoovided, however, that nothing herei
intended to release any claim the Corporation naaselagainst the Employee for any illegal condudriging out of any illegal conduct and
provided further that nothing herein shall be degmeerelease the Corporation’s rights under theaBgjon Agreements or for any claims that
may arise after the date this Release Agreemexiisuted.

6. The Employee acknowledges that he has cara®gig and fully understands all of the provisiond effects of this Release
Agreement. The Employee also acknowledges thatdnporation, by this paragraph and elsewhere, theised him to consult with an
attorney of his choice prior to signing this Rekedgireement. The Employee represents that, toxieaehe desires, he has had the
opportunity to review this Release Agreement withatiorney of his choice.

7. The Employee acknowledges that he has beeredftae opportunity to consider the terms of thikeRge Agreement for a period of
at least twenty-one (21) days, although he may isigmoner should he desire as long as the daggesfution is after the Employee’s last day
of active employment. The Employee further shallehseven (7) additional days from the date of sigihis Release Agreement to revoke
his consent hereto by notifying, in writing, the ¥PPeople of the Corporation at 5519 W. Idlewildeftue, Tampa, FL 33618. This Release
Agreement will not become effective until sevendglajter the date on which the Employee has signeidhiout revocation.

Dated: __November 2, 2009

/sl Juan Figuereo

Juan Figuereo
Cott Corporatior
Per:

/s/ Michael Creamer /s/ Matthew A. Kane, Jr.

Michael Creamer, VP Peog Matt Kane, VP, General Counsel & Secrel



O©CO~NOUIE, WNE

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF COTT CORPORATION

Name of Subsidiary
Cott Holdings Inc

Cott USA Finance LLC

Cott USA Corp.

Cott Beverages In¢

Northeast Retailer Brands LL

Cott Vending Inc

CB Nevada Capital Inc

Interim BCB, LLC

Northeast Finco Inc

Cott NE Holdings Inc

BCB International Holding

BCB European Holding

Cott Retail Brands Limite

Cott Europe Trading Limite

Cott Beverages Limite

Cott. Ltd.

Cott Nelson (Holdings) Limite:

Cott (Nelson) Limitec

Cott Private Label Limite:

Cott Retail Brands Netherlands E
2011438 Ontario Ltc

804340 Ontario Ltd

Cott Embotelladores de Mexico, S.A. de C
Mexico Bottling Services, S.A. de C.
Servicios Gerenciales de Mexico, S.A. de C
Cott do Brasil Industria, Comercio, Importaca
Exportacao de Bebidas e Concentrados
Cott International Trading, Lt

Cott International SR

Cott (Barbados) IBC Ltc

Cott Investment, L.L.C

967979 Ontario Limite:

156775 Canada In

Cott (Hong Kong) Limitec

Cott (Shanghai) Trading Co., Lt

Cott Maquinaria y Equipo, S.A. de C.
AD Personales, S.A. de C.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or

Organization

EXHIBIT 21.1

Direct or Indirect
Percentage of Ownership

Delaware & Nova Scoti
Delaware
Georgia
Georgia
Delaware
Delaware
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Netherlands
Ontario

Ontario

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Brazil

Barbados
Barbados
Barbados
Delaware
Ontario
Canade
Hong Kong
China
Mexico
Mexico

10C%
10(%
10(%
10C%

51%
10C%
10(%
10(%
10C%
10(%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10(%
10(%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10(%
10(%

90%
10(%
10C%
10C%

10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%

This entity also does business as Cott Beveragds U8tt International, Cott Concentrates and RCaGoternational, each of which is
a division of Cott Beverages Ir



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Filener 333-151812, 333-122974,
333-108128, and 333-56980) and Form S-3 (File NurBB8-159617) of our report dated March 16, 201#Xirgy to the financial statements,
financial statement schedule and the effectivenésgernal control over financial reporting, whieppears in this Form 10-K.
/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tampa, Florida
March 16, 2010



EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Filener 333-151812, 333-122974,
333-108128, and 333-56980), and Form S-3 (File Nam383-159617), of our report dated March 10, 280&pt for Note 8, for which the
date is as of March 11, 2009 and as it relatedéatcounting for non controlling interests aswlsed in Note 1, as to which the date is May
29, 2009 relating to the financial statements amahfcial statement schedule which appears in thisF.0-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario

March 16, 2010



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry Fowden, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Jerry Fowde!
Jerry Fowder

Chief Executive Office
Dated: March 16, 201




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Neal Cravens, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/ Neal Craven
Neal Craven:

Chief Financial Officel
Dated: March 16, 201




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jerry Fowden, Chief Executivec®ffof Cott Corporation (the “Company”), has exeduthis certification in

connection with the filing with the Securities aadchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Repoftorm 10-K for the year ended
January 2, 2010 (the “Report”).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsisctknowledge:

The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the 16th day of March, 2010.

/sl Jerry Fowde!
Jerry Fowder

Chief Executive Office
March 16, 201(




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Neal Cravens, Chief Financialg®ffof Cott Corporation (the “Company”), has exeduhis certification in

connection with the filing with the Securities aadchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Repoftorm 10-K for the year ended
January 2, 2010 (the “Report”).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsisctknowledge:

The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the 16th day of March, 2010.

/s/ Neal Craven
Neal Craven:

Chief Financial Officel
March 16, 201(




